
Metropolitan King County Council

King County

Meeting Agenda

1200 King County 

Courthouse

516 Third Avenue

Seattle, WA 98104

Councilmembers: Girmay Zahilay, Chair; 

Sarah Perry, Vice Chair of Policy Development and Review;

Reagan Dunn, Vice Chair of Regional Coordination;

Claudia Balducci, Jorge L. Barón, Rod Dembowski, 

Teresa Mosqueda, De'Sean Quinn, Pete von Reichbauer

Hybrid Meeting1:30 PM Tuesday, February 11, 2025

Hybrid Meetings: Attend King County Council meetings in person in Council Chambers (Room 

1001), 516 3rd Avenue in Seattle, or through remote access. Details on how to attend and/or 

provide comment remotely are listed below.

HOW TO PROVIDE PUBLIC TESTIMONY: The Council values community input and looks 

forward to hearing from you. Testimony must be limited to items listed on the agenda for 

council action, unless it's the fourth Tuesday of the month, when the Council will hear general 

comment on matters relating to county government. You are not required to sign up in 

advance.

There are three ways to provide public testimony:

1. In person: You may attend the meeting in person in Council Chambers.

2. By email: You may testify by submitting a COMMENT email. If your testimony is submitted

before 10:00 a.m. on the day of the Council meeting, your email testimony will be distributed to

the Councilmembers and appropriate staff prior to the meeting. Please submit your testimony

by emailing clerk@kingcounty.gov.

3. Remote attendance on the Zoom Webinar: You may provide oral public testimony at the

meeting by connecting to the meeting via phone or computer using the ZOOM application at

https://zoom.us/, and entering the Webinar ID below.

Printed on 2/6/2025Page 1 King County

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL February 11, 2025 1



February 11, 2025Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Agenda

CONNECTING TO THE WEBINAR

Webinar ID:  830 3407 1240

If you do not have access to the ZOOM application, you can connect to the meeting by calling 1 

253 215 8782 and using the Webinar ID. Connecting in this manner, however, may impact your 

ability to be unmuted to speak.

You have the right to language access services at no cost to you. To request these services, 

please contact our Equity and Social Justice Coordinator, Tera Chea at (206) 477 9259 or 

Tera.Chea2@kingcounty.gov, three (3) days prior to the meeting.

If you do not wish to be called upon for public comment during the meeting, please help us 

manage the callers and use one of the options below (Live Streaming or King County TV 

Channel 22).

HOW TO LISTEN TO THE MEETING: There are several ways to listen to the meeting if you 

don't wish to provide public testimony:

1. Stream online via this link: https://kingcounty.gov/kctv, or input the link web address into

your web browser.

2. Watch King County TV on Comcast Channel 22 and 322(HD), and Astound Broadband

Channels 22 and 711 (HD).

3. Listen to the meeting by telephone – See “Connecting to the Webinar” above.

Printed on 2/6/2025Page 2 King County

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL February 11, 2025 2



February 11, 2025Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Agenda

Call to Order1.

Roll Call2.

Flag Salute and Pledge of Allegiance3.

Councilmember Dunn

Approval of Minutes of February 4, 20254.

Councilmember Perry

Additions to the Council Agenda5.

Special Item6.

Proclamation of February 2025 as Black History Month in King County

Councilmember Quinn

Printed on 2/6/2025Page 3 King County

Pg. 11

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL February 11, 2025 3

Text Box
To show a PDF of the written materials for anagenda item, click on the agenda item below.



February 11, 2025Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Agenda

Hearing and Second Reading of Ordinances from Standing Committees 

and Regional Committees, and of Ordinances related to Collective 

Bargaining

There will be one public hearing on Items 6-18

Local Services and Land Use

Councilmember Perry

7. Proposed Ordinance No. 2025-0038

AN ORDINANCE relating to the annexation of approximately 1.1 acres of land into the Northeast

Sammamish sewer and water district, known as the Parklane Annexation, for the purpose of sewer

service.

Sponsors: Perry

On 1/28/2025, the Metropolitan King County Council Introduced and Referred to Local Services 

and Land Use Committee.

SUBJECT TO A MOTION TO SUSPEND THE RULES TO HOLD ADVERTISED PUBLIC 

HEARING - LEGISLATION REMAINS IN COMMITTEE

Printed on 2/6/2025Page 4 King County

Pg. 22

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 4

https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25406


February 11, 2025Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Agenda

Motions, from Standing Committees and Regional Committees and 

Motions related to Collective Bargaining, for Council Action

Consent Items 8-15

Councilmember Perry

8. Proposed Motion No. 2024-0225

A MOTION acknowledging receipt of the 2023 health through housing annual report, in accordance with

K.C.C. chapter 24.30.

Sponsors: Balducci

On 8/20/2024, the Metropolitan King County Council Introduced and Referred to Regional Policy 

Committee. 

On 1/8/2025, the Regional Policy Committee Recommended Do Pass. 

On 1/21/2025, the Metropolitan King County Council Reintroduced. 

On 1/28/2025, the Committee of the Whole Recommended Do Pass Consent.

9. Proposed Motion No. 2024-0378

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Richard Anderson, who resides in council district

three, to the King County landmarks commission, representing a professional historian.

Sponsors: Perry

On 11/12/2024, the Metropolitan King County Council Introduced and Referred to Committee of 

the Whole. 

On 1/21/2025, the Metropolitan King County Council Reintroduced. 

On 1/28/2025, the Committee of the Whole Recommended Do Pass Consent.

10. Proposed Motion No. 2024-0379

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Cecelia Gunn, who resides in council district five,

to the King County landmarks commission, a representative from local heritage organizations.

Sponsors: Upthegrove

On 11/12/2024, the Metropolitan King County Council Introduced and Referred to Committee of 

the Whole. 

On 1/7/2025, the Metropolitan King County Council Reintroduced. 

On 1/28/2025, the Committee of the Whole Recommended Do Pass Consent.

Printed on 2/6/2025Page 5 King County

Pg. 26

Pg. 97

Pg. 102

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 5

https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24979
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25259
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25263


February 11, 2025Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Agenda

11. Proposed Motion No. 2024-0380

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Laura Murphy, who resides in council district

nine, to the King County landmarks commission, representing a professional archaeologist.

Sponsors: Dunn

On 11/19/2024, the Metropolitan King County Council Introduced and Referred to Committee of 

the Whole. 

On 1/21/2025, the Metropolitan King County Council Reintroduced. 

On 1/28/2025, the Committee of the Whole Recommended Do Pass Consent.

12. Proposed Motion No. 2024-0388

A MOTION confirming the appointment of Bethany Fackrell to the King County cultural development

authority (4Culture) board.

Sponsors: Perry

On 11/19/2024, the Metropolitan King County Council Introduced and Referred to Committee of 

the Whole. 

On 1/21/2025, the Metropolitan King County Council Reintroduced. 

On 1/28/2025, the Committee of the Whole Recommended Do Pass Consent.

13. Proposed Motion No. 2024-0413

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Claire Sumadiwirya, who resides in council

district six, to the King County immigrant and refugee commission.

Sponsors: Balducci

On 1/7/2025, the Metropolitan King County Council Introduced and Referred to Committee of the 

Whole. 

On 1/28/2025, the Committee of the Whole Recommended Do Pass Consent.

14. Proposed Motion No. 2024-0414

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Maharshi Roy, who resides in council district

one, to the King County immigrant and refugee commission.

Sponsors: Dembowski

On 1/7/2025, the Metropolitan King County Council Introduced and Referred to Committee of the 

Whole. 

On 1/28/2025, the Committee of the Whole Recommended Do Pass Consent.

Printed on 2/6/2025Page 6 King County

Pg. 107

Pg. 112

Pg. 118

Pg. 124

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 6

https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25264
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25280
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25325
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25326


February 11, 2025Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Agenda

15. Proposed Motion No. 2024-0415

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Meron Girma, who resides in council district four,

to the King County immigrant and refugee commission.

Sponsors: Barón

On 1/21/2025, the Metropolitan King County Council Introduced and Referred to Committee of the 

Whole. 

On 1/21/2025, the Metropolitan King County Council Reintroduced. 

On 1/28/2025, the Committee of the Whole Recommended Do Pass Consent.

Metropolitan King County Council

Councilmember Perry

16. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0051

A MOTION appointing committees to write the voters' pamphlet statements for the April 22, 2025,

special election regarding Ordinance 19884 providing for the submission to the qualified electors of

King County, at a special election on April 22, 2025, a proposition to reauthorize an expired regular

property tax levy in excess of the levy limitation contained in chapter 84.55 RCW, for a consecutive

seven year period beginning in 2026 at the rate of not more than $0.0275 per one thousand dollars of

assessed valuation, with the 2026 levy amount being the base for computing maximum allowable levy

amounts under chapter 84.55 RCW for years two through seven (2027-2032), for the purpose of funding

the continued operation of the regional automated fingerprint identification system, also known as

AFIS, which maintains expanded crime scene and arrest identification technology and services for all

local criminal justice agencies in King County.

Sponsors: Zahilay

On 2/4/2025, the Metropolitan King County Council Introduced and Referred to Metropolitan King 

County Council.

First Reading of and Action on Motions Without Referral to Committee

17. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0057

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of the Honorable De'Sean Quinn, King County

councilmember, council district five, to the Sound Transit board of directors.

Sponsors: Zahilay

SUBJECT TO A MOTION TO SUSPEND THE RULES TO TAKE ACTION WITHOUT REFERRAL 

TO  COMMITTEE PURSUANT TO K.C.C. 1.24.085

Printed on 2/6/2025Page 7 King County

Pg. 130

Pg. 136

Pg. 139

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 7

https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25327
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25433
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25461


February 11, 2025Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Agenda

Reappointment Consent Agenda Item 18

Councilmember Perry

18. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0049

A MOTION confirming the executive's reappointment of Mary Lynne Evans, who resides in council

district one, to the Washington state boundary review board for King County.

Sponsors: Dembowski

First Reading and Referral of Ordinances

19. Proposed Ordinance No. 2025-0030

AN ORDINANCE approving the King County Consortium Consolidated Plan for 2025-2029.

Sponsors: Mosqueda

First Reading and Referral to the Health, Housing, and Human Services Committee

20. Proposed Ordinance No. 2025-0054

AN ORDINANCE authorizing the execution of a new lease to support the operation of local services

and transit.

Sponsors: Dembowski

First Reading and Referral to the Budget and Fiscal Management Committee

21. Proposed Ordinance No. 2025-0055

AN ORDINANCE authorizing the manager of treasury operations of King County to cancel the attached

list of uncollectible personal property taxes in the amount of $3,136,926 for the years 2016 through

2024.

Sponsors: Dembowski

First Reading and Referral to the Budget and Fiscal Management Committee

Printed on 2/6/2025Page 8 King County

Pg. 141

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 8

https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25431
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25396
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25447
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25448


February 11, 2025Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Agenda

22. Proposed Ordinance No. 2025-0056

AN ORDINANCE approving East Link and Downtown Redmond Link Extension Transportation Service 

Changes for King County.

Sponsors: Balducci and Perry

First Reading and Referral to the Transportation, Economy, and Environment Committee

First Reading and Referral of Motions

23. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0007

A MOTION acknowledging receipt of the Accountability Report required by the 2023-2024 Biennial 

Budget Ordinance, Ordinance 19546, Section 20, Proviso P1.

Sponsors: Dembowski

First Reading and Referral to the Transportation, Economy, and Environment Committee

24. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0043

A MOTION accepting the King County-Cities Climate Collaboration (K4C) 2025 Work Plan and Budget, 

prepared as the annual work plan and budget requested under Motion 14449.

Sponsors: Dembowski

First Reading and Referral to the Transportation, Economy, and Environment Committee

Printed on 2/6/2025Page 9 King County

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 9

https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25449
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25354
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25414


February 11, 2025Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Agenda

25. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0058

A MOTION relating to public transportation, requesting that the Metro transit department report on 

unplanned trip cancellations, describe how information about unplanned trip cancellations for 

fixed-route bus service could more quickly and efficiently be provided to inform transit riders in real 

time, and describe how metrics about unplanned trip cancellations could be incorporated into the next 

update of the King County Metro Service Guidelines to inform operational and investment decisions.

Sponsors: Balducci and Barón

First Reading and Referral to the Transportation, Economy, and Environment Committee

Reports on Special and Outside Committees26.

Other Business

Adjournment

Printed on 2/6/2025Page 10 King County

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 10

https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25462


1200 King County 
Courthouse 

516 Third Avenue 
Seattle, WA 98104 

King County 

Meeting Minutes 
Metropolitan King County Council 

Councilmembers: Girmay Zahilay, Chair;  
Sarah Perry, Vice Chair of Policy Development and Review; 

Reagan Dunn, Vice Chair of Regional Coordination; 
Claudia Balducci, Jorge L. Barón, Rod Dembowski,  

Teresa Mosqueda, De'Sean Quinn, Pete von Reichbauer 

1:30 PM Hybrid Meeting Tuesday, February 4, 2025 

REVISED AGENDA - ADDED ITEM 29 
DRAFT MINUTES 

Hybrid Meetings: Attend King County Council meetings in person in Council 
Chambers (Room 1001), 516 3rd Avenue in Seattle, or through remote access. 
Details on how to attend and/or provide comment remotely are listed below. 

HOW TO PROVIDE PUBLIC TESTIMONY: The Council values community input 
and looks forward to hearing from you. Testimony must be limited to items 
listed on the agenda for council action, unless it's the fourth Tuesday of the 
month, when the Council will hear general comment on matters relating to 
county government. You are not required to sign up in advance. 

There are three ways to provide public testimony: 

1. In person: You may attend the meeting in person in Council Chambers.

2. By email: You may testify by submitting a COMMENT email. If your
testimony is submitted before 10:00 a.m. on the day of the Council meeting,
your email testimony will be distributed to the Councilmembers and
appropriate staff prior to the meeting. Please submit your testimony by
emailing clerk@kingcounty.gov.

3. Remote attendance on the Zoom Webinar: You may provide oral public
testimony at the meeting by connecting to the meeting via phone or computer
using the ZOOM application at https://zoom.us/, and entering the Webinar ID
below.

Page 1 King County 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 11



 
February 4, 2025 Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Minutes 

CONNECTING TO THE WEBINAR 
 
Webinar ID: 890 5838 1493 
 
If you do not have access to the ZOOM application, you can connect to the 
meeting by calling 1 253 215 8782 and using the Webinar ID. Connecting in 
this manner, however, may impact your ability to be unmuted to speak. 
 
You have the right to language access services at no cost to you. To request 
these services, please contact our Equity and Social Justice Coordinator, Tera 
Chea at (206) 477 9259 or Tera.Chea2@kingcounty.gov, three (3) days prior to 
the meeting. 
 
If you do not wish to be called upon for public comment during the meeting, 
please help us manage the callers and use one of the options below (Live 
Streaming or King County TV Channel 22). 
 
HOW TO LISTEN TO THE MEETING: There are several ways to listen to the 
meeting if you don't wish to provide public testimony: 
 
1. Stream online via this link: https://kingcounty.gov/kctv, or input the link 
web address into your web browser. 
 
2. Watch King County TV on Comcast Channel 22 and 322(HD), and Astound 
Broadband Channels 22 and 711 (HD). 
 
3. Listen to the meeting by telephone – See “Connecting to the Webinar” 
above. 

Page 2 King County 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 12



 
February 4, 2025 Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Minutes 

Call to Order 1. 
The meeting was called to order at 1:31 p.m. 

Roll Call 2. 
Balducci, Barón, Dembowski, Dunn, Mosqueda, Perry, Quinn, von Reichbauer 
and Zahilay 

Present: 9 -  

Flag Salute and Pledge of Allegiance 3. 
Councilmember Dembowski led the flag salute and Pledge of Allegiance. 

Approval of Minutes of January 28, 2025 4. 
Councilmember Perry moved to approve the minutes of the January 28, 2025, meeting 
as presented.  Seeing no objection, the Chair so ordered. 

Additions to the Council Agenda 5. 
Item 29 was added to the agenda. 

Page 3 King County 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 13



 
February 4, 2025 Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Minutes 

Hearing and Second Reading of Ordinances from Standing 
Committees and Regional Committees, and of Ordinances 
related to Collective Bargaining 

There will be one public hearing on Items 6-14 
The following person spoke: 
Alex Tsimmerman 

Law and Justice 

6. Proposed Ordinance No. 2025-0016 

AN ORDINANCE related to the repeal of RCW 10.70.140; and amending Ordinance 17706, Section 2, as 
amended, and K.C.C. 2.15.020. 

Sponsors: Barón, Quinn and Zahilay 

The enacted number is 19892. 

A Public Hearing was held and closed.  A motion was made by Councilmember 
Perry that this Ordinance be Passed. The motion carried by the following vote: 

Yes: Balducci, Barón, Dembowski, Dunn, Mosqueda, Perry, Quinn, von 
Reichbauer, and Zahilay 

9 -  

Motions, from Standing Committees and Regional 
Committees and Motions related to Collective Bargaining, 
for Council Action 

Consent Items 7-10 

7. Proposed Substitute Motion No. 2024-0293.2 

A MOTION acknowledging receipt of the second of two reports on progress toward addressing the legal 
system backlog that resulted from the COVID-19 pandemic, in response to the 2023-2024 Biennial Budget 
Ordinance, Ordinance 19546, Section 17, Proviso P4. 

Sponsors: Barón 

The enacted number is 16738. 

A Public Hearing was held and closed.  This matter passed on the Consent 
Agenda. 

Page 4 King County 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 14



 
February 4, 2025 Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Minutes 

8. Proposed Motion No. 2024-0284 

A MOTION acknowledging receipt of the proviso report on a crisis response program plan required by the 
2023-2024 Biennial Budget Ordinance, Ordinance 19546, Section 21, as amended by Ordinance 19633, 
Section 17, Proviso P1. 

Sponsors: Barón 

The enacted number is 16739. 

A Public Hearing was held and closed.  This matter passed on the Consent 
Agenda. 

9. Proposed Motion No. 2024-0291 

A MOTION relating to mature forests in King County, acknowledging receipt of the first of two reports on 
mature forests in King County as required by Motion 16437 requesting the executive to identify and analyze 
mature forests in King County and to transmit two reports. 

Sponsors: Upthegrove 

The enacted number is 16740. 

A Public Hearing was held and closed.  This matter passed on the Consent 
Agenda. 

10. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0001 

A MOTION relating to mature forests in King County, acknowledging receipt of the second of two reports on 
mature forests in King County as required by Motion 16437 requesting the executive to identify and analyze 
mature forests in King County and to transmit two reports. 

Sponsors: Dembowski 

The enacted number is 16741. 

A Public Hearing was held and closed.  This matter passed on the Consent 
Agenda. 

Passed On The Consent Agenda 
A motion was made by Councilmember Perry that the Consent Agenda be passed.  
The motion carried by the following vote: 

Yes: Balducci, Barón, Dembowski, Dunn, Mosqueda, Perry, Quinn, von 
Reichbauer, and Zahilay 

9 -  

Page 5 King County 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 15



 
February 4, 2025 Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Minutes 

First Reading of and Action on Motions Without Referral to 
Committee 

11. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0047 

A MOTION requesting the executive develop a risk assessment related to volatility in federal funding. 

Sponsors: Balducci 

The enacted number is 16742. 
 
Councilmember Balducci made a motion to suspend the rules to take action without 
referral to committee pursuant to K.C.C. 1.24.085. 
 
Councilmember Barón moved Amendment 1.  The motion carried. 
 
Penny Lipsou, Director, Council Relations, made remarks. 

A Public Hearing was held and closed.  A motion was made by Councilmember 
Balducci that this Motion be Passed as Amended. The motion carried by the 
following vote: 

Yes: Balducci, Barón, Dembowski, Dunn, Mosqueda, Perry, Quinn, von 
Reichbauer, and Zahilay 

9 -  

Reappointment Consent Agenda Items 12-14 

12. Proposed Motion No. 2024-0390 

A MOTION confirming the executive's reappointment of Bruce Davis, who resides in council district eight, to 
the King County board of ethics. 

Sponsors: Mosqueda 

The enacted number is 16743. 

A Public Hearing was held and closed.  This matter passed on the Consent 
Agenda. 

13. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0025 

A MOTION confirming the executive's reappointment of Srini Raghavan, who resides in council district 
three, to the King County Library System board of trustees. 

Sponsors: Perry 

The enacted number is 16744. 

A Public Hearing was held and closed.  This matter passed on the Consent 
Agenda. 

Page 6 King County 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 16



 
February 4, 2025 Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Minutes 

14. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0027 

A MOTION confirming the executive's reappointment of Jack Edgerton, who resides in council district four, 
to the King County children and youth advisory board. 

Sponsors: Barón 

The enacted number is 16745. 

A Public Hearing was held and closed.  This matter passed on the Consent 
Agenda. 

Passed On The Consent Agenda 
A motion was made by Councilmember Perry that the Consent Agenda be passed.  
The motion carried by the following vote: 

Yes: Balducci, Barón, Dembowski, Dunn, Mosqueda, Perry, Quinn, von 
Reichbauer, and Zahilay 

9 -  

First Reading and Referral of Ordinances 

15. Proposed Ordinance No. 2024-0409 

AN ORDINANCE authorizing the executive to enter into a renewal of cable television franchise 5602 with 
WAVEDIVISION I, LLC, for a period ending July 31, 3033. 

Sponsors: von Reichbauer 

This matter had its first reading and was referred to the Government Accountability 
and Oversight Committee. 

16. Proposed Ordinance No. 2025-0048 

AN ORDINANCE adopting the revision of voting precincts of King County for the year 2025. 

Sponsors: von Reichbauer 

This matter had its first reading and was referred to the Government Accountability 
and Oversight Committee. 

First Reading and Referral of Motions 

17. Proposed Motion No. 2024-0401 

A MOTION accepting the Records Collection and Retention Proviso Response Report, as required by the 
2023-2024 Biennial Budget Ordinance, Ordinance 19546, Section 121, as amended by Ordinance 19791, 
Section 60, Proviso P1. 

Sponsors: von Reichbauer 

This matter had its first reading and was referred to the Government Accountability 
and Oversight Committee. 

Page 7 King County 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 17



 
February 4, 2025 Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Minutes 

18. Proposed Motion No. 2024-0416 

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Sercan Hepsener, who resides in council district 
seven, to the King County immigrant and refugee commission. 

Sponsors: von Reichbauer 

This matter had its first reading and was referred to the Committee of the Whole. 

19. Proposed Motion No. 2024-0417 

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Wahid Bihroz, who resides in council district seven, to 
the King County immigrant and refugee commission. 

Sponsors: von Reichbauer 

This matter had its first reading and was referred to the Committee of the Whole. 

20. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0002 

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of David Ellison, who resides in council district seven, to 
the King County Lake Management District No. 2 advisory committee, as the Lake Geneva Property 
Owners Association representative. 

Sponsors: von Reichbauer 

This matter had its first reading and was referred to the Transportation, Economy, 
and Environment Committee. 

21. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0003 

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Colleen Short, who resides in council district seven, 
to the King County Lake Management District No. 2 advisory committee, as a representative of Lake 
Geneva property owners. 

Sponsors: von Reichbauer 

This matter had its first reading and was referred to the Transportation, Economy, 
and Environment Committee. 

22. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0015 

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Nandita Sharma, who resides in council district three, 
to the King County women's advisory board, as an executive at-large representative. 

Sponsors: Perry 

This matter had its first reading and was referred to the Health, Housing, and 
Human Services Committee. 

Page 8 King County 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 18



 
February 4, 2025 Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Minutes 

23. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0042 

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Nicole Cain, who resides in council district six, to the 
King County Museum of Flight Authority board of directors. 

Sponsors: Balducci 

This matter had its first reading and was referred to the Government Accountability 
and Oversight Committee. 

24. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0051 

A MOTION appointing committees to write the voters' pamphlet statements for the April 22, 2025, special 
election regarding Ordinance 19884 providing for the submission to the qualified electors of King County, at 
a special election on April 22, 2025, a proposition to reauthorize an expired regular property tax levy in 
excess of the levy limitation contained in chapter 84.55 RCW, for a consecutive seven year period 
beginning in 2026 at the rate of not more than $0.0275 per one thousand dollars of assessed valuation, with 
the 2026 levy amount being the base for computing maximum allowable levy amounts under chapter 84.55 
RCW for years two through seven (2027-2032), for the purpose of funding the continued operation of the 
regional automated fingerprint identification system, also known as AFIS, which maintains expanded crime 
scene and arrest identification technology and services for all local criminal justice agencies in King County. 

Sponsors: Zahilay 

This matter had its first reading and was referred to the Metropolitan King County 
Council. 

25. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0052 

A MOTION extending the waiver of requirements for competitive bidding and solicitation requirements for 
contracts relating to the King County department of adult and juvenile detention distributed antenna system 
evaluation and corrections. 

Sponsors: Barón 

The enacted number is 16746. 
 
Councilmember Barón moved Amendment 1.  The motion carried. 
 
Steve Larsen, Director, Department of Adult and Juvenile Detention, answered questions. 
 
Stephen Heard, Chief Technology Officer, KCIT - Technology, briefed the Council and 
answered questions. 
 
Lorraine Patterson-Harris, Director, Department of Executive Services, made remarks 
and answered questions. 

A Public Hearing was held and closed.  A motion was made by Councilmember 
Barón that this Motion be Passed as Amended. The motion carried by the following 
vote: 

Yes: Balducci, Barón, Dembowski, Dunn, Mosqueda, Perry, Quinn, von 
Reichbauer, and Zahilay 

9 -  

Page 9 King County 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 19



 
February 4, 2025 Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Minutes 

Reintroductions of Motions 

26. Proposed Substitute Motion No. 2024-0228.2 

A MOTION acknowledging receipt of the second annual report on the second Best Starts for Kids initiative, 
in accordance with Ordinance 19354. 

Sponsors: von Reichbauer and Mosqueda 

This matter was Reintroduced 

27. Proposed Motion No. 2024-0382 

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Velma Veloria, who resides in council district two, to 
the King County International Airport roundtable, as the Beacon Hill community representative. 

Sponsors: Zahilay and Quinn 

This matter was Reintroduced 

Reports on Special and Outside Committees 28. 
No reports were given. 

Page 10 King County 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 20



 
February 4, 2025 Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Minutes 

Other Business 

ADDED ITEM 29 

First Reading of and Action on Motions Without Referral to 
Committee 

29. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0053 

A MOTION relating to the organization of the council; and amending Motion 11122, Section G, as amended, 
and OR 2-040, and Motion 11122, Section H, as amended, and OR 2-050. 

Sponsors: Zahilay and Dembowski 

The enacted number is 16747. 
 
Jeff Muhm, Chief Policy Officer, briefed the Council and answered questions. 

A Public Hearing was held and closed.  A motion was made by Councilmember 
Perry that this Motion be Passed. The motion carried by the following vote: 

Yes: Balducci, Barón, Dembowski, Dunn, Mosqueda, Perry, Quinn, von 
Reichbauer, and Zahilay 

9 -  

Adjournment 
The meeting was adjourned at 2:28 p.m. 

Approved this _____________ day of _________________ 

Clerk's Signature 

Page 11 King County 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 21



 

KING COUNTY 
 

Signature Report 
 

1200 King County Courthouse 
516 Third Avenue 
Seattle, WA 98104 

 Ordinance    
   

 
Proposed No. 2025-0038.1 Sponsors Perry 

 

1 
 

AN ORDINANCE relating to the annexation of 1 

approximately 1.1 acres of land into the Northeast 2 

Sammamish sewer and water district, known as the 3 

Parklane Annexation, for the purpose of sewer 4 

service. 5 

STATEMENT OF FACTS: 6 

1.  A notice of intention proposing the annexation of approximately 1.1 7 

acres of land into the Northeast Sammamish sewer and water district, 8 

known as the Parklane Annexation, for the purpose of providing sewer 9 

service was filed with the county council on January 7, 2025. 10 

2.  The annexation was initially requested by the property owner as a 11 

transfer of part of a district under RCW 57.32.160.  There is no transfer of 12 

territory as part of the proposed annexation.  The Northeast Sammamish 13 

sewer and water district is proposing the annexation based upon a property 14 

owner petition under chapter 57.24 RCW.   15 

3.  The Parklane Annexation area receives water service from Sammamish 16 

Plateau water and sewer district and will continue to remain in that district 17 

for the purpose of water service. 18 

4.  Sammamish Plateau water and sewer district has approved the 19 

proposed annexation in Resolution No. 5231, passed on October 16, 2024. 20 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 22



Ordinance   

 
 

2 
 

5.  Northeast Sammamish sewer and water district has approved the 21 

proposed annexation in Resolution No. 4350, passed on December 4, 22 

2024. 23 

6.  Northeast Sammamish sewer and water district issued a determination 24 

of nonsignificance on the proposed annexation dated November 13, 2024. 25 

7.  The utilities technical review committee reviewed the Northeast 26 

Sammamish sewer and water district general sewer plan and found that 27 

plan met the criteria for approval.  The county approved the most recent 28 

sewer plan for the Northeast Sammamish sewer and water district in 2023, 29 

as part of Ordinance 19593. 30 

8.  The county council held the legally required public hearing and has 31 

considered the criteria in RCW 57.02.040. 32 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF KING COUNTY: 33 

 SECTION 1.  The annexation of approximately 1.1 acres of land into the 34 

Northeast Sammamish sewer and water district for the purpose of providing sewer 35 

service described in Attachment A to this ordinance is approved.  Approval of this 36 

proposed annexation is consistent with RCW 57.02.040. 37 

 SECTION 2.  Northeast Sammamish sewer and water district is the appropriate 38 

entity to provide sewer service to the area proposed to be annexed. 39 

 SECTION 3.  Completion of this annexation does not constitute county approval 40 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 23



Ordinance   

 
 

3 
 

or disapproval of any other permits, certifications, or actions necessary to provide service 41 

to this annexation area. 42 

 
  
 
   

 

 
KING COUNTY COUNCIL 
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON 

  

 ________________________________________ 

 Girmay Zahilay, Chair 
ATTEST:  

________________________________________  

Melani Hay, Clerk of the Council  
  

APPROVED this _____ day of _______________, ______. 
  

 ________________________________________ 

 Dow Constantine, County Executive 

  

Attachments: A.  Legal Description 
 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 24



METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 25



 

KING COUNTY 
 

Signature Report 
 

1200 King County Courthouse 
516 Third Avenue 
Seattle, WA 98104 

 Motion    
   

 
Proposed No. 2024-0225.1 Sponsors Balducci 

 

1 
 

A MOTION acknowledging receipt of the 2023 health 1 

through housing annual report, in accordance with K.C.C. 2 

chapter 24.30. 3 

 WHEREAS, in 2020, consistent with the authority and eligible uses set out in 4 

Substitute House Bill 1590, which became Chapter 222, Laws of Washington 2020, 5 

K.C.C. 4A.503.020 authorized the collection and expenditure of an additional sales and 6 

use tax of one-tenth of one percent, and identified priorities for the use of these funds in 7 

King County, and 8 

 WHEREAS, K.C.C. chapter 24.30, providing for the creation of a health through 9 

housing implementation plan, was enacted in February 2021, and 10 

 WHEREAS, on August 30, 2021, in accordance with K.C.C. 24.30.020, the 11 

executive transmitted to the council for review and adoption an initial implementation 12 

plan that described the goals, strategies, performance measures, reporting requirements 13 

and annual expenditure plan to direct use of the proceeds from 2022 through 2028 as 14 

authorized by K.C.C 4A.503.040, and 15 

 WHEREAS, Ordinance 19366, Section 1, adopted the initial implementation plan 16 

in December 2021, and 17 

 WHEREAS, K.C.C. 2A.300.200 requires the executive to electronically file an 18 

annual report on the accomplishments and effectiveness of the expenditure of sales and 19 

use tax proceeds as authorized by K.C.C. chapter 4A.503 and RCW 82.14.530, and 20 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 26



Motion   

 
 

2 
 

including information on the allocation by jurisdiction of sales tax proceeds as authorized 21 

by K.C.C. chapter 4A.503 and RCW 82.14.530, by June 15 of each year, and 22 

 WHEREAS, the second annual report, entitled 2023 Health Through Housing 23 

Annual Report, which is Attachment A to this motion, is submitted by the executive; 24 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT MOVED by the Council of King County: 25 

 The receipt of the second annual report on the Health Through Housing initiative, 26 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 27



Motion   

 
 

3 
 

entitled 2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report, Attachment A to this motion, in 27 

accordance with K.C.C. 24.30.020, is hereby acknowledged. 28 

 
  
 
   

 

 
KING COUNTY COUNCIL 
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON 

  

 ________________________________________ 

 Girmay Zahilay, Chair 
ATTEST:  

________________________________________  

Melani Hay, Clerk of the Council  
  

 
  

  

  

  

Attachments: A. 2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report July, 2024 
 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 28



  Attachment A 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report  
 

July 2024 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 29



  Attachment A 

   
 

 

Contents 
Executive Summary ....................................................................................................................................... 3 

Background ................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Report Requirements .................................................................................................................................. 12 

A. Performance Overview: Accomplishments and Effectiveness in 2023 ............................ 13 

B. Site Locations and Other Geographic Information ........................................................... 30 

C. Financial Information ........................................................................................................ 37 

D. HTH Advisory Committee Establishment, Membership, and Certification of Dashboard 43 

E. Additional Information Available in the HTH Dashboard ................................................. 44 

Conclusion/Next Actions ............................................................................................................................. 44 

Appendix A: Reporting Elements Table and HTH Dashboard Guide ........................................................... 46 

Appendix B:  HTH Investments (Acquisitions and Operations-only Partnerships), Cumulative to Year End 
2023 ............................................................................................................................................................ 53 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

  

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 30



 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 3 
 
 
    

 

Executive Summary 
Introduction 
King County’s Health Through Housing (HTH) initiative is an innovative, regional approach that 
accelerates the County's ability to address chronic homelessness. HTH's paramount goal is to create and 
operate up to 1,600 units of affordable housing with services, referred to as supportive housing, for 
households in King County that are experiencing chronic homelessness or at risk of chronic 
homelessness.1 The HTH initiative is also designed to annually reduce racial and ethnic 
disproportionality among persons experiencing chronic homelessness in King County. 2,3,4  
 
Background  
HTH arose as a concept and initiative in 2020 as the COVID-19 pandemic posed a once-in-a-generation 
challenge to the King County region and the world. COVID-19 amplified pre-existing crises of 
homelessness, housing affordability, and racial inequity. In 2020, King County enacted Ordinance 19179, 
codified as King County Code (KCC) 4A.503, to impose the HTH sales tax.5 In 2021, King County Council 
enacted three ordinances to guide HTH planning, which established goals and strategies for HTH and 
formally adopted the initial Health Through Housing Implementation Plan (the Plan).6,7,8 

 
Following adoption of the Plan, significant HTH activity took place in 2021 and 2022. Key outcomes from 
this period included: 

• Acquiring 10 buildings across Seattle, Renton, Redmond, Auburn, Federal Way, and Kirkland; 
• Establishing a memorandum of agreement with the City of Seattle to permanently add 350 

operations-only units to the HTH portfolio, and 
• Opening six HTH buildings across King County and moving new residents inside at each of these 

locations. 
  
Report Requirements 
This annual report summarizes the HTH Initiative’s progress and accomplishments in calendar year 2023.  
During the reporting period, HTH opened 138 new units to residents, contributing to a net increase of 
108 residents successfully housed in these and other HTH units in 2023. HTH also expanded by 127 the 
number of units for which it funds services  and enhanced the essential services provided to residents, 
including behavioral health care. As of December 2023, HTH has secured a cumulative total of 1,358 
units and has served 1,169 residents at risk of or experiencing chronic homelessness. 

 
1 King County Code 24.30.030.A.3. [LINK] 
2 King County Code 4A.503.040.B. [LINK] 
3 King County Code 24.30.030.A.1. [LINK] 
4 Initial Health Through Housing Implementation Plan. [LINK] 
5 King County Code 4A.503. [LINK] 
6 King County Code 24.30. [LINK] 
7 Ordinance 19236. [LINK] 
8 Initial Health Through Housing Implementation Plan. [LINK] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 31

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4652907&amp;GUID=5E5E8D61-6B3B-46EC-937C-6FD39E8CB6F0&amp;Options=Advanced&amp;Search=
https://aqua.kingcounty.gov/council/clerk/code/07_Title_4A.htm#_Toc54697848
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4652907&amp;GUID=5E5E8D61-6B3B-46EC-937C-6FD39E8CB6F0&amp;Options=Advanced&amp;Search=
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/View.ashx?M=F&ID=9959294&GUID=718EA25C-9032-448C-8C98-060B2C97B5E8
https://aqua.kingcounty.gov/council/clerk/code/07_Title_4A.htm#_Toc54697848
https://aqua.kingcounty.gov/council/clerk/code/33_Title_24.htm#_Toc65058358
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4652907&amp;GUID=5E5E8D61-6B3B-46EC-937C-6FD39E8CB6F0&amp;Options=Advanced&amp;Search=
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/View.ashx?M=F&ID=9959294&GUID=718EA25C-9032-448C-8C98-060B2C97B5E8


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 4 
 
 
    

 

 
Performance Overview: Accomplishments and Effectiveness in 2023 
In 2023, the initiative’s second full year of operation, Health Through Housing accomplished the 
following:  
 
 People Served 

• HTH served 911 people in 2023, an increase of 108 people from 2022. 
• HTH placed 480 people in HTH permanent supportive housing (PSH) or other permanent 

housing, with 466 of them experiencing chronic homelessness.  
• 85 percent of HTH residents reported existing ties to the communities where their HTH site is 

located. 
• 91 percent of HTH residents in PSH maintained their housing or moved to another permanent 

housing destination. 
 

Additional Units  
• HTH opened 138 units, including 62 at Burbridge Place and 76 at Salmonberry Lofts in Honor of 

Peter Joe. 
• HTH secured an additional 127 operations-only units in 2023. These are in buildings not owned 

by King County, in which HTH funds the cost of operations and programming. This includes 95 
operations-only units in Burien, plus 32 additional units at Sacred Medicine House in Seattle for 
a total of 120 units at that site (88 secured in 2022).  

 
Financial Information 
The HTH initiative’s 2023 revenue was $85.6 million in capital funds and $74.7 million in operating 
funds, reflecting the issuance of additional bond proceeds that are expected to be spent in 2024 through 
2025. HTH spent approximately $17.6 million on capital expenditures and $44.4 million on operating 
expenditures in 2023. Financially, the HTH initiative remains consistent with projected goals in the 
Implementation Plan, with 2023's spending reflecting a planned strategic shift at this phase of the 
initiative from asset acquisition to rehabilitating and opening buildings, bringing people inside, and 
delivering health care and other supports to HTH residents. 
 
The cost per unit for each HTH site varies based on the circumstances of each acquisition, as well as site 
development process and timing. From 2021 to 2023, the average capital per-unit costs among HTH 
properties were $273,021. The annual, average operating costs for HTH properties in 2023 were $20,759 
per unit. 
 
HTH Advisory Committee Establishment, Membership, and Certification of Dashboard 
In 2023, the Health Through Housing Advisory Committee formed consistent with King County Code 
2A.300.200.9 The Committee convened quarterly, appointed a chair and co-chair, and received 

 
9 K.C.C. 2A.300.200. [LINK] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 32

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://aqua.kingcounty.gov/council/clerk/code/05_Title_2A.htm#_Toc473536140


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 5 
 
 
    

 

presentations from HTH service providers on the HTH service model. On May 16, 2024, the HTH 
Advisory Committee reviewed and certified this report and the HTH Dashboard, including certifying that 
that the dashboard is updated with 2023 calendar year data.10  
 
Conclusion/Next Actions  
In 2023, the HTH initiative’s second full year of operation, the initiative focused on moving residents into 
units, integrating significant enhancements in health care and other supportive services into the HTH 
sites, and building capacity of service providers as its intensive acquisition phase wound down. HTH is 
planning for even more tailored support, ensuring that future HTH interventions are as effective and 
impactful as possible. HTH also continued to license, permit, seek changes of use, and initiate major 
construction work at acquired properties.  
 
As HTH moves into 2024, the initiative will focus on streamlining service delivery, enhancing community 
engagement to inform responsive services, and continuing toward its paramount goal of securing 1,600 
units of supportive housing. HTH will continue to expand housing and services for people exiting 
homelessness while focusing on reducing racial and ethnic disproportionality. By increasing access to 
dignified supportive housing, HTH is a powerful part of King County’s regional strategy to address the 
entwined crises of affordable housing and chronic homelessness.  
 
  

 
10 Initial Health Through Housing Implementation Plan 2022-2028. [LINK] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 33

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=5121460&GUID=7DC46271-C6B3-4D90-B6DE-DEF37CD0A7D5&Options=Advanced&Search=&FullText=1


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 6 
 
 
    

 

Background 
 
Overview 
King County’s Health Through Housing initiative’s (HTH) paramount goal is to create and sustain up to 
1,600 units of affordable, supportive housing for those in King County experiencing or at risk of chronic 
homelessness .11 This initiative takes a regional approach to both accelerate King County’s ability to 
address chronic homelessness countywide and dismantle the racial and ethnic disproportionality 
prevalent among the homeless population in King County.12  
 
HTH expanded access to affordable supportive housing countywide by partnering with cities on 
permitting, selecting service providers, and similar city actions to open these sites. In some cases, 
navigating jurisdictional approval processes, construction timelines, and County and provider staff 
limitations extended the time necessary to open HTH buildings. Despite these delays, as of December 
2023, HTH secured a cumulative total of 1,358 units and has served 1,169 residents at risk of or 
experiencing chronic homelessness.  
 
From 2020 to 2023, HTH acquired and began contracting for 16 sites across seven cities, achieving a 
pace faster than any previous related County effort. In addition to 11 County-owned buildings, these 
HTH sites include five HTH “operations-only” buildings in which HTH funds the cost of operations and 
programming. HTH partnered with eight service providers to operate HTH’s 16 sites, as shown in Figure 
1. 
 
  

 
11 King County Ordinance 19236 [LINK] 
12 King County Ordinance 19236 [LINK] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 34

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4652907&amp;GUID=5E5E8D61-6B3B-46EC-937C-6FD39E8CB6F0&amp;Options=Advanced&amp;Search=
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4652907&amp;GUID=5E5E8D61-6B3B-46EC-937C-6FD39E8CB6F0&amp;Options=Advanced&amp;Search=


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 7 
 
 
    

 

Figure 1: HTH Service Providers at HTH Sites, 2023 
Service Provider HTH Site Name Jurisdiction 
Catholic Community Services 
(CCS) 

Sidney Wilson House Renton 
The Bob G. Queen Anne, Seattle 

Chief Seattle Club Salmonberry Lofts in Honor of 
Peter Joe 

Pioneer Square, Seattle 

Sacred Medicine House 
(operations-only) 

Lake City, Seattle 

Compass Housing Alliance Don’s Place Auburn 
Downtown Emergency Service 
Center (DESC) 

The Mary Pilgrim  Bitter Lake, Seattle 
The Gateway in Honor of 
Tenaya Wright 

Haller Lake, Seattle 

Burbridge Place  
(operations-only) 

Green Lake, Seattle 

The North Star (operations-only) Bitter Lake, Seattle 
Bloomside (operations-only) Burien 

Lavender Rights Project 
(LRP)/Chief Seattle Club 

TBD. Building Secured Capitol Hill 

Plymouth Housing Bertha Pitts Campbell Place 
(operations-only) 

Central District, Seattle 

The Salvation Army TBD. Building Secured Redmond 
The Urban League of 
Metropolitan Seattle 

TBD. Building Secured Federal Way 

 
HTH selected these service providers with municipal support to best serve the building’s residents and 
ensure that the services provided are responsive to the diverse needs of residents. Catholic Community 
Services, Compass Housing Alliance, DESC, Plymouth Housing, and The Salvation Army are longstanding 
regional providers of emergency shelter and permanent supportive housing. 13,14,15,16,17 Chief Seattle 
Club is a Native-led housing and human services agency that serves American Indian and Alaska Native 
people.18 Lavender Rights Project is a Black trans-led and founded organization centered in the values of 

 
13 Catholic Community Services [LINK] 
14 Compass Housing Alliance [LINK] 
15 Downtown Emergency Services Center (DESC) [LINK] 
16 Plymouth Housing Group [LINK] 
17 The Salvation Army [LINK] 
18 Chief Seattle Club [LINK] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 35

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://ccsww.org/
https://www.compasshousingalliance.org/
https://www.desc.org/
https://plymouthhousing.org/
https://seattle.salvationarmy.org/
https://www.chiefseattleclub.org/


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 8 
 
 
    

 

social justice for trans and queer low-income people.19 The Urban League of Metropolitan Seattle is an 
organization dedicated to improving the lives of communities of color. 20   
 
These partnerships at all HTH sites are vital to create inclusive environments that respect and celebrate 
the cultural backgrounds and lived experience of all residents and staff, thereby promoting a sense of 
belonging and support for marginalized individuals. HTH uses this pro-equity approach in all aspects of 
design and implementation, leading to community partnerships and cross-sector solutions with service 
providers that further HTH’s goal to reduce racial and ethnic disproportionality in homelessness 
throughout the region. 
 
Department Overview 
King County’s Department of Community and Human Services (DCHS) provides equitable opportunities 
for people to be healthy, happy, and connected to community. The mission of DCHS’s Housing and 
Community Development Division (HCD) is to increase housing stability and develop strong 
communities. The division strives to be anti-racist and to collaborate with partners to center historically 
excluded and systemically marginalized people. HCD leads DCHS's implementation of the HTH initiative. 
Other related work led by the division includes the Housing Finance Program that provides capital 
funding for income-restricted affordable housing and the Housing and Supportive Services Program 
which facilitates human services to support housing stability and individual safety. 
 
The Facilities Management Division (FMD) of the Department of Executive Services (DES) provides clean, 
environmentally sustainable, and cost-effective environments at about 45 King County facilities. These 
include office buildings, Superior and District courthouses, Sheriff precincts, correctional facilities, and 
shelter/housing complexes. Major sections of FMD include Building Operations, Capital Projects, 
Finance, Planning and Administrative Services, Real Estate Services, and Security Management. FMD 
works closely with DCHS to support the acquisition, maintenance, building security, and building 
operations of County-owned HTH properties.   
 
Key Historical Context and Current Conditions 
King County launched HTH in 2020 at the height of the COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic amplified the 
region’s pre-existing housing and homelessness crises, with the pandemic forcing tens of thousands of 
King County households to fall behind on rent in an expensive housing market.21,22 Social distancing 
requirements implemented due to the pandemic further reduced overall shelter capacity while the rate 
of unsheltered homelessness climbed.23   
 

 
19 Lavender Rights Project [LINK] 
20 The Urban League of Metropolitan Seattle [LINK] 
21 King 5. King County Accepting Applications for Rental Assistance before Eviction Moratorium Expires. [LINK] 
22 Zillow King County Market Overview, data through July 31, 2021. [LINK] 
23 King County Homelessness Response System Data Review: Q1 2021 Release. [LINK]. 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 36

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://www.lavenderrightsproject.org/
https://urbanleague.org/
https://www.king5.com/article/news/health/coronavirus/king-county-accepting-applications-for-rental-assistance-before-eviction-moratorium-expires/281-0f3962e9-3abe-451d-8563-ebb4200e97d5
https://www.zillow.com/king-county-wa/home-values/
https://kcrha.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/KC-Homeless-Response-System_Data-Review_Q12021.pdf


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 9 
 
 
    

 

The COVID-19 pandemic demonstrated that single-room settings are more supportive of a person’s 
stability, health, and ability to maintain housing compared to congregate shelters.24 Learning from this 
lesson, King County acquired hotels and apartments with the revenue created by the one tenth of a cent 
of sales tax which was authorized by the Washington Legislature in 2020.25,26  
 
During this time, the King County Executive proposed and developed the HTH initiative, with King 
County Council review and adoption by Ordinance. HTH is an innovative strategy that accelerates the 
region’s response to chronic homelessness by establishing 1,600 new housing units in the face of 
compounding emergencies. 
   
The HTH model is based on the following foundational premises: 

• Incorporate the lessons of COVID deintensification shelters, which demonstrated that single- 
room settings are more supportive of a person’s stability, health, and ability to maintain 
housing.27 

• Exercise the authority provided by the Washington Legislature to create a funding source 
generating sufficient capital to rapidly acquire and operate for the long-term up to 1,600 new 
supportive housing units.28 

• Take advantage of economic circumstances to buy relatively new or recently updated hotels or 
apartments, many of which include kitchen facilities, to substantially grow the region’s stock of 
affordable homes in months, rather than years. 

• Establish partnerships with cities across King County to site and operate emergency and 
permanent supportive housing at a speed and scale not previously possible. This coordinated 
strategy recognizes that to reduce chronic homelessness in King County, communities, cities, 
and the County must act boldly together to increase housing that is available to and supportive 
of residents who have been living outside. 

 
The economic circumstances of the pandemic made hotels and apartments available for purchase at 
lower rates, allowing HTH to grow the region’s stock of affordable homes in months rather than years.29 
HTH transformed these hotels and apartments into emergency and permanent supportive housing with 
comprehensive wraparound services including case management, behavioral health support, healthcare, 
employment support, and crisis intervention for residents experiencing chronic homelessness. 
 

 
24 University of Washington and King County DCHS: Impact of Hotels as Non-Congregate Emergency Shelters. 
(2020). [LINK] 
25 RCW 82.14.530 as reflected in ESHB 1070 from 2021. [LINK] 
26King County Department of Community and Human Services. (2024). Health Through housing: A Regional 
Approach to Address Chronic Homelessness. [LINK] 
27 University of Washington and King County DCHS: Impact of Hotels as Non-Congregate Emergency Shelters. 
(2020). [LINK]  
28 RCW 82.14.530 as reflected in ESHB 1070 from 2021. [LINK] 
29 Initial Health Through Housing Implementation Plan, page 11. [LINK] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 37

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://kcrha.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Impact-of-Hotels-as-ES-Study_Full-Report_Final-11302020.pdf.
http://lawfilesext.leg.wa.gov/biennium/2021-22/Pdf/Bills/Session%20Laws/House/1070-S.SL.pdf?q=20210815073813
https://kingcounty.gov/en/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing
https://kcrha.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Impact-of-Hotels-as-ES-Study_Full-Report_Final-11302020.pdf.
http://lawfilesext.leg.wa.gov/biennium/2021-22/Pdf/Bills/Session%20Laws/House/1070-S.SL.pdf?q=20210815073813
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/View.ashx?M=F&ID=9959294&GUID=718EA25C-9032-448C-8C98-060B2C97B5E8


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 10 
 
 
    

 

As the world moves beyond the acute phase of the COVID-19 pandemic, the ongoing issues of 
homelessness, housing affordability, and racial inequity continue to be central concerns for King County. 
In 2022, the King County Regional Homelessness Authority found 13,368 individuals experiencing 
homelessness, a 13.8 percent increase from the 2020 Annual Point in Time (PIT) count (11,751 
individuals).30  
 
Communities do not experience homelessness at the same rate. Black, Hispanic/Latin(a)(o)(x), American 
Indian, Alaska Native, or Indigenous, and Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander individuals are 
overrepresented among those experiencing homelessness compared to King County’s overall 
demographics.31 Veterans are also overrepresented among the group who received homelessness 
services compared to the number of veterans countywide.32 
 
Multiple systemic and societal factors influence the racial-ethnic disproportionality among people 
experiencing chronic homelessness. Redlining, rental housing discrimination, and other racially exclusive 
land use and housing practices have limited affordable housing opportunities for communities of color 
and increased their risk of homelessness.33 Exposure to the criminal legal system, the child welfare 
system, and lack of access to quality schools and health care can drive up homelessness, and systemic 
racism is a feature of each of these systems.34, 35 Recent studies indicate that intergenerational poverty 
and engagement with multiple systems, which disproportionately affect communities of color, impede 
families' ability to remain united and to successfully avoid or escape homelessness.36 Together, these 
factors, as well as how well other supportive housing programs in the region are working to advance 
equity in who they house, shape the landscape of homelessness in King County. 
 
This growing rate of homelessness has occurred concurrently with a drastic increase in housing costs.  
Between 2015 and 2022, the median gross rent in King County increased from $1,354 to $1,917, 
marking a 42 percent increase.37 Nearly one-third of households (31.5 percent) in King County are cost-

 
30 King County Regional Homelessness Authority. (2022). 2022 Point in Time Count. [LINK] 
31 King County Department of Community and Human Services, Performance Measurement and Evaluation 
Division. (December 2021). Integrating Data to Better Measure Homelessness. [LINK] 
32 King County Department of Community and Human Services, Performance Measurement and Evaluation 
Division. (December 2021). Integrating Data to Better Measure Homelessness. [LINK] 
33 King County Affordable Housing Committee. (2024, January). King County Countywide Planning Policies Housing 
Chapter Resources for Documenting the Local History of Racially Exclusive and Discriminatory Land Use and 
Housing Practices. [LINK] 
34 National Alliance to End Homelessness. (2023, December). Homelessness and Racial Disparities. [LINK] 
35 Zelaya, E. (2022, April 27). Why School Segregation Matters. Urban Institute. [LINK] 
36 Olivet, J., Wilkey, C., Richard, M., Dones, M., Tripp, J., Beit-Arie, M., Yampolskaya, S., & Cannon, R. (2021). Racial 
Inequity and Homelessness: Findings from the SPARC Study. The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and 
Social Science, 693(1), 82-100. [LINK] 
37 1-year American Community Survey [LINK] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 38

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://kcrha.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/PIT-2022-Infograph-v7.pdf
https://kingcounty.gov/%7E/media/depts/community-human-services/department/documents/KC_DCHS_Cross_Systems_Homelessness_Analysis_Brief_12_16_2021_FINAL.ashx?la=en
https://kingcounty.gov/%7E/media/depts/community-human-services/department/documents/KC_DCHS_Cross_Systems_Homelessness_Analysis_Brief_12_16_2021_FINAL.ashx?la=en
https://cdn.kingcounty.gov/-/media/king-county/depts/dchs/housing/affordable-housing-committee/ahccompplanreview/rdeluhp_resourcelist.pdf?rev=d1e7c0735892439487532f7eb35c6e9d&hash=7C570BD93F46FD91DB399D3AAE11BBC9
https://endhomelessness.org/homelessness-in-america/what-causes-homelessness/inequality/
https://housingmatters.urban.org/articles/why-school-segregation-matters#:%7E:text=School%20segregation's%20effects%20on%20spending%20and%20funding&text=Between%2Ddistrict%20segregation%20is%20associated,turn%2C%20influence%20students'%20opportunities.
https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0002716221991040
https://www.census.gov/data/developers/data-sets/acs-1year.html


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 11 
 
 
    

 

burdened, meaning they pay more than 30 percent of their income in rent.38 Most extremely low-
income households, or those earning less than or equal to 30 percent area median income (AMI), are 
severely cost burdened in King County, meaning they pay more than 50 percent of their income in 
rent.39 These households are at high risk of homelessness and often do not have safe, affordable options 
in the private housing market. HTH plays a critical role in meeting the housing needs of HTH residents 
who are at or below 30 percent AMI.  
 
Legislative History, Initiative Goals, and Annual Reporting Requirements  
In 2020, King County implemented the HTH sales tax through the adoption of Ordinance 19179, codified 
as King County Code (KCC) Chapter 4A.503.40, 41After establishing the revenue for the initiative, King 
County adopted Ordinance 19236 in 2021, which detailed the implementation planning for the HTH 
initiative.42  This ordinance established the initiative's paramount goal through 2028 of creating and 
maintaining the ongoing operations of 1,600 units of affordable, supportive housing for individuals 
experiencing or at risk of chronic homelessness.43 HTH is mandated to enhance access to healthcare, 
develop a mobile behavioral health intervention program, and address demographic disproportionality 
in homelessness.44 
 
In 2021, King County adopted Ordinance 19366, which adopted the Initial Health Through Housing 
Implementation Plan, outlined the process to establish an advisory committee for HTH, and set forth 
annual reporting requirements.45, 46 The plan outlines the processes for acquiring and operating 
supportive housing, engaging community stakeholders, and measuring the initiative's impact on chronic 
homelessness.47 It also delineates the roles and responsibilities of the advisory committee, setting forth 
comprehensive annual reporting requirements to maintain transparency and accountability.48  
 
The HTH Advisory Committee consists of 14 people, including representatives from local communities, 
non-profit organizations, healthcare providers, and housing experts.49 The Committee's purpose is to 
provide oversight, guidance, and expertise to ensure the initiative's objectives are met effectively and 

 
38 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. (2021). Cost Burden, CHAS 2014-2018. 
39 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. (2021). Cost Burden and Severe Cost Burden by Income, 
CHAS 2014-2018. 
40 King County Ordinance 19179 [LINK] 
41 King County Code 4A.503 [LINK] 
42 King County Ordinance 19236 [LINK] 
43 King County Ordinance 19236 [LINK] 
44 King County Ordinance 19236 [LINK] 
45 King County Ordinance 19366. [LINK] 
46 King County Code 2A.300.200. [LINK] 
47 King County Ordinance 19366. [LINK] 
48 King County Ordinance 19366. [LINK] 
49 King County Department of Community and Human Services. (n.d.) Health Through Housing Advisory Committee. 
[LINK] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 39

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4652676&GUID=8A31F2EE-23AF-4BA3-9306-CD87CD8B40A0&Options=&Search=&FullText=1
https://aqua.kingcounty.gov/council/clerk/code/07_Title_4A.htm#_Toc54697848
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4652907&GUID=5E5E8D61-6B3B-46EC-937C-6FD39E8CB6F0&Options=&Search=&FullText=1
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4652907&GUID=5E5E8D61-6B3B-46EC-937C-6FD39E8CB6F0&Options=&Search=&FullText=1
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4652907&GUID=5E5E8D61-6B3B-46EC-937C-6FD39E8CB6F0&Options=&Search=&FullText=1
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=5121460&GUID=7DC46271-C6B3-4D90-B6DE-DEF37CD0A7D5&Options=Advanced&Search=&FullText=1
https://kingcounty.gov/council/legislation/kc_code/33_Title_24.aspx
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=5121460&GUID=7DC46271-C6B3-4D90-B6DE-DEF37CD0A7D5&Options=Advanced&Search=&FullText=1
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=5121460&GUID=7DC46271-C6B3-4D90-B6DE-DEF37CD0A7D5&Options=Advanced&Search=&FullText=1
https://kingcounty.gov/en/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/advisory-committee


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 12 
 
 
    

 

equitably.50 The HTH Advisory Committee is intended to serve as a bridge between HTH and the 
communities it serves, ensuring that the voices and needs of those most affected by housing instability 
are heard and addressed.51 Appendix A of this report shows legislative and Plan language that sets out 
reporting elements and provides both the location of summary information in this report and tabs of the 
HTH dashboard that contain further information and opportunities to explore data. 
 
HTH Progress in 2023 Expands on 2021-2022 HTH Activities  
In 2021 and 2022, HTH successfully: 

• acquired a total of ten buildings across Seattle, Renton, Redmond, Auburn, and Federal Way; 
• established a memorandum of agreement with City of Seattle to permanently add 445 

operations-only units to the HTH portfolio;52 and 
• moved residents into six HTH sites.  

 
This annual report describes the HTH initiative’s activities in 2023.  
 
Report Requirements 
 
This annual report summarizes the activities of the HTH initiative through the end of 2023 and fulfills the 
reporting requirements in KCC 2A.300.200.A. Specifically, this document includes summaries of the 
accomplishments and effectiveness of the expenditure of HTH sales tax proceeds in 2023 as well as 
financial information including, but not limited to, the allocation of proceeds by jurisdiction.53  
This report also summarizes the significant additional annual data reporting provided by HTH’s new 
online dashboard, as called for by the Health Through Housing Implementation Plan as adopted by 
Ordinance 19366.54,55,56 Finally, this report provides information about the Health Through Housing 
Advisory Committee and confirms that the Committee has certified that the online dashboard is current 
and updated with 2023 data and ready for review, as directed by the Plan.57,58 
 
  

 
50 King County Ordinance 19366. [LINK] 
51 King County Ordinance 19366. [LINK] 
52 As described in the Plan, the term operations-only refers to City-owned buildings that have been permanently 
added to the HTH portfolio via memoranda of agreement. Cities retain ownership of operations-only buildings 
whereas HTH funds all operations and services costs associated with those buildings.  
53 K.C.C. 2A.300.200.A. [LINK] 
54 Ordinance 19366. [LINK]  
55 Initial Health Through Housing Implementation Plan. [LINK] 
56 Health Through Housing Dashboard. [LINK] 
57 Initial Health Through Housing Implementation Plan. [LINK] 
58 Health Through Housing Dashboard. [LINK] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 40

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=5121460&GUID=7DC46271-C6B3-4D90-B6DE-DEF37CD0A7D5&Options=Advanced&Search=&FullText=1
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=5121460&GUID=7DC46271-C6B3-4D90-B6DE-DEF37CD0A7D5&Options=Advanced&Search=&FullText=1
https://aqua.kingcounty.gov/council/clerk/code/05_Title_2A.htm#_Toc473536140
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=5121460&GUID=7DC46271-C6B3-4D90-B6DE-DEF37CD0A7D5&Options=Advanced&Search=
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/View.ashx?M=F&ID=9959294&GUID=718EA25C-9032-448C-8C98-060B2C97B5E8
https://www.kingcounty.gov/hthdashboard
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/View.ashx?M=F&ID=9959294&GUID=718EA25C-9032-448C-8C98-060B2C97B5E8
https://www.kingcounty.gov/hthdashboard


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 13 
 
 
    

 

A. Performance Overview: Accomplishments and Effectiveness in 2023 
 
HTH transformed an emergency response strategy to the COVID-19 pandemic into an innovative 
response to the region’s homelessness crisis by providing emergency housing and permanent supportive 
housing. By acquiring and repurposing hotels and apartments throughout the County, HTH has increased 
housing capacity for residents with the highest needs, who are experiencing or at risk of chronic 
homelessness. In 2023, HTH opened a total of 138 units, reflecting its commitment to expanding the 
availability of supportive housing across the region.    
 
HTH is collaborating with host jurisdictions, neighboring communities, and community-based supportive 
housing operators to provide housing for people experiencing homelessness. In its second year of 
operation, HTH solidified its role in providing innovative permanent supportive housing and emergency 
housing for the region.  
 
2023 Highlights  
 
HTH’s 2023 activities reflect a strategic shift from property acquisitions (the initiative’s focal point in 
2021 and 2022) to rehabilitating and opening buildings, bringing people inside, and connecting residents 
with health care and other supports. In 2023, HTH provided housing for 911 people and expanded 
mobile behavioral response teams to serve six HTH buildings. These teams provide crisis and other 
behavioral health services to HTH residents, increasing their ability to remain stably housed. In addition, 
HTH worked through pre-occupancy processes to license, permit, seek changes of use, and initiate major 
construction work at acquired properties in Federal Way, Capitol Hill, and Kirkland. HTH is making 
significant progress toward opening these sites to residents, which are expected to become available in 
2025. 
 
2023 Highlights include: 
 

• Opened 138 units, including 62 at Burbridge Place and 76 at Salmonberry Lofts in Honor of Peter 
Joe; 

• Served 911 people, a net increase of 108 residents as compared to 2022;  
• Contracted with Lavender Rights Project and Chief Seattle Club for the operations of HTH Capitol 

Hill; 
• Secured an additional 32 operations-only units at Sacred Medicine House in North Seattle, for a 

total of 120 units (88 units were secured in 2022);  
• Invested in the 95 operations-only units at DESC’s Bloomside building in Burien; 
• Housed 396 residents in permanent supportive housing (PSH) sites and 519 individuals in 

emergency housing (EH) sites;59  

 
59 A small number of residents have moved between different HTH sites and are represented in more than one 
count of residents served by housing type. 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 41

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 14 
 
 
    

 

• Placed 480 individuals in HTH PSH or other permanent housing, with 466 of these individuals 
being chronically homeless prior to HTH’s intervention;  

• 91 percent of HTH residents in PSH maintained their housing or moved to another permanent 
housing destination;  

• Enhanced health care services available at HTH sites, with an increase of eight percent more 
residents accessing physical health care and 19 percent more residents accessing behavioral 
health care services compared to 2022;60 

• Expanded DESC’s 24/7 Mobile Response Teams across six HTH buildings, and  
• Brought the total number of housing units secured since inception to 1,358. 

 
The following subsections describe the initiative’s 2023 activities in depth and provide performance data 
at the program and population level. 
 
Number of Housing Units by Year-End 2023 
At the end of 2022, HTH’s portfolio included 1,303 housing units.61 By the end of 2023, the HTH portfolio 
had grown to include 1,358 housing units, as shown in Figure 2. The net increase of 55 housing units in 
2023 accounts for the following additions and other adjustments: 

• 32 additional operations-only housing units obtained at Sacred Medicine House in North Seattle; 
• 95 operations-only housing units obtained at Bloomside in Burien; 
• The Redmond HTH site reduced the number of units from 144 to 100 units to comply with 

municipal code for PSH buildings;62  
• 15 housing units taken offline at HTH Federal Way in order to establish clinical office space, a 

warming kitchen and life skills training space, consistent with municipal code requirements for 
multipurpose community space;63 

• 12 housing units taken offline from HTH Kirkland in order to create additional clinical office 
space, Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) compliant units, and to comply with statewide 

 
60 In the 2022 report, interactions with the behavioral health system, such as authorizations for care during a 
resident's stay in HTH, were documented using the PHP96 behavioral health system database that DCHS 
administers. This year, the methodology has been updated to include authorizations that began before a resident's 
stay and continued into it. Additionally, new programs introduced in 2023 have been included. 
61 A HTH unit is a secured housing unit that can be used to eat, sleep and live. The unit does not have be open and 
available for occupancy at the time it is secured. 
62 In 2023, DCHS began coordinating with leadership and staff within City of Redmond to develop an Operational 
Agreement. This Agreement states King County must adhere to all applicable Redmond Zoning Code (RZC) 
including RZC Chapter 21.57, which limits PSH buildings to 100 residents. In order to comply with this, the housing 
unit count for HTH Redmond was reduced from 144 units to 100 units. 
63 The HTH Federal Way property is atypical in that it did not feature any onsite community space at the time of 
acquisition. Per Federal Way Revised Code sections 19.230.065 and 19.115.115, PSH buildings in the city must 
feature ”common open space” at a ratio of 100 square feet per dwelling.  

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 42

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 15 
 
 
    

 

minimum square footage requirements for permanent dwelling units, as part of the building’s 
planned conversion to PSH,64 and 

• One housing unit taken offline from HTH Capitol Hill after FMD issued a correction to the design. 
The Capitol Hill site will include 34 units. 
 

Figure 2: Cumulative Number of HTH Housing Units, 202365 

 
Source: Seattle-King County Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) Data as of 3/1/2024. 

 
  

 
64 Washington Administrative Code (WAC) 51-50-1208 dictates the interior space dimensions and characteristics of 
a permanent residence, referred to therein as a ”dwelling unit.” 
65 The measure for tracking progress towards HTH's 1,600 unit paramount goal is the cumulative number of 
housing units, which refers specifically to units that will be used for residential purposes. Thus, this figure shows 
only housing units. By contrast, the 2022 annual report showed the total universe of units obtained irrespective of 
use (e.g. administrative space, community rooms), and or municipal limits on occupancy. 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 43

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 16 
 
 
    

 

New Operations-Only Units  
HTH contracted with Chief Seattle Club, a Native-led housing and human services agency, to secure an 
additional 32 units of Sacred Medicine House as HTH operations-only units. Combined with the 88 units 
for which HTH agreed in 2022 to fund services, all 120 units at Sacred Medicine House are now HTH-
funded. HTH also confirmed funding for 95 operations-only units at DESC’s Bloomside, a PSH 
development expected to open in Burien in 2024.  
 
Number of People Housed in Health Through Housing Sites 
In 2023, HTH permanently or temporarily housed 911 people, a net increase of 108 residents in 2023 
compared to 2022.66 This increase is due mainly to the additional HTH sites that opened to residents in 
2023.67 
 
As of December 31, 2023, HTH operated five sites as PSH and three as EH. To open a site as PSH, a 
developer must obtain special use permits, ensure compliance with local zoning laws, and often 
undertake significant renovations to meet the long-term living standards required for permanent 
housing. This process can take two to five years. Generally, city building codes require EH sites to meet 
basic health and safety standards without the extensive renovations often required for permanent 
supportive housing, which allows EH sites to open faster than PSH sites. In alignment with the HTH 
Implementation Plan, HTH generally opens newly acquired sites as EH in order to immediately provide 
shelter to chronically homeless King County residents. HTH is on track to convert at least 50 percent of 
HTH sites that enter the portfolio as EH to PSH by December 31, 2028, as required by the Plan. 
 
As of December 31, 2023, HTH’s PSH sites had housed 396 residents and HTH’s EH sites had housed 519 
individuals, as shown in Figure 3. This represents a net increase of 97 PSH residents in 2023 as compared 
to 2022, due to completion of building rehabilitation and opening of additional housing units at 
properties including Salmonberry Lofts in Honor of Peter Joe and Burbridge Place respectively. 
 
The number of residents housed in HTH EH sites decreased slightly, by a net of 16 residents from 2022’s 
total of 535 residents. The slight decrease in residents at HTH EH sites may be a result of HTH’s 
improvements to the comprehensive support services offered in EH, allowing these individuals to 
transition more quickly into more permanent housing solutions within the HTH system or elsewhere. 
HTH staff will continue to monitor these trends.68 
 

 
66 241 residents who were served in 2022 left the program before 2023. In 2023, HTH served 349 new residents. 
This results in a net increase of 108 new residents served in 2023.   
67 Over time, the number of new HTH residents per year is expected to fluctuate based on how many HTH sites 
have opened to residents during the year. In years when more new sites open, the net increase is expected to be 
higher, while the net increase may be lower in years when HTH opens fewer new sites. 
68 The increase in the total count of unique residents from 2022 to 2023 reflects a combination of residents moving 
between different housing types, moving out of HTH altogether, and new residents entering HTH. This accounts for 
the reported counts in EH and PSH being higher than the net increase of 108 unique residents. 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 44

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 17 
 
 
    

 

Figure 3: People Housed in HTH Emergency Housing or Permanent Supportive Housing, 2023 

 
Source: Seattle-King County Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) Data as of 3/1/2024. 
 
Number of People Moved from Chronic Homelessness to Permanent Housing 
As shown in Figure 4, throughout 2023, 480 individuals were permanently housed in HTH permanent 
supportive housing units or moved on to permanent housing elsewhere with the help of HTH resources. 
Of those 480 individuals, 466 were chronically homeless.69  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
69 11 residents were at risk of chronic homelessness prior to HTH’s intervention, as defined by King County Code 
(KCC) 4A.503.  King County opened and operated a number of non-congregate shelters in response to the COVID-
19 pandemic. Once those shelters closed, their residents were relocated to HTH Emergency Housing buildings. 
Because shelter eligibility criteria differs from HTH eligibility criteria, some current HTH residents do not meet the 
chronically homeless or at risk of chronic homelessness definitions. Of the remaining three individuals, one 
resident was relocated from King County’s non-congregate shelter programs upon their closure in 2022 and two 
residents have missing data. HTH staff are currently partnering with service providers to complete data entry for 
the two individuals. 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 45

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 18 
 
 
    

 

 
 
Figure 4: Number of People Moved from Chronic Homelessness to Permanent Housing, 2023 

 
Source: Seattle-King County Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) Data as of 3/1/2024. 
Notes: “Other” includes 11 individuals who meet the HTH At Risk of Chronic Homelessness definition. It also includes two individuals whose 
status is “unknown” due to missing data. HTH staff are currently partnering with service providers to complete data entry for these residents. 
One individual’s status as “other” is related to the relocation of some shelter residents to HTH Emergency Housing buildings upon the closure of 
non-congregate shelters that had opened as part of King County’s COVID-19 response.  
 
 
  

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 46

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 19 
 
 
    

 

Percent of HTH Residents who Maintain Housing in HTH or Exit to Permanent Housing 
HTH’s PSH sites continued to perform stronger than EH in helping people maintain their housing or 
moving to stable housing elsewhere. In 2023, 91 percent of HTH residents in PSH buildings maintained 
their housing or moved to another permanent housing destination, compared to 57 percent of HTH EH 
residents.  
 
Permanent Supportive Housing 
Across HTH’s PSH buildings, residents maintained their housing at similar rates in 2023, as shown in 
Figure 5. In its first year of operation, Salmonberry Lofts in Honor of Peter Joe had the highest rate of 
housing stability in 2023 with 97 percent of their residents maintaining housing, followed by Bertha Pitts 
Campbell Place (91 percent), Sidney Wilson House (90 percent), and The North Star (88 percent).  
 
For PSH sites that operated in both 2022 and 2023, the rate of residents who maintained their housing 
decreased slightly in 2023 from 2022, at rates ranging from six to eight percent.70 HTH PSH’s 91 percent 
overall rate of maintaining HTH housing or moving on to other permanent destinations in 2023 is on par 
with regional PSH housing stability averages.71 Because slight reductions in housing retention are 
apparent at every PSH site that operated through the 2022 and 2023 calendar years, it is possible that 
this reflects an overall shift toward a normal distribution of housing retention within HTH PSH as seen 
over a longer period of time. By contrast, the slightly higher percentages shown in the 2022 report were 
based on data collected over a more limited time frame.  
 
Emergency Housing 
In 2023, HTH's three EH sites continued to serve as a critical bridge for individuals in transition from 
homelessness, with 57 percent of EH residents maintaining their housing. As shown in Figure 5, in its 
first year of operation, Don’s Place had the highest rate of housing stability in 2023 among EH sites, with 
69 percent of residents maintaining HTH or exiting to permanent housing.   
 
The rate of residents who maintained their housing or exited to permanent housing in The Gateway in 
Honor of Tenaya Wright decreased from 73 percent in 2022 to 59 percent in 2023. Over the same time 
period, the rate of residents who maintained their housing or exited to permanent housing increased 
from 38 percent to 49 percent in the Mary Pilgrim Inn. DESC operates both of these EH sites. Though 
year-to-year fluctuation on this metric is not unusual for EH sites broadly, DCHS continues to work with 
DESC to assess these trends and to explore adaptations to support residents effectively.72  
 

 
70 These data may also reflect a slight undercount of HTH residents’ ability to retain permanent housing as two 
percent of residents were reported to have an exit status of “unknown” and one percent of residents were 
reported as “data not collected.” Longer term monitoring and thorough program evaluation are necessary to fully 
understand this trend and identify potential root causes. 
71 King County Regional Homelessness Authority (KCRHA) System Performance Dashboard, Homeless Management 
Information System (HMIS) data as of 9/1/2023. [LINK]  
72 Source: Seattle-King County Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) Data as of 3/1/2024. 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 47

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://kcrha.org/data-overview/system-performance/


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 20 
 
 
    

 

The Bob G. was closed in June 2023 due to major renovations, so this site was not included in the overall 
calculation of the rate of EH residents who maintained their housing or exited into permanent housing. 
When The Bob G. closed, HTH facilitated the movement of residents into supportive housing elsewhere, 
with 15 percent of Bob G. residents moving on to permanent housing by the end of 2023.  
 
HTH has not yet determined the factors that drive lower rates of residents maintaining housing or 
moving on to other permanent housing in HTH’s EH sites compared to the initiative’s PSH sites. Among 
HTH EH service providers, about one third of residents who exited the HTH EH site in 2023 moved to 
shelters and other homeless situations. For another third, HTH does not have data on where the 
resident went after exiting the site.73  
 
Figure 5: Percent of Residents who Maintained HTH Housing or Exited to Permanent Housing Elsewhere, 
2023 

Source: Seattle-King County Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) Data as of 3/1/2024. 
 
Average Length of Stay 
Overall, HTH residents sustained stable, long-term housing in 2023 as shown in Figure 6. Because the 
various HTH buildings that were operational in 2023 became available to residents at different times, 
length of stay statistics vary dramatically. Unsurprisingly, HTH sites that have opened recently have 
shorter lengths of stay on average than sites that have been established for longer periods of time. 
 
Among all HTH sites opened since 2021, the Bob G. averaged the longest length of stay up until its 
closure in June 2023 for major renovations (684 days). Sidney Wilson House in Renton averaged the 
second longest length of stay, with residents staying in the building for an average of 621 days, followed 

 
73 Source: Seattle-King County Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) Data as of 3/1/2024. The 
absence of data for some residents may reflect the resident opting not to report, data not being collected at exit, 
or the resident being deceased, among other reasons. 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 48

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 21 
 
 
    

 

by Bertha Pitts Campbell Place (472 days), The North Star (429 days), The Gateway in Honor of Tenaya 
Wright (388 days), Mary Pilgrim Inn (274 days), and Don’s Place (204 days).  
 
Salmonberry Lofts in Honor of Peter Joe and Burbridge Place had the shortest stays among PSH sites 
(173 days and eight days, respectively) in 2023. However, these short length of stay averages reflect the 
fact that each of these sites fully opened in late 2023.74 With the majority of HTH EH sites averaging one 
to two years of continuous residence, these figures reinforce the importance of EH providing immediate 
relief from unsheltered homelessness in a manner that offers a greater level of resident stability and 
support services than can be found in the traditional congregate shelter model.75   
 
Figure 6: Average Length of Stay for HTH Sites, 2023 

 

Source: Seattle-King County Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) Data as of 3/1/2024. 

 
 
HTH Residents’ Health Challenges 
People experiencing homelessness die on average 12 years sooner than the general U.S. population.76 
Research shows that homelessness both causes and exacerbates illness and chronic mental and physical 
health conditions in people experiencing homelessness.77 Their lack of housing creates barriers to 
accessing health care and following health care directives, such as adhering to mental health and 
prescription medication routines.78 Because homelessness is linked to physical and mental health 
conditions, HTH services are designed to support residents with a wide range of health challenges. 
 
In 2023, HTH residents reported the following health challenges at move-in: mental health disorder (69 
percent), substance use disorder (57 percent), physical disability (41 percent), chronic health condition 

 
74 Burbridge Place’s first residents moved in in December 2023. Salmonberry Lofts in Honor of Peter Joe opened in 
January of 2023, but major plumbing needs resulted in the relocation of some residents to hotel rooms in February 
of 2023. Salmonberry opened for full lease up on site in December of 2023. 
75 Colburn, G., Fyall, R., McHugh, C., Moraras, P., Ewing, V., Thompson, S., Dean, T., & Argodale, S. (2022). Hotels as 
Noncongregate Emergency Shelters: An Analysis of Investments in Hotels as Emergency Shelter in King County, 
Washington During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Hous Policy Debate. 2022; 32(6): 853–875. [LINK] 
76 Homelessness and Health: What’s the Connection? National Health Care for the Homeless Council. [LINK] 
77 National Health Care for The Homeless Council. (2019, February). Homelessness & Health: What’s the 
Connection? [LINK] 
78 Homelessness and Health: What’s the Connection? National Health Care for the Homeless Council. [LINK]  

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 49

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC10586465/
https://nhchc.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/homelessness-and-health.pdf
https://nhchc.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/homelessness-and-health.pdf
https://nhchc.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/homelessness-and-health.pdf


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 22 
 
 
    

 

(27 percent), and developmental disability (12 percent), as shown in Figure 7 of residents (64 percent) 
reported multiple health conditions.   
 
Compared to 2022, in 2023 seven percent more residents reported at move-in that they had a 
developmental disability. Six percent more reported a mental health disorder, and four percent more 
reported a substance use disorder. On the other hand, in 2023 fewer residents reported at move-in 
having a physical disability (eight percent less) and a chronic health condition (five percent less) 
compared to 2022. These changes may reflect normal year-to-year fluctuations in data based on which 
residents moved into HTH sites during 2023. HTH intends to track these trends to monitor long-term 
shifts and use this data to develop targeted support for residents' evolving needs.  
 
Figure 7: Percent of HTH Residents Reporting Health Conditions at Move-in, 2023 
 

 
Source: Seattle-King County Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) Data as of 3/1/2024.  
 
Health and Wellbeing Supports 
In 2023, HTH widened the range of whole-person health supports available to residents by:  
 

• expanding access to the Mobile Response Team (MRT) from three HTH sites in 2022 to six HTH 
sites in 2023, serving residents via 24/7 mobile behavioral health crisis response, case 
management, and certified peer support. 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 50

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 23 
 
 
    

 

• coordinating streamlined access to health insurance enrollment through partner health 
providers and on-site case management services. 

• establishing subregional and culturally specific partnerships for resident medical care including: 
o HealthPoint at Sidney Wilson House in Renton and Don’s Place in Auburn;  
o Harborview Medical Center’s Adult Medicine Clinic and internal staff nurses at Mary 

Pilgrim Inn and The Gateway in Honor of Tenaya Wright in North Seattle; 
o Seattle Indian Health Board at Salmonberry Lofts in Honor of Peter Joe; and  
o Healthcare for the Homeless Network services across multiple HTH sites. 

 
In addition to physical and behavioral health care, HTH continued to refine programs and partnerships 
that increase residents’ health and wellbeing by addressing the determinants of health such as: 
 

• ensuring residents can access community resources and transportation services offered by King 
County Metro Transit;  

• increasing residents’ food security by providing nutritional and culturally sensitive food box 
programs through a partnership with the Emergency Feeding Program for Mary Pilgrim Inn, 
Don’s Place in Auburn, and The Gateway in Honor of Tenaya Wright, and 

• encouraging holistic health and lifelong learning through employment support services and 
personal enrichment programs that provide computer training, digital literacy, and wellness 
activities. 

 
Enhanced Mobile Behavioral Health Service Delivery 
Adhering to the HTH Implementation Plan and leveraging American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funding, 
HTH expanded the Mobile Response Team (MRT) managed by DESC to address behavioral health needs 
of residents and expand to new HTH sites. The MRT ramped up throughout 2023 from its initial service 
at Bertha Pitts Campbell Place, Mary Pilgrim Inn, and Sidney Wilson House to add four additional sites: 
The Bob G., Don’s Place, The Gateway in Honor of Tenaya Wright, and The North Star.  At the close of 
2023 the MRT was preparing to add service delivery to two more HTH sites: Salmonberry Lofts in Honor 
of Peter Joe and Burbridge Place. The MRT model is a multidisciplinary team intended for 24/7 coverage, 
though workforce conditions did not allow the team to operate overnight in 2023.79 The MRT delivered 
individual and group peer support services, crisis response and de-escalation, case management, and 
navigation to behavioral health services to meet individuals’ needs. 
 
A critical service for residents requiring low barrier and immediate behavioral health support, the MRT 
program is expected to be accessible to all locations and service providers within the HTH network by 
the end of 2024. As the program reaches full operation and begins to be funded by local HTH revenue, 
HTH will collect demographic data on MRT services, including information on people served by 
geographic area.  
 

 
79 DESC is currently evaluating its MRT staffing model to address recruitment needs for the night shift. 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 51

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 24 
 
 
    

 

HTH residents also continue to have access to behavioral health services provided by Public Health – 
Seattle & King County’s Health Care for the Homeless Network, as well as the network of community 
behavioral health providers administered by the King County DCHS Behavioral Health and Recovery 
Division (BHRD) that are available through Medicaid, state funding, and MIDD behavioral health sales 
tax funds. 
 
On-site Medical Care at HTH Sites in 2023 
The configuration of health services offered at HTH sites varies and is designed to the meet the specific 
needs of that building’s residents as determined by its operator. This subsection describes the unique 
health care supports provided at various HTH sites: 
 

• Sidney Wilson House: Catholic Community Services’ in-house Counseling, Recovery and 
Wellness Program (CReW) offers mental health and SUD counseling on site at Sidney Wilson 
House, including expansion in 2023 to include onsite access to a psychiatric prescriber. In 
addition, Sidney Wilson House has a nurse from HealthPoint on site on a weekly basis. After 
expanding its nursing coverage in 2023, onsite nursing care was expanded from 2 hours twice a 
month to one full day each week. This nurse offers general primary care consultation, wound 
care, overdose prevention, and over the counter pain remedies. In addition, the nurse performs 
vital care coordination services such as making referrals to the appropriate level of care such as 
hospitals, inpatient clinics, or specialized care, and connecting residents to other health 
supportive services that are tailored to the individual’s needs. The Health Care for the Homeless 
Mobile Medical Van is also on site at Sidney Wilson House twice a month and provides doctor 
and nurse visits for acute and chronic conditions; testing for sexually transmitted diseases, HIV, 
and Hepatitis C; family planning services; access to behavioral health specialists; overdose 
prevention kits; and emergency dental care. The on-site mobile medical team can also offer 
referral to outpatient care, mental health counseling, harm reduction services, health insurance 
enrollment, and referrals to shelter food, benefits, legal and domestic violence programs.  

  
• Don’s Place: In 2023, HealthPoint established both nursing and physician care at Don’s Place in 

Auburn. One day a week, medical staff provide a wide array of health services including wound 
care, foot care, primary care consults, and referrals to specialized medical services. Construction 
work to add a purpose-built medical exam room began in 2023 and is anticipated to be 
completed in 2024. As Don’s Place moves to full occupancy in 2024, onsite medical services are 
expected to increase proportionally. Finally, in 2023, We Care Daily Clinics, a mobile opioid 
treatment provider based in Auburn, began offering daily services to Don’s Place residents who 
are already on or interested in beginning medication for opioid use disorder (MOUD) treatment 
regimens.  

 
• Mary Pilgrim Inn and The Gateway in Honor of Tenaya Wright: Residents at the Mary Pilgrim Inn 

and The Gateway in Honor of Tenaya Wright benefit from an innovative onsite partnership with 
Harborview Medical Center’s Adult Medicine Clinic. In 2023, Harborview continued medical 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 52

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 25 
 
 
    

 

clinic operations based at the Mary Pilgrim Inn and provided site visits and remote consults for 
residents at The Gateway in Honor of Tenaya Wright. Residents can access care from physicians, 
nurses, and nurse practitioners. This partnership supports chronic disease management, 
particularly diabetes management, and supports monitoring of medically fragile residents.  

 
• Salmonberry Lofts: Seattle Indian Health Board and Chief Seattle Club began offering onsite 

nursing services at Salmonberry Lofts in the fall of 2023. Nurse care includes medication 
management, wound care, wellness checkups, consultation and referral for illness and physical 
injury. Salmonberry Lofts residents also benefit from Chief Seattle Club’s in house traditional 
wellness team which works individually and in group settings to engage in trauma-informed 
healing and wellness modalities that are centered in ancestral Indigenous knowledge. 

 
• Burbridge Place: Residents at Burbridge Place in Seattle receive on-site medication management 

services and a medication pick-up service for individuals already engaged in care with clinicians 
elsewhere. Burbridge Place also has a team of clinical support specialists who provide residents 
with behavioral health services, aid them in accessing community-based health resources, and 
coordinate with other members of that resident’s care team. Burbridge residents who are 
connected to SAGE (Support Advocacy Growth and Employment), DESC’s comprehensive 
outpatient mental health program, and HOST (Homeless Outreach Stabilization and Transition), 
a multi-disciplinary team of health, substance use disorder, and medical professionals, receive 
coordinated case management meetings at their place of residence.  

 
In addition to these 2023 developments, DCHS is supporting HTH operators as they pursue opportunities 
to bring co-located health services to The North Star and Bertha Pitts Campbell Place. This exploration 
continues into 2024.  
 
Other Supportive Health-Related Programming at HTH Sites in 2023 
Mobility Supports: King County Metro has partnered with HTH to provide a suite of mobility and 
transportation programs to improve residents access to essential services and personal needs. Based on 
feedback from operators and residents, Metro has modified several existing programs to address needs 
and worked to implement these services at all open HTH buildings. Services available across the HTH 
initiative in 2023 included: 

• distributing fully subsidized, unlimited regional transit passes via the ORCA Passport program; 
• providing access to Community Transportation Navigators with lived experience of 

homelessness, some of whom are HTH residents, and  
• Provided a wheelchair accessible van to each HTH site. 

 
Culturally Responsive Food: DCHS began a partnership with the Emergency Feeding Program to provide 
healthy and culturally responsive food distribution services to individuals, primarily focusing on 
residents at EH sites due to the lack of kitchenettes at EH properties. This initiative-wide service 
supplements the meal provision that each EH operator provides its residents five days a week. Ongoing 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 53

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 26 
 
 
    

 

food box distribution began in 2023 at the Gateway in Honor of Tenaya Wright, Mary Pilgrim Inn, and 
Salmonberry Lofts. Food box distribution services are also available by request at HTH PSH sites. The 
food boxes include dry and canned goods, fresh produce, and meats and are scheduled for delivery 
during high impact time frames. Close coordination with staff at each site addresses dietary restrictions, 
culturally specific food preferences, and delivery timing to meet residents’ needs. 
 
Employment Resource Program: In 2023, DCHS’ Employment Resource Program (ERP) offered weekly 
drop-in services on-site and virtually to support residents to: 

• participate in professional development programs; 
• enroll in job training and educational opportunities, including trade school and GED programs; 
• find internships and opportunities for continued education, and 
• volunteer their services to community-based organizations. 

  
In 2023, the ERP continued to provide the above services via collaborations with community-based 
organizations such as Goodwill, Path with Art, Northwest Access Fund, Pioneer Human Services, Solid 
Ground; employers and employment program partners such as Uplift Northwest, Weld Works, Port Jobs, 
PCC Community Markets; and local institutions of higher learning. Employment resource specialists offer 
alternating virtual and onsite drop-in hours for residents on a weekly basis. 
 
Metrics for Physical and Behavioral Health Care Access 
In 2023, a sizeable portion of HTH residents accessed King County supported health care services:  

• 39 percent of residents received physical health care from Health Care for the Homeless 
Network (HCHN) and Public Health – Seattle & King County facilities.80  

• 51 percent of residents accessed behavioral health care services through HCHN and King County 
BHRD’s network of community behavioral health agencies.81 82  

 
This reflects greater access of health care in 2023, compared to 2022. At least eight percent more 
residents accessed physical health care services, and 19 percent more residents accessed behavioral 
health care services, compared to baseline metrics from 2022. HTH operator staff report that the 
increased housing stability HTH provides to residents contributed to this increase in resident access to 
health care. The longer a resident lives in a building, the more likely they will have consistent 
engagement with service providers, such as case managers. This ongoing interaction and supportive 
environment likely encouraged more residents to utilize health care services.   
 

 
80 Health Through Housing Dashboard, Health Supports tab. [LINK] 
81 Health Through Housing Dashboard, Health Supports tab. [LINK] 
82 In the 2022 report, interactions with the behavioral health system, such as authorizations for care during a 
resident's stay in HTH, were documented using the PHP96 database. This year, the methodology has been updated 
to include authorizations that began before a resident's stay and continued into it. Additionally, new programs 
introduced in 2023 have been incorporated into the authorization checklist. 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 54

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://www.kingcounty.gov/hthdashboard
https://www.kingcounty.gov/hthdashboard


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 27 
 
 
    

 

The data only reflect the health care data available to the HTH initiative and do not include health care 
that HTH residents access from Medicare, the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, charity care, private 
insurance, or out-of-pocket payment. HTH will continue to monitor health outcomes and access, and will 
update its dashboard and other reporting to reflect additional data on care access as it becomes 
available.  
 
Demographic Data and Progress toward Reducing Disproportionality 
Consistent with Ordinance 19179, HTH is dedicated to enhancing equity in housing access, addressing 
the root causes of chronic homelessness, and housing historically marginalized communities that are 
more likely to experience chronic homelessness.83 Accordingly, HTH’s primary supporting goal is to 
annually reduce the racial-ethnic disproportionately among persons experiencing chronic 
homelessness.84 

 
Compared to their share of the general King County population, American Indian/Alaska 
Native/Indigenous, Black/African American/African, Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, and people who 
report being of multiple races including Hispanic/Latina/e/o communities are each overrepresented 
among those experiencing chronic homelessness, as shown in Figure 8.85  
 
Figure 8 also shows HTH’s progress on proportionally serving American Indian, Alaska Native, or 
Indigenous communities with the percentage of residents from these communities increasing from 
three percent in 2022 to 10 percent in 2023. The percentage of Black, African American, or African 
residents decreased slightly from 27 percent in 2022 to 25 percent in 2023.86,87,88 Asian or Asian 
Americans are represented at the same rate (three percent).89,90,91,92 

 
83 King County Ordinance 19179. [LINK] 
84 Initial Health Through Housing Implementation Plan. [LINK] 
85 King County HMIS Data as of 3/1/2024. US Census Bureau American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, 2017-
2021. For more discussion of disproportionality in chronic homelessness, including a disproportionality index that 
provides another way to understand the issue, see the Understanding Disproportionality tab of the HTH 
Dashboard. [LINK] 
86 Seattle-King County HMIS Data as of 3/1/2024. 
87 US Census Bureau American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, 2018-2022. 
88 2022 Health Through Housing Annual Report. [LINK] 
89 Seattle-King County HMIS Data as of 3/1/2024. 
90 US Census Bureau American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, 2018-2022. 
91 2022 Health Through Housing Annual Report. [LINK] 
92 The proportion of individuals identifying as Multiracial among people experiencing chronic homelessness 
increased over the same time period from seven percent to 16 percent. The increase in the multiracial category is 
a result of HUD's October 2023 update to the HMIS data standards, which merged race and Hispanic ethnicity 
fields, shifting individuals identifying as both Hispanic/Latina/e/o and another race into the Multiple Races 
category rather than solely the Hispanic/Latina/e/o category, thus leading to a decline in the latter category. From 
2022 to 2023, the percentage of households that identify as Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander and White 
decreased from two percent to one percent and 45 percent to 42 percent. 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 55

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/Legislation.aspx
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/View.ashx?M=F&ID=9959294&GUID=718EA25C-9032-448C-8C98-060B2C97B5E8
https://www.kingcounty.gov/hthdashboard
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=6262252&GUID=12B235F6-F229-411C-9293-B498A6821F87&Options=&Search=
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=6262252&GUID=12B235F6-F229-411C-9293-B498A6821F87&Options=&Search=


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 28 
 
 
    

 

 
In 2023, HTH's racial equity strategies focused on reducing the racial and ethnic disparities in 
homelessness through strategic partnerships and intentional community engagement. HTH partnered 
with organizations that focus on serving these communities, like Chief Seattle Club, the Urban League, 
and Lavender Rights Project, to address the racial disparities in homelessness in King County. By 
collaborating with organizations like these, HTH ensures culturally appropriate services are accessible to 
historically marginalized communities. This is a key strategy to secure housing stability for 
disproportionately impacted communities of color. These partnerships facilitate targeted outreach and 
engagement, enhancing the initiative's capacity to serve the specific needs of diverse populations and 
making meaningful progress toward equity in housing access. 
 
Figure 8: Race/Ethnicity of HTH residents Compared to Chronically Homeless Population and Overall 
Population in King County, 2023 

Race/Ethnicity 

Percent of 
Race/Ethnicity of 
HTH 
Residents 

Percent of Race/ Ethnicity 
of People in 
King County Experiencing 
Chronic 
Homelessness 

Percent of 
Race/Ethnicity of 
Total King 
County Population 

American Indian, Alaska Native, or 
Indigenous 

10% 6% <1% 

Asian or Asian American 3% 2% 19% 
Black, African American, or African 25% 25% 6% 
Hispanic/Latin(a)(o)(x) 4% 3% 7% 
Multiracial 11% 16% 9% 
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander 1% 2% 1% 
Unknown/Unreported 5% 1% N/A 
White 42% 45% 56% 
Sources: Seattle-King County HMIS Data as of 3/1/2024. US Census Bureau American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, 2018-2022. 
 
 

Expanding Partnerships and Provider Supports 
In 2023, HTH executed three competitive procurement processes to select service providers capable of 
providing comprehensive property management and on-site support services for new HTH sites in 
Seattle’s Capitol Hill neighborhood, Kirkland, and Redmond. The initiative also offered new training 
opportunities to existing HTH housing operators and implemented new strategies to provide additional 
operational flexibility for HTH service providers.  
 
Strengthening Existing Partnerships 
HTH strengthened its existing partnerships with the Downtown Emergency Service Center (DESC) and 
Chief Seattle Club to enhance service provision and operational efficiency. DESC commenced operations 
for Burbridge Place in November 2023, its fourth HTH-funded building.  Chief Seattle Club undertook 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 56

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 29 
 
 
    

 

new responsibilities, including comprehensive property management and on-site support services at 
Salmonberry Lofts in Honor of Peter Joe, opening it in January 2023. Chief Seattle Club also contracted 
with HTH to fund operations for all 120 units at Sacred Medicine House. These strengthened provider 
partnerships are integral to ensuring that residents receive consistent, quality care and support. 
 
Developing New Partnerships 
In 2023, HTH began identifying service providers for buildings in Seattle’s Capitol Hill neighborhood, 
Kirkland, and Redmond via competitive procurement of applicants and selected from the initiative’s pre-
qualified pool.93 In May 2023, HTH announced its partnership with Lavender Rights Project and Chief 
Seattle Club to jointly open and operate the Capitol Hill site, marking a pivotal step toward providing 
permanent supportive housing specifically for the Queer, Transgender, Two-spirit, Black, Indigenous, 
and People of Color (QT2BIPOC) community. Recognizing this population’s disproportionate 
engagement with the criminal legal system, HTH fosters the community’s resilience by providing 
community-based services and supports that address systemic inequities and promote well-being.94 
Chief Seattle Club will handle the site’s property management, and Lavender Rights Project will deliver 
on-site programming and support services.  
 
In September 2023, in partnership with the City of Redmond, HTH announced The Salvation Army as the 
selected provider for comprehensive property management and support services at the Redmond HTH 
site. A procurement for an operator for the Kirkland HTH site opened to applicants in December 2023 
and continued into 2024.  
 
Training and Capacity Building for HTH Providers  
In 2023, HTH supported service providers and their staff in training and development as well as creating 
a capacity building plan to be implemented in 2024.  

• HTH contracted with consultants to provide a local training series on resident behavioral 
management techniques to selected HTH providers. This three-part workshop series discussed 
strategies to manage safety and challenging behaviors within housing sites, such as de-
escalation techniques, trauma-informed care approaches, and proactive resident engagement 
strategies. This series enhanced the operational capabilities of HTH service providers, fostering a 
consistent environment of safety and support across HTH facilities, as well as connecting themes 
of equity and social justice to their understanding of and response to resident behaviors.  

• With HTH support, staff of multiple HTH operator organizations attended the national 
Supportive Housing Summit, convened by the Corporation for Supportive Housing. Operators 
learned about supportive housing best practices, advancing racial equity and housing justice, 

 
93 The HTH prequalified provider pool consists of pre-approved agencies and service providers that meet HTH 
requirements to operate an initiative site in specific subregions throughout the County. A list of pre-qualified 
applicants can be found in the Initial Health Through Housing Implementation Plan. [LINK] 
94 Unequal Treatment: Confronting Racial and Ethnic Disparities in the Criminal Justice System." The Sentencing 
Project, 2020. [LINK] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 57

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/View.ashx?M=F&ID=9959294&GUID=718EA25C-9032-448C-8C98-060B2C97B5E8
https://www.sentencingproject.org/reports/the-color-of-justice-racial-and-ethnic-disparity-in-state-prisons-the-sentencing-project/


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 30 
 
 
    

 

partnering across systems, and other emerging topics for housing operators nationally. 
Participating HTH operators included the Urban League and Chief Seattle Club, so this summit 
built organizational capacity among HTH’s culturally focused partners.  

• Additionally, HTH developed a contract with the Corporation for Supportive Housing to provide 
a longer series of trainings, provide individualized technical assistance to operators, and 
coordinate a community of practice for peer-to-peer learning between organizations. A 
particular asset from the community of practice is the diversity of culturally specific and 
supportive housing expertise that providers will share to elevate the quality of services across 
HTH sites. This provider support planned in 2023 will be implemented throughout 2024. 

 
Temporary Staffing Assistance to Support Initial Operations 
To support the successful operation and services at Don’s Place in Auburn, HTH contracted with Urban 
League of Metropolitan Seattle, to enhance service delivery and operational stability at this new HTH 
site through temporary program staffing. From December 2022 to April 2023, the Urban League 
supported Compass Housing Alliance during initial operations while Compass Housing Alliance built its 
staffing capabilities.  
 
Responding to Emerging Challenges with Operational Flexibility and Support 
In 2023, HTH providers faced challenges with high rates of inflation and increased risks to residents from 
the proliferation of fentanyl, both of which the human services sector is encountering broadly.95,96 Rising 
costs associated with inflation drove increased operational expenses, particularly for utility costs, 
property maintenance, and employee wages. To mitigate impacts of inflation for operators, consistent 
with the Implementation Plan, HTH embedded an annual five percent increase into service/operation 
contracts to help manage rising costs associated with inflation.  
 
In 2023, HTH sites also continue to have staff trained to administer opioid antagonists, such as 
Naloxone, which can reverse an overdose from opioids. HTH also plans to launch further collaboration 
to promote health-centered policies, assessment, and training regarding overdose prevention and 
response in 2024. 

 
B. Site Locations and Other Geographic Information 
HTH includes a total of 16 sites as of the end of 2023, including 11 acquired buildings and five 
operations-only buildings, in six cities and in seven of the nine County Council districts, as shown in 
Figure 9. A detailed description of each site within the HTH portfolio can be found in Appendix B: HTH 

 
95 Wage Equity Study Team. (2023, February) Wage Equity for Non-Profit Human Services Workers: A study of work 
and pay in Seattle and King County. University of Washington School of Social Work. [LINK] 
96 King County Department of Community and Human Services. (2024, March 6). New Actions to Stop the Surge of 
Fentanyl Overdoses and Expand Behavioral Health Treatment in King County. [LINK] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 58

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://socialwork.uw.edu/sites/default/files/WageEquityStudy_Summary_0_0.pdf
https://dchsblog.com/2024/03/06/new-actions-to-stop-the-surge-of-fentanyl-overdoses-and-expand-behavioral-health-treatment-in-king-county/#:%7E:text=in%20King%20County-,New%20Actions%20to%20Stop%20the%20Surge%20of%20Fentanyl%20Overdoses%20and,Health%20Treatment%20in%20King%20County&text=On%20Monday%20morning%2C%20King%20County,overdose%20deaths%20in%20the%20region.


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 31 
 
 
    

 

Investments (Acquisitions and Operations-only Partnerships), Cumulative to Year End 2023 and the 
Location Map tab of the HTH dashboard.97  
 
  

 
97 HTH Dashboard, Location Map tab. [LINK] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 59

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://www.kingcounty.gov/hthdashboard


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 32 
 
 
    

 

Figure 9: Map of HTH Site Locations, 2023 

 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 60

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 33 
 
 
    

 

 
Additional Information on HTH Units Opened in 2023 
As summarized in the Performance Overview subsection of this report, the HTH initiative opened 138 
additional units in 2023. Figure 10 provides details on the two buildings where these units opened, 
including address, cost of acquisition, initial housing type, number of units, and acreage, as well as 
photos of each property. HTH considers a unit opened when it becomes ready for resident occupancy. 
HTH opens a unit after completing renovations and contracting with a service provider who ensures the 
facility can function as intended, providing safe and supportive housing.  
 
Figure 10: HTH Units Opened, 2023 

1 | Salmonberry Lofts in Honor of Peter Joe in honor of Peter Joe, 224 S Washington St, Seattle, WA 
98104  
Property Details 
Service Provider: Chief Seattle Club 
Initial Housing Type: Permanent Supportive Housing 
Total Units: 76  
Building Photos 

 

 

 
 
  

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 61

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 34 
 
 
    

 

2| Burbridge Place, 8610 Aurora Ave N, Seattle, WA 98103 
Property Details 
Service Provider: DESC  
Initial Housing Type: Permanent Supportive Housing 
Total Units: 62  
Building Photos 

 

 

 
Additional Information on Operations-Only Units Added to the HTH Portfolio in 2023 
As summarized in the Performance Overview subsection of this report, the HTH initiative added 127 
units to its portfolio in 2023 by contracting for an additional 32 operations-only units at Sacred Medicine 
House and confirming funding for 95 units at Bloomside, a new DESC-operated PSH building in Burien 
slated to open in spring 2024 .98,99 Operations-only units are new units in non-County owned buildings 
for which HTH provides all ongoing services and operations costs.  
 
Figure 11 provides details on Sacred Medicine House and Bloomside including address, initial housing 
type, number of units, as well as photos of the property.  
  

 
98 This is in addition to the 88 units at Sacred Medicine House that DCHS obtained in 2022, for a grand total of 120 
operations-only units at Sacred Medicine House 
99 While this section provides information about newly added units and buildings, the overall net unit increase for 
2023, which also accounts for units taken offline at several buildings as detailed in subsection IV.A, is 55 units. 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 62

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 35 
 
 
    

 

Figure 11: HTH Units Secured, 2023  
1 | Sacred Medicine House, 14315 Lake City Way N.E., Seattle WA 98125 
Property Details 
Service Provider: Chief Seattle Club  
Initial Housing Type: Permanent Supportive Housing 
Additional Units Secured in 2023: 32 
Total HTH Units Obtained: 120 
 
Building Photos 

 

 

  

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 63

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 36 
 
 
    

 

2 | Bloomside, 801 SW 150th St., Burien, 98166 
Property Details 
Service Provider: DESC 
Initial Housing Type: Permanent Supportive Housing 
Total HTH Units Obtained: 95 

 
Building Photos 

   
 
Individuals Served with Local Community Ties 
In 2023, HTH continued to provide referral pathways for people who live in or near the city in which the 
site is located or have ties to that community, consistent with RCW 82.14.530 and the HTH 
Implementation Plan.100,101 In 2023, 85 percent of residents reported existing ties to the communities 
where their HTH site is located, as shown in Figure 12.  
 
The rate of residents reporting a prior local connection to the HTH site jurisdiction increased by 37 
percent since 2022. HTH successfully collected more data about local ties during 2023, with the rate of 
unknown local connections decreasing from 44 percent in 2022 to 9 percent in 2023. While this 
improved data collection likely contributes to the significant increase in residents reporting a local 
connection to the HTH site’s jurisdiction, this is not the only factor. Intensified outreach efforts by HTH 
local referral partners to identify and engage individuals within the local community around HTH sites 

 
100 The Initial Health Through Housing Implementation Plan 2022-2028 [LINK]     
101 RCW 82.14.530(3)(b) requires counties to provide an opportunity for 15 percent of units at a facility to be 
provided to individuals who are living in or near the city in which the facility is located, or have ties to that 
community.   

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 64

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=5121460&GUID=7DC46271-C6B3-4D90-B6DE-DEF37CD0A7D5&Options=Advanced&Search=&FullText=1


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 37 
 
 
    

 

increased the likelihood of connecting with those who already have ties to the area. The rate of HTH 
residents reporting no prior local connection to the HTH site’s jurisdiction decreased from nine percent 
in 2022 to six percent in 2023.  
 
Figure 12: HTH Residents with Local Connections to their Host Jurisdiction, 2023 

 
Source: Seattle-King County Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) Data as of 3/1/2024. 
 
C. Financial Information 
The HTH initiative is funded by a 0.1 percent sales and use tax imposed by King County in 2020 
through King County Ordinance 19179, codified as King County Code 4A.503.102 The County 
leverages anticipated tax revenue to be collected in future years to issue bonds that finance the 
immediate costs of capital acquisition and rehabilitation. This section of the report summarizes 
total revenue, actual expenditures, and allocation of debt service in 2023 and provides 
information about the distribution of proceeds across HTH host jurisdictions. 
 
Annual Revenue 
As shown in Figure 13, Health Through Housing's total 2023 revenue totaled $160.3 million, including 
$70.3 million in tax revenue, $85 million from bond proceeds, $4.3 million in interest, and less than $0.1 
million from commercial rent. Tax revenue collections in 2023 were approximately $2.4 million higher 
than in 2022. 
  
Figure 13: Annual Revenue, 2023 

Health Through Housing Revenue in 2023 
Tax Revenue $70,333,285 
Bond Proceeds $85,595,000 
Interest $4,281,853 
Rent $70,502 
Total 2023 Revenue $160,280,640 

 
  

 
102 King County Code 4A.503. [LINK] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 65

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://aqua.kingcounty.gov/council/clerk/code/07_Title_4A.htm#_Toc54697848


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 38 
 
 
    

 

Actual Expenditures 
Funding for HTH is distributed across the following strategies, each of which are described further in the 
HTH Implementation Plan. 

• Strategy 1: Capital Financing and Improvement for HTH Sites 
• Strategy 2: Emergency and Permanent Supporting Housing Operations 
• Strategy 3: Behavioral Health Services Outside of HTH Sites 
• Strategy 4: Capacity Building Collaborative 
• Strategy 5: Evaluation and Performance Measurement 
• Strategy 6: Future Acquisition of Additional Properties (Acquisitions after 2021) 

 
In 2023, HTH spent $62.0 million, which was approximately $8.1 million less than the $70.1 million spent 
in 2022, as depicted in Figure 14. This included $17.6 million on capital expenditures and $44.4 million 
on operating expenditures. This reduction in expenditure is primarily due to a strategic shift in 2023 
from property acquisitions, which constituted a significant portion of the 2022 budget, to rehabilitating 
and operating buildings, bringing people inside, and delivering health care and other supports to HTH 
residents. Property acquisitions typically require larger one-time investments compared to operational 
expenses, which are generally lower but ongoing and crucial for long-term sustainability. This transition 
is aligned with HTH’s strategic planning to enhance service delivery and operational efficiency. 
Additionally, while 2023 bond proceeds were issued in December 2023 and therefore not spent within 
the same year, these funds are expected to be used for critical rehabilitation projects in 2024 and 2025. 
 
Figure 14: Expenditures by HTH Strategy, 2023 

Health Through Housing Expenditures in 2023 
Strategy 1 Capital Financing and Improvements for HTH Sites (Rehabilitation) $6,513,862  
Strategy 2 Emergency and Permanent Supportive Housing Operations $18,496,505  

Facility Maintenance $4,434,711  
Program Operations $14,061,794  

Strategy 3 Behavioral Health Services Outside HTH Sites $6,345,487  
Strategy 4 Capacity Building Collaborative $280,555  
Strategy 5 Evaluation and Performance Measurement $156,868  
Strategy 6 Future Acquisition of Additional Properties (Acquisitions after 2021) $11,046,580  
Initiative Administration $1,858,619  
Bond Financing Cost (Debt Service) $17,306,770  
Total 2023 Expenditures $62,005,247  

 
  

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 66

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 39 
 
 
    

 

Allocation of Expenditures by Jurisdiction 
For HTH, King County receives 0.1 percent sales and use tax revenue from each jurisdiction within the 
region except Bellevue, Covington, Issaquah, Kent, Maple Valley, North Bend, Renton, and Snoqualmie. 
These jurisdictions passed municipal legislation in 2020 to keep the tax revenue generated under RCW 
82.14.530 under city control.103,104,105,106,107,108,109,110 RCW 82.14.530 requires King County to plan to 
spend at least 30 percent of the revenue collected from cities with a population greater than 60,000 
within that jurisdiction.  
 
The cities in King County that meet this population threshold but did not pass their own city-level sales 
tax are Federal Way, Kirkland, Redmond, Sammamish, and Seattle. Among these cities, King County has 
purchased HTH facilities in Federal Way, Kirkland, Redmond, and Seattle. Executive staff continue to 
meet annually with staff from the City of Sammamish, consistent with the HTH Implementation Plan.111 
 
As shown in Figure 15, HTH spent approximately $5.6 million in Auburn, $2 million in Federal Way, $2.7 
million in Kirkland, $2.8 million in Redmond, $4.9 million in Renton, and $35.3 million in Seattle. Higher 
spending occurred in cities where sites were acquired or jurisdictions established partnerships for 
operations-only sites, while spending was lower when sites in a jurisdiction were not yet operational 
during 2023. HTH had the highest expenditures in Seattle because it has approved acquisition of six HTH 
sites, more than any other jurisdiction.  Expenditures for HTH strategies 3, 4, 5, and initiative 
administration, shown in this table as “other expenditures," cannot be readily allocated to specific 
jurisdictions.  
 
Figure 15: Allocation of Expenditures by Jurisdiction, 2023 

HTH Partner 
Jurisdiction Expenditure Category 2023 Amount 

Auburn Acquisition *$0 
Building Rehabilitation $2,141,948 
Facility Maintenance $684,179 
Program Operations $1,806,954 
Bond Financing Cost $1,008,143 

 
103 City of Bellevue Resolution 9826. [LINK] 
104 City of Covington Ordinance 14-20. [LINK] 
105 City of Issaquah Ordinance 2922. [LINK] 
106 City of Kent City Code 3.16.035 Additional Sales or Use Tax for Housing. [LINK] 
107 City of Maple Valley Ordinance No. O-20-708. [LINK] 
108 City of North Bend Resolution 1955. [LINK] 
109 City of Renton Ordinance 5983. [LINK] 
110 City of Issaquah  Resolution 1557. [LINK] 
111 The plan notes that the County and the city of Sammamish agreed in 2021 that the County would not pursue 
HTH acquisition in Sammamish but would meet annually to discuss HTH and opportunities for partnership.   

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 67

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://codepublishing-modern-prod.s3.us-west-2.amazonaws.com/LpC8zW1FViSBADEJ4iMXLg8N?response-content-disposition=inline%3B%20filename%3D%22Resolution%209826.pdf%22%3B%20filename%2A%3DUTF-8%27%27Resolution%25209826.pdf&response-content-type=application%2Fpdf&X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=ASIAQSZNCZZNPSNA2BY6%2F20230526%2Fus-west-2%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20230526T195327Z&X-Amz-Expires=300&X-Amz-Security-Token=IQoJb3JpZ2luX2VjEPr%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2FwEaCXVzLXdlc3QtMiJHMEUCIQCEYDz7VAjUMYcTf%2BnVLuaqu3cZY4Q5ryzRXMeFknpwVAIgHhe%2B7nyqm%2FFuW%2FQZG2JDMag%2FoiMyYp0fkKVfZlg8%2FMMq6AMIMxADGgwwNDAzNTk4NzQxMzgiDP%2F1OiqUt%2BBnBu5MvCrFA2p1rNy58iOQjrxk2yKiiKEDyozxc0K1TKvQuf9GSXw0nnLn78E%2BS1zGyqefUvZUFeMKI0vG2rQlc4PqMJwMXyE6bZ0TBV1zboUyF0r%2FBvivnnxCCIdVNdnyewrGRYUbN3vXO7TMKadN5z8C8Mu7Wp3oBoHKu2tMfu116GqJzZ8N11XmHZBoY4FtJ9FOevlVI9Y5FoKbI%2B5XG0m937uBm9hKBIWiN%2BbJnDJJo3aVtnP7av2dCyz7EmpWpUJlPx8oXYhwOeebXn2JOnu4yuCZKY%2FJAUsWcQVyG%2BZhRlO9g4aYCaUGhyV6aLLCt5sfUQwl1GpW6GukqxJMism56UyYngQBXbKCwn4u7zEOkl3b6fgMCjQvUjqxesYCYwDOZZVpB3IimJkTf%2BVbMlMNUSnJrwdSO6uqkW0P6IYWbBPHFKzegVWrZvgUGxFwcz%2BPkWOAmcsAqKhlzC4It6hMIAR8o%2BnUfSLRn%2FL4L9Cdcwtp4jxHiSKkKmMmSjPwTTSF%2Fpa42a7gSsBH3cY9L87Ycr2e0nI8PqA%2FxFUK3e4%2Bb4jfGkVJcs3fY12xEC6ss1cHYqCXNFHyIAA6%2FIlcSK2Z3wvOX6W3fWwbMzDf18OjBjqlAVow%2BI%2BsKonDF7zDLWqaH47mKgdph5yVG26zkDNHdHmRsfvId%2BvwmZ31oUw1tbdoht42QZ8XWw5pTYHo4XsiWmIley%2FYkKpwGn49A3u6b1n%2BrPYUzLMPv8KUwy9cz4k022pWpW4mmuYAWq%2Fgfw%2F%2BTN%2FOXKvVplUBerrn%2FHVYOHf0fmN8HyoCoJfWg8B6CSaIn3fgcNf%2FFy51KLMcqenwkebRB102iA%3D%3D&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&X-Amz-Signature=a26a0206da2d549af2b015eb515c0f5a10e15bf8d7e21daa6b05bf0570fd162f
https://covington.municipal.codes/enactments/Ord14-20
https://issaquah.civicweb.net/document/127758/
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Kent/
https://www.maplevalleywa.gov/home/showpublisheddocument/27238/637389575450470000
https://northbendwa.gov/ArchiveCenter/ViewFile/Item/5072
https://edocs.rentonwa.gov/Documents/DocView.aspx?id=8226729&dbid=1&repo=CityofRenton&cr=1
https://www.snoqualmiewa.gov/DocumentCenter/View/31535/Resolution-1557-Imposing-Sales-and-Use-Tax-for-Affordable-Housing-PDF?bidId=


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 40 
 
 
    

 

HTH Partner 
Jurisdiction Expenditure Category 2023 Amount 

Total $5,641,224 
Federal Way Acquisition **($41,543) 

Building Rehabilitation $15,018 
Facility Maintenance $307,779 
Program Operations $41,697 
Bond Financing Cost $1,655,379 
Total $1,978,330 

Kirkland Acquisition **($124,200) 
Building Rehabilitation $167,242 
Facility Maintenance $480,960 
Program Operations $111,612 
Bond Financing Cost $167,242 
Total $2,686,123 

Redmond Acquisition *$0 
Building Rehabilitation $346,898 
Facility Maintenance $363,111 
Program Operations $73,449 
Bond Financing Cost $2,022,163 
Total $2,805,621 

Renton Acquisition **($54,869) 
Building Rehabilitation $475,822 
Facility Maintenance $682,371 
Program Operations $1,695,418 
Bond Financing Cost $2,137,748 
Total $4,936,497 

Seattle Acquisition $11,267,186 
Building Rehabilitation $3,366,935 
Facility Maintenance $1,916,311 
Program Operations $10,332,664 
Bond Financing Cost $8,432,828 
Total $35,315,923 

Total Expenditures Allocated by Jurisdiction $53,363,718 
* All acquisition activity in Auburn and Redmond took place in 2021 and is therefore not represented in this table. 
** The negative acquisition amount for Federal Way, Renton, and Kirkland in 2023 reflect expenses that were initially 
misclassified as acquisitions in 2022 but were reclassified as controllable expenses in 2023. 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 68

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 41 
 
 
    

 

 
Average Per-Unit Costs by Site 
The cost per-unit for each HTH site varies based on the circumstances of each acquisition as well as site 
development process and timing. Figure 16 identifies: 

• per-unit acquisition one-time costs;  
• facility maintenance which includes site work outside of major rehabilitation or PSH conversion; 
• operational costs which include services provided by housing operators and contracted partners 

and administrative support from King County’s Facilities Management Division, and 
• rehabilitation. 

 
Among HTH properties with acquisition costs in 2023, the average per-unit costs for capital were 
$273,021 and costs for operations were $20,759. In 2023, the average per-unit costs among HTH 
properties without acquisition costs was $22,089. Facility maintenance, rehabilitation, and operations 
costs vary between buildings based on each site’s initial configuration and physical condition as well as 
the length of time for which a given site has been operational. HTH sites that had opened earlier than 
2023 received inflationary adjustments to their contracts during 2023 that contributed to increased 
costs.  
 
Figure 16: Cost Per Unit for Each HTH Site (Acquisition/Rehabilitation life-to-date, other costs from 2023) 

HTH Facility Expenditure Cost Per Unit 
Bertha Pitts Campbell Place Acquisition 

(one-time cost, Life to Date [LTD]) 
N/A - operations-only property 

Maintenance $0 
Operations $24,762 
Rehabilitation (LTD) $0 
Total Cost Per Unit $24,762 

Burbridge Place Acquisition (one-time cost, LTD) N/A - operations-only property 
Maintenance $0 
Operations $1,049 
Rehabilitation (LTD) $0 
Total Cost Per Unit $1,049 

Don’s Place Acquisition (one-time cost, LTD) *$148,498 
Maintenance $8,447 
Operations $22,308 
Rehabilitation (LTD) $26,444 
Total Cost Per Unit $205,697 

HTH Capitol Hill Acquisition (one-time cost, LTD) *$349,575 
Maintenance $7,276 
Operations $0 
Rehabilitation (LTD) $1,313 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 69

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 42 
 
 
    

 

HTH Facility Expenditure Cost Per Unit 
Total Cost Per Unit $358,165 

HTH Federal Way Acquisition (one-time cost, LTD) *$270,381 
Maintenance (2023) $3,579 
Operations (2023) $485 
Rehabilitation (LTD) $175 
Total Cost Per Unit $274,619 

HTH Kirkland Acquisition (one-time cost, LTD) *$321,960 
Maintenance (2023) $5,404 
Operations (2023) $14,425 
Rehabilitation (LTD) $1,879 
Total Cost Per Unit $330,467 

HTH Redmond Acquisition (one-time cost, LTD) *$280,763 
Maintenance (2023) $3,631 
Operations (2023) $84 
Rehabilitation (LTD) $3,469 
Total Cost Per Unit $287,948 

Mary Pilgrim Inn Acquisition (one-time cost, LTD) *$206,913 
Maintenance (2023) $4,737 
Operations (2023) $20,465 
Rehabilitation (LTD) $7,548 
Total Cost Per Unit $239,663 

Sacred Medicine House Acquisition (one-time cost, LTD) N/A - operations-only property 
Maintenance (2023) $0 
Operations (2023) $0 
Rehabilitation (LTD) $0 
Total Cost Per Unit $0 

Salmonberry Lofts in Honor of 
Peter Joe  

Acquisition (one-time cost, LTD) *$314,809 
Maintenance (2023) $3,947 
Operations (2023) $29,470 
Rehabilitation (LTD) $32,651 
Total Cost Per Unit $380,877 

Sidney Wilson House 

Acquisition (one-time cost, LTD) *$267,403 
Maintenance (2023) $6,377 
Operations (2023) $15,845 
Rehabilitation (LTD) $13,418 
Total Cost Per Unit $303,044 

The Argyle Acquisition (one-time cost, LTD) *$305,240 
Maintenance (2023) $726 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 70

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 43 
 
 
    

 

HTH Facility Expenditure Cost Per Unit 
Operations (2023) $0 
Rehabilitation (LTD) $0 
Total Cost Per Unit $305,966 

The Bob G. Acquisition (one-time cost, LTD) *$206,408 
Maintenance (2023) $6,689 
Operations (2023) $0 
Rehabilitation (LTD) $0 
Total Cost Per Unit $213,097 

The Gateway in Honor of 
Tenaya Wright 

Acquisition (one-time cost, LTD) *$362,643 
Maintenance (2023) $3,751 
Operations (2023) $11,130 
Rehabilitation (LTD) $14,784 
Total Cost Per Unit $392,308 

The North Star Acquisition (one-time cost, LTD) N/A - operations-only property 
Maintenance (2023) $0 
Operations (2023) $26,195 
Rehabilitation (LTD) $0 
Total Cost Per Unit $26,195 

* All capital measures, including acquisition and rehabilitation activity, are depicted as Life-to-Date expenses rather than Year-
to-Date expenses, so acquisition costs appear in this table regarding real estate transactions that took place in prior years.  
* Because Burbridge Place opened in December, the per-unit cost for this property was only $1,049 in 2023. Sacred Medicine 
House had not yet incurred any costs by the end of 2023. 
 

D. HTH Advisory Committee Establishment, Membership, and Certification of Dashboard 
 

KCC 2A.300.200 and KCC 24.30.020 call for a HTH Advisory Committee.112,113 As shown in Figure 17, the 
HTH Advisory Committee is a 12- to 16-member group advising the King County Executive and King 
County Council on current and future implementation of the HTH initiative. In addition to providing 
guidance, the committee is responsible for: 

• reviewing the initiative’s performance data; 
• providing annual certification of the HTH Dashboard, and 
• reporting annually to the King County Council and the community at large on the expenditures, 

accomplishments, and effectiveness of the HTH Initiative. 
 
As part of the initiative’s commitment to equity and social justice and consistent with the 
Implementation Plan, the HTH Advisory Committee centers individuals with lived experience and 
communities who have been historically overrepresented in the region's homelessness crisis. All 

 
112 KCC 2A.300.200. [LINK] 
113 KCC 24.30.020. [LINK] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 71

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://aqua.kingcounty.gov/council/clerk/code/05_Title_2A.htm#_Toc473536140
https://aqua.kingcounty.gov/council/clerk/code/33_Title_24.htm#_Toc65058358


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 44 
 
 
    

 

committee members reside in King County and demonstrate track records of supporting and promoting 
equitable, affordable, and supportive housing in the region. Initial committee members upon the 
Committee’s formation in 2023 include the following 14 King County residents. For more information 
about the members, visit the Advisory Committee tab of the HTH Dashboard.114  

 
Figure 17: Health Through Housing Advisory Committee Members, 2023 

Health Through Housing Advisory Committee Members 
Elizabeth Archambault Lena Bernal Brook Buettner 
Avon Curtis, Co-Chair Tulika Dugar Isadora Eads 
Febben Fekadu Marissa Fitzgerald Sean Healy, Chair 
Sara Lidstrom Krystal Marx Sarah Stewart 
Da’mont Vann Barbara Walker  

 
In 2023, the Committee convened quarterly, appointed a chair and co-chair, and received presentations 
from HTH service providers regarding the HTH model. On May 16, 2024, the HTH Advisory Committee 
reviewed and unanimously certified this report and the HTH Dashboard, including certifying that that 
the dashboard is updated with 2023 calendar year data.115  
 

E. Additional Information Available in the HTH Dashboard 
Additional information about the HTH initiative is in the online HTH dashboard available here.116 The 
dashboard includes: 

• additional data specific to each of HTH’s sites;  
• additional context and discussion of initiative activities and performance in 2023;  
• customizable views of HTH data;  
• greater background on disproportionality;  
• more information about how HTH and its partners are working to support the health of 

residents;  
• more information about Advisory Committee members, and  
• further discussion of the HTH initiative’s plans for 2024.  

 
Conclusion/Next Actions 
 
In 2023, the HTH initiative’s second full year of operation, the initiative focused especially on moving 
residents into units, integrating health care and other supportive services into the HTH sites, and 
building capacity of service providers as its intensive acquisition phase wound down.  
 

 
114 Health Through Housing Dashboard. [LINK] 
115 Initial Health Through Housing Implementation Plan 2022-2028. [LINK] 
116 Health Through Housing Dashboard. [LINK] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 72

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://www.kingcounty.gov/hthdashboard
https://www.kingcounty.gov/hthdashboard
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=5121460&GUID=7DC46271-C6B3-4D90-B6DE-DEF37CD0A7D5&Options=Advanced&Search=&FullText=1
https://www.kingcounty.gov/hthdashboard


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 45 
 
 
    

 

HTH also continued to work through pre-occupancy processes to license, permit, seek changes of use, 
and initiate major construction work at acquired properties in Federal Way, Capitol Hill, and Kirkland. 
Despite the complexity of cross-jurisdictional building regulations and widely varying municipal 
processes, significant progress has been made toward opening all HTH acquisitions to residents.  
 
In addition to its operational achievements, in 2023 HTH introduced significant enhancements in 
healthcare service offerings and other wellness supports, evidenced by the increase in residents 
accessing both physical and behavioral health care compared to the previous year and the expansion of 
unique onsite health services for HTH residents. This improvement underscores HTH taking full 
advantage of the opportunity to improve resident health through providing stable housing. As HTH 
continues to expand its reach and refine its services, it is exploring ways to better understand and meet 
the unique needs of each community it serves. This effort involves planning for even more tailored 
support and ensuring that future HTH interventions are as effective and impactful as possible. 
 
As HTH moves into 2024, it will focus on streamlining service delivery, enhancing community 
engagement to inform responsive and tailored services, and ensuring that the initiative remains on track 
to meet its paramount goal of securing 1,600 units of supportive housing. Work toward these goals will 
include moving residents into additional buildings, and continuing major construction work that is 
needed to ready sites for occupancy.  
 
HTH remains focused on securing and opening more HTH units in order to address chronic homelessness 
in King County. HTH will continue to expand supportive housing and services for people exiting 
homelessness while focusing on reducing racial and ethnic disproportionality. By increasing access to 
dignified supportive housing, HTH is a powerful part of King County’s regional strategy to address the 
entwined crises of affordable housing and chronic homelessness.  
 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 73

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


  Attachment A 

   
 

Appendix A: Reporting Elements Table and HTH Dashboard Guide 
 

Reporting Element Language Source See Section(s) of This Report See Also HTH 
Dashboard Tab(s)[1]  

King County Code 2A.300.200.A 
The health through housing advisory committee is created to 
provide advice to the executive and council and report annually 
to the council and community on the accomplishments and 
effectiveness of the expenditure of sales and tax proceeds as 
authorized by KCC chapter 4A.503 and RCW 82.14.530. Annual 
reporting to the council and the community shall include 
information on the allocation by jurisdiction of sales and use tax 
proceeds as authorized by KCC. chapter 4A.503 and RCW 
82.14.530. … 

KCC 
2A.300.200.A 

• Report Requirements Subsection A: 
Performance Overview: 
Accomplishments and Effectiveness in 
2023 

• Report Requirements Subsection C: 
Financial Information 

• Initiative Roots 
• Units Secured 
• Number of People 

Served 
• Revenue and 

Expenditures 

No later than June 15 of each year, beginning with the first 
report to be filed by June 15, 2023, on behalf of the advisory 
committee, the executive shall electronically file the annual 
report and a motion that should acknowledge receipt of the 
report with the clerk of the council, who shall retain an electronic 
copy to all councilmembers, the council chief and member and 
alternates of the regional policy committee, or its successor. The 
clerk of the council shall retain an electronic copy and provide an 
electronic copy to all councilmembers, the council chief of staff 
and the lead staff for the committee of the whole, or its 
successor. 

KCC 
2A.300.200.A 

N/A N/A 

King County Code 24.30.030.A 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 74

https://gbc-word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?ui=en-US&rs=en-US&wopisrc=https%3A%2F%2Fkc1-my.sharepoint.com%2Fpersonal%2Fmwsweet_kingcounty_gov%2F_vti_bin%2Fwopi.ashx%2Ffiles%2Fa4908325abb146009527f9f33d31fe13&wdpid=521b7f6d&wdenableroaming=1&mscc=1&wdodb=1&hid=EE1A24A1-C0F7-5000-2C7C-E02FC91F14F9.0&uih=sharepointcom&wdlcid=en-US&jsapi=1&jsapiver=v2&corrid=e2d5a556-82dd-5aef-cc26-0627c88948e1&usid=e2d5a556-82dd-5aef-cc26-0627c88948e1&newsession=1&sftc=1&uihit=docaspx&muv=1&cac=1&sams=1&mtf=1&sfp=1&sdp=1&hch=1&hwfh=1&dchat=1&sc=%7B%22pmo%22%3A%22https%3A%2F%2Fkc1-my.sharepoint.com%22%2C%22pmshare%22%3Atrue%7D&ctp=LeastProtected&rct=Normal&wdorigin=Other&instantedit=1&wopicomplete=1&wdredirectionreason=Unified_SingleFlush#_ftn1


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 47 
 
 
    

 

Reporting Element Language Source See Section(s) of This Report See Also HTH 
Dashboard Tab(s)[1]  

… The implementation plan shall also describe responsibilities of 
a health through housing advisory committee, which is to 
provide advice to the executive and council and to report 
annually to the council and the community on the 
accomplishments and effectiveness of the expenditure of 
proceeds and name the persons to the committee. Annual 
reporting provided to the council and the community shall 
include information on the allocation of the proceeds by 
jurisdiction. 

KCC 24.30.030.A • Report Requirements Subsection A: 
Performance Overview: 
Accomplishments and Effectiveness in 
2023 

• Report Requirements Subsection D: 
HTH Advisory Committee 
Establishment, Membership, and 
Certification of Dashboard 

• Report Requirements Subsection C: 
Financial Information 

• Initiative Roots 
• Units Secured 
• Number of People 

Served 
• Advisory Committee 
• Revenue and 

Expenditures 

HTH Implementation Plan 
The HTH Advisory Committee will annually report to the Council 
and public on the expenditures, accomplishments, and 
effectiveness of the HTH initiative through an online HTH 
dashboard. The purposes of reporting by online dashboard are to 
increase community access to reporting, to take advantage of an 
online platform’s ability to present interactive data, to allow for 
faster data updates as data are available within the annual 
reporting period, and to reduce the environmental impact of 
printing paper reports. 

HTH 
Implementation 
Plan, page 64 

• Report Requirements Subsection A: 
Performance Overview: 
Accomplishments and Effectiveness in 
2023 

• Report Requirements Subsection B: 
Site Locations and Other Geographic 
Information 

• Report Requirements Subsection C: 
Financial Information 

• Report Requirements Subsection E: 
Performance Overview: Additional 
Information Available in the HTH 
Dashboard 

• Initiative Roots 
• Units Secured 
• Number of People 

Served 
• Revenue and 

Expenditures 
  

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 75

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://gbc-word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?ui=en-US&rs=en-US&wopisrc=https%3A%2F%2Fkc1-my.sharepoint.com%2Fpersonal%2Fmwsweet_kingcounty_gov%2F_vti_bin%2Fwopi.ashx%2Ffiles%2Fa4908325abb146009527f9f33d31fe13&wdpid=521b7f6d&wdenableroaming=1&mscc=1&wdodb=1&hid=EE1A24A1-C0F7-5000-2C7C-E02FC91F14F9.0&uih=sharepointcom&wdlcid=en-US&jsapi=1&jsapiver=v2&corrid=e2d5a556-82dd-5aef-cc26-0627c88948e1&usid=e2d5a556-82dd-5aef-cc26-0627c88948e1&newsession=1&sftc=1&uihit=docaspx&muv=1&cac=1&sams=1&mtf=1&sfp=1&sdp=1&hch=1&hwfh=1&dchat=1&sc=%7B%22pmo%22%3A%22https%3A%2F%2Fkc1-my.sharepoint.com%22%2C%22pmshare%22%3Atrue%7D&ctp=LeastProtected&rct=Normal&wdorigin=Other&instantedit=1&wopicomplete=1&wdredirectionreason=Unified_SingleFlush#_ftn1


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 48 
 
 
    

 

Reporting Element Language Source See Section(s) of This Report See Also HTH 
Dashboard Tab(s)[1]  

DCHS will prepare and maintain the online dashboard. No later 
than June 15 of each year starting in 2023, the online dashboard 
will be updated with the prior calendar year’s data reporting and 
an overview of the HTH initiative’s performance during the year. 
The online dashboard will include performance measures that 
are consistent with this plan’s section on Performance 
Measurement and Evaluation. 

HTH 
Implementation 
Plan, page 64 

• Report Requirements Subsection A: 
Performance Overview: 
Accomplishments and Effectiveness in 
2022 

• Report Requirements Subsection B: 
Site Locations and Other Geographic 
Information 

• Report Requirements Subsection E: 
Performance Overview: Additional 
Information Available in the HTH 
Dashboard 

• Initiative Roots 
• Units Secured 
• Number of People 

Served 
• Project Phases 
• Our Progress 
• Our Theory of Change 
• Why Housing Matters 
• Health Supports 

A list of the members of the HTH Advisory Committee HTH 
Implementation 
Plan, page 65 

• Report Requirements Subsection D: 
HTH Advisory Committee 
Establishment, Membership, and 
Certification of Dashboard 

• Advisory Committee 

A map depicting the locations of sites constructed or acquired 
with Health through Housing proceeds and depicting the 
locations and numbers of operational-only housing units 
supported by HTH 

HTH 
Implementation 
Plan, page 65 
  

• Report Requirements Subsection B: 
Site Locations and Other Geographic 
Information 

• Location Map 

Demographic data describing the population residing in Health 
through Housing-funded housing, including race and ethnicity. 
The dashboard will track progress towards reducing racial-ethnic 
disproportionality by comparing HTH demographic data to the 
population experiencing chronic homelessness in King County 
and the general King County population 

HTH 
Implementation 
Plan, page 65 

• Report Requirements Subsection A: 
Performance Overview: 
Accomplishments and Effectiveness in 
2023 – Demographic Data and 
Progress toward Reducing 
Disproportionality 

• Our Progress 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 76

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://gbc-word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?ui=en-US&rs=en-US&wopisrc=https%3A%2F%2Fkc1-my.sharepoint.com%2Fpersonal%2Fmwsweet_kingcounty_gov%2F_vti_bin%2Fwopi.ashx%2Ffiles%2Fa4908325abb146009527f9f33d31fe13&wdpid=521b7f6d&wdenableroaming=1&mscc=1&wdodb=1&hid=EE1A24A1-C0F7-5000-2C7C-E02FC91F14F9.0&uih=sharepointcom&wdlcid=en-US&jsapi=1&jsapiver=v2&corrid=e2d5a556-82dd-5aef-cc26-0627c88948e1&usid=e2d5a556-82dd-5aef-cc26-0627c88948e1&newsession=1&sftc=1&uihit=docaspx&muv=1&cac=1&sams=1&mtf=1&sfp=1&sdp=1&hch=1&hwfh=1&dchat=1&sc=%7B%22pmo%22%3A%22https%3A%2F%2Fkc1-my.sharepoint.com%22%2C%22pmshare%22%3Atrue%7D&ctp=LeastProtected&rct=Normal&wdorigin=Other&instantedit=1&wopicomplete=1&wdredirectionreason=Unified_SingleFlush#_ftn1


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 49 
 
 
    

 

Reporting Element Language Source See Section(s) of This Report See Also HTH 
Dashboard Tab(s)[1]  

Number of households receiving a service through the mobile 
behavioral health intervention program by geographic area 

HTH 
Implementation 
Plan, page 65 

• Report Requirements Subsection A: 
Performance Overview: 
Accomplishments and Effectiveness in 
2023 – Health and Wellbeing Supports 

• Health Supports 

Number of households, who, at the time of enrollment, were 
living in or near the city in which the site is located, or have ties 
to that community  

HTH 
Implementation 
Plan, page 65 

• Report Requirements Subsection B: 
Site Locations and Other Geographic 
Information – Individuals Served with 
Local Community Ties 

• Our Progress 

Health Through Housing initiative financial information, 
including, 

      

• The program’s annual revenue 
  

HTH 
Implementation 
Plan, page 65 

• Report Requirements Subsection C: 
Financial Information 

• Revenue and 
Expenditures 

• Allocation of proceeds for housing and operations to 
jurisdictions that host Health through Housing sites  

HTH 
Implementation 
Plan, page 65 

• Report Requirements Subsection C: 
Financial Information 

• Revenue and 
Expenditures 

• Actual expenditures of the previous year’s proceeds amongst 
the categories of expenditure required or allowed by KCC 
chapter 24.30  

HTH 
Implementation 
Plan, page 65 

• Report Requirements Subsection C: 
Financial Information 

• Revenue and 
Expenditures 

• Including the average per-unit cost of acquisition, conversion 
and operation by site 

HTH 
Implementation 
Plan, page 65 

• Report Requirements Subsection C: 
Financial Information 

• Revenue and 
Expenditures 

Data that describe how the Health through Housing initiative 
performs on at least the following population-level and program 
performance measures: 

      

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 77

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://gbc-word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?ui=en-US&rs=en-US&wopisrc=https%3A%2F%2Fkc1-my.sharepoint.com%2Fpersonal%2Fmwsweet_kingcounty_gov%2F_vti_bin%2Fwopi.ashx%2Ffiles%2Fa4908325abb146009527f9f33d31fe13&wdpid=521b7f6d&wdenableroaming=1&mscc=1&wdodb=1&hid=EE1A24A1-C0F7-5000-2C7C-E02FC91F14F9.0&uih=sharepointcom&wdlcid=en-US&jsapi=1&jsapiver=v2&corrid=e2d5a556-82dd-5aef-cc26-0627c88948e1&usid=e2d5a556-82dd-5aef-cc26-0627c88948e1&newsession=1&sftc=1&uihit=docaspx&muv=1&cac=1&sams=1&mtf=1&sfp=1&sdp=1&hch=1&hwfh=1&dchat=1&sc=%7B%22pmo%22%3A%22https%3A%2F%2Fkc1-my.sharepoint.com%22%2C%22pmshare%22%3Atrue%7D&ctp=LeastProtected&rct=Normal&wdorigin=Other&instantedit=1&wopicomplete=1&wdredirectionreason=Unified_SingleFlush#_ftn1


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 50 
 
 
    

 

Reporting Element Language Source See Section(s) of This Report See Also HTH 
Dashboard Tab(s)[1]  

• Cumulative number of people who moved from chronic 
homelessness into permanent housing via HTH; 

  

HTH 
Implementation 
Plan, page 65 

• Report Requirements Subsection A: 
Performance Overview: 
Accomplishments and Effectiveness in 
2023 - Number of People Housed in 
Health Through Housing Sites 

• Number of People 
Served 

  

• Progress on reducing disproportionality in the experience of 
chronic homelessness; 

HTH 
Implementation 
Plan, page 65 

• Report Requirements Subsection A: 
Performance Overview: 
Accomplishments and Effectiveness in 
2023 - Demographic Data and Progress 
toward Reducing Disproportionality 

• Our Progress 
  

• Percentage of residents who maintain their housing in HTH or 
exit to permanent housing from HTH-funded emergency or 
permanent supportive housing; 

HTH 
Implementation 
Plan, page 65 

• Report Requirements Subsection A: 
Performance Overview: 
Accomplishments and Effectiveness in 
2023 – Percent of HTH Residents who 
Maintain Housing in HTH or Exit to 
Permanent Housing 

• Our Theory of Change 
  

• Average length of stay of residents in HTH-funded emergency 
or permanent supportive housing; 

HTH 
Implementation 
Plan, page 65 

• Report Requirements Subsection A: 
Performance Overview: 
Accomplishments and Effectiveness in 
2023 – Average Length of Stay 

• Our Theory of Change 
  

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 78

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://gbc-word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?ui=en-US&rs=en-US&wopisrc=https%3A%2F%2Fkc1-my.sharepoint.com%2Fpersonal%2Fmwsweet_kingcounty_gov%2F_vti_bin%2Fwopi.ashx%2Ffiles%2Fa4908325abb146009527f9f33d31fe13&wdpid=521b7f6d&wdenableroaming=1&mscc=1&wdodb=1&hid=EE1A24A1-C0F7-5000-2C7C-E02FC91F14F9.0&uih=sharepointcom&wdlcid=en-US&jsapi=1&jsapiver=v2&corrid=e2d5a556-82dd-5aef-cc26-0627c88948e1&usid=e2d5a556-82dd-5aef-cc26-0627c88948e1&newsession=1&sftc=1&uihit=docaspx&muv=1&cac=1&sams=1&mtf=1&sfp=1&sdp=1&hch=1&hwfh=1&dchat=1&sc=%7B%22pmo%22%3A%22https%3A%2F%2Fkc1-my.sharepoint.com%22%2C%22pmshare%22%3Atrue%7D&ctp=LeastProtected&rct=Normal&wdorigin=Other&instantedit=1&wopicomplete=1&wdredirectionreason=Unified_SingleFlush#_ftn1


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 51 
 
 
    

 

Reporting Element Language Source See Section(s) of This Report See Also HTH 
Dashboard Tab(s)[1]  

• Percentage of residents who receive physical or behavioral 
healthcare supports or care while residing in a HTH unit; and 

HTH 
Implementation 
Plan, page 65 

• Report Requirements Subsection A: 
Performance Overview: 
Accomplishments and Effectiveness in 
2022 – HTH as a Direct and Indirect 
Driver of Health 

• Health Supports 

• Additional measures of improvements in health or well-being, 
as data are available 

HTH 
Implementation 
Plan, page 65 

• Report Requirements Subsection A: 
Performance Overview: 
Accomplishments and Effective in 2022 
– Health and Wellbeing Supports 

• Mobile Response Team 
• King County Metro 

Supports 
• Employment Navigation 
• Emergency Feeding 

Program 
Beginning in 2023, the HTH Advisory Committee will annually 
certify by June 15 that the online dashboard is updated with the 
previous year’s data and ready for review.  

HTH 
Implementation 
Plan, page 65 

• Report Requirements Subsection D: 
HTH Advisory Committee 
Establishment, Membership, and 
Certification of Dashboard 

• Advisory Committee 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 79

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://gbc-word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?ui=en-US&rs=en-US&wopisrc=https%3A%2F%2Fkc1-my.sharepoint.com%2Fpersonal%2Fmwsweet_kingcounty_gov%2F_vti_bin%2Fwopi.ashx%2Ffiles%2Fa4908325abb146009527f9f33d31fe13&wdpid=521b7f6d&wdenableroaming=1&mscc=1&wdodb=1&hid=EE1A24A1-C0F7-5000-2C7C-E02FC91F14F9.0&uih=sharepointcom&wdlcid=en-US&jsapi=1&jsapiver=v2&corrid=e2d5a556-82dd-5aef-cc26-0627c88948e1&usid=e2d5a556-82dd-5aef-cc26-0627c88948e1&newsession=1&sftc=1&uihit=docaspx&muv=1&cac=1&sams=1&mtf=1&sfp=1&sdp=1&hch=1&hwfh=1&dchat=1&sc=%7B%22pmo%22%3A%22https%3A%2F%2Fkc1-my.sharepoint.com%22%2C%22pmshare%22%3Atrue%7D&ctp=LeastProtected&rct=Normal&wdorigin=Other&instantedit=1&wopicomplete=1&wdredirectionreason=Unified_SingleFlush#_ftn1


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 52 
 
 
    

 

Reporting Element Language Source See Section(s) of This Report See Also HTH 
Dashboard Tab(s)[1]  

On behalf of the Committee, the Executive will electronically file 
the annual report and a motion that should acknowledge receipt 
of the report with the clerk of the council, who will retain an 
electronic copy and provide an electronic copy to all 
councilmembers, the council chief and members and alternates 
of the regional policy committee, or its successor. Passage of the 
motion acknowledging receipt of the report will satisfy HTH's 
annual reporting requirement. DCHS will be prepared upon 
invitation to present an overview of the annual report to the 
Council or one of its committees and to the Regional Policy 
Committee. 

HTH 
Implementation 
Plan, page 65 

N/A N/A 

 
 
[1] HTH Dashboard. [LINK] 
 
  

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 80

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx
https://gbc-word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?ui=en-US&rs=en-US&wopisrc=https%3A%2F%2Fkc1-my.sharepoint.com%2Fpersonal%2Fmwsweet_kingcounty_gov%2F_vti_bin%2Fwopi.ashx%2Ffiles%2Fa4908325abb146009527f9f33d31fe13&wdpid=521b7f6d&wdenableroaming=1&mscc=1&wdodb=1&hid=EE1A24A1-C0F7-5000-2C7C-E02FC91F14F9.0&uih=sharepointcom&wdlcid=en-US&jsapi=1&jsapiver=v2&corrid=e2d5a556-82dd-5aef-cc26-0627c88948e1&usid=e2d5a556-82dd-5aef-cc26-0627c88948e1&newsession=1&sftc=1&uihit=docaspx&muv=1&cac=1&sams=1&mtf=1&sfp=1&sdp=1&hch=1&hwfh=1&dchat=1&sc=%7B%22pmo%22%3A%22https%3A%2F%2Fkc1-my.sharepoint.com%22%2C%22pmshare%22%3Atrue%7D&ctp=LeastProtected&rct=Normal&wdorigin=Other&instantedit=1&wopicomplete=1&wdredirectionreason=Unified_SingleFlush#_ftn1
https://gbc-word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?ui=en-US&rs=en-US&wopisrc=https%3A%2F%2Fkc1-my.sharepoint.com%2Fpersonal%2Fmwsweet_kingcounty_gov%2F_vti_bin%2Fwopi.ashx%2Ffiles%2Fa4908325abb146009527f9f33d31fe13&wdpid=521b7f6d&wdenableroaming=1&mscc=1&wdodb=1&hid=EE1A24A1-C0F7-5000-2C7C-E02FC91F14F9.0&uih=sharepointcom&wdlcid=en-US&jsapi=1&jsapiver=v2&corrid=e2d5a556-82dd-5aef-cc26-0627c88948e1&usid=e2d5a556-82dd-5aef-cc26-0627c88948e1&newsession=1&sftc=1&uihit=docaspx&muv=1&cac=1&sams=1&mtf=1&sfp=1&sdp=1&hch=1&hwfh=1&dchat=1&sc=%7B%22pmo%22%3A%22https%3A%2F%2Fkc1-my.sharepoint.com%22%2C%22pmshare%22%3Atrue%7D&ctp=LeastProtected&rct=Normal&wdorigin=Other&instantedit=1&wopicomplete=1&wdredirectionreason=Unified_SingleFlush#_ftnref1
https://www.kingcounty.gov/hthdashboard


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 53 
 
 
    

 

Appendix B:  HTH Investments (Acquisitions and Operations-only Partnerships), Cumulative to Year End 2023 
Note: HTH’s Capitol Hill building entered escrow in 2022; the transaction was completed in 2023. 

Investment 
Type Service Provider Building Name 

Initial 
Housing 
Type 

Total 
Units 

Housing 
Units City KCC 

District 
Status as of April 
2023 

Acquisition Compass Housing 
Alliance Don’s Place EH 102 81 Auburn 7 Open and in lease-

up 

Acquisition Lavender Rights 
Project HTH Capitol Hill PSH 37 34 Seattle 2 Pre-occupancy 

Acquisition The Urban League HTH Federal Way PSH 101 86 Federal 
Way 7 Pre-occupancy 

Acquisition TBD HTH Kirkland EH 121 109 Kirkland 6 Service provider 
procurement  

Acquisition Salvation Army HTH Redmond EH 144 100 Redmond 6 Pre-occupancy 

Acquisition DESC Mary Pilgrim Inn EH 100 85 Seattle 4 Open and occupied 

Acquisition Chief Seattle Club Salmonberry Lofts in 
Honor of Peter Joe PSH 80 76 Seattle 8 Open and occupied 

Acquisition Catholic Community 
Services Sidney Wilson House PSH 110 107 Renton 5 Open and occupied 

Acquisition TBD The Argyle PSH 12 10 Seattle 8 Project scoping 

Acquisition Catholic Community 
Services The Bob G EH 80 80 Seattle 4 Pre-occupancy 

Acquisition DESC The Gateway in Honor of 
Tenaya Wright EH 131 113 Seattle 1 Open and occupied 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 81

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 

 
 
2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 
See also Health Through Housing Dashboard. 
Page | 54 
 
 
    

 

Investment 
Type Service Provider Building Name 

Initial 
Housing 
Type 

Total 
Units 

Housing 
Units City KCC 

District 
Status as of April 
2023 

Operations-
only Plymouth Housing Bertha Pitts Campbell 

Place PSH 100 100 Seattle 8 Open and occupied 

Operations-
only DESC Burbridge Place PSH 62 62 Seattle 4 Occupancy 

Operations-
only DESC Bloomside PSH 95 95 Burien 8 Pre-occupancy 

Operations-
only Chief Seattle Club Sacred Medicine House PSH 120 120 Seattle 1 Pre-occupancy 

Operations-
only DESC The North Star PSH 100 100 Seattle 4 Open and occupied 

    Total 1,495 1,358    

 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 82

https://kingcounty.gov/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx


 
 

Metropolitan King County Council 
Regional Policy Committee 

 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Agenda Item: 6 Name: Olivia Brey 

Proposed No.: 2024-0225 Date: January 8, 2025 
 
SUBJECT 
 
Proposed Motion 2024-0225 would acknowledge receipt of the 2023 Health Through 
Housing Annual Report, the second annual report for this initiative. 
 
SUMMARY 
 
In October 2020, Council passed Ordinance 19179, imposing the Health Through 
Housing (HtH) sales tax. The Council passed Ordinance 19236 in February 2021, 
requiring the development of an implementation plan with the paramount goal of the 
creation and ongoing operation of 1,600 units of affordable housing with housing-related 
services. In December 2021, Council adopted the Initial Health Through Housing 
Implementation Plan (Plan) to govern the expenditure of HtH proceeds from 2022 
through 2028 and requiring annual reporting to be transmitted on behalf of the HtH 
Advisory Committee. 
 
The Plan required the Advisory Committee to report annually to the Council on 
expenditures, accomplishments, and effectiveness of the HtH initiative through an 
online HtH dashboard. Code changes in Ordinance 19366 require the annual report to 
be transmitted to the Council, with a motion acknowledging receipt of the report. 
 
The Annual Report includes a summary of accomplishments, progress on HtH goals, 
financial information, information on the HtH Advisory Committee, and a conclusion and 
next actions. Highlighted metrics include serving 911 people; 138 new units opened to 
residents; 127 operations-only units were secured; and 85 percent of residents reported 
existing ties to the communities where their HtH site is located.  
 
Motion 2024-0225 and the attached report appear to comply with the requirements of 
Ordinance 19366. 
 
 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 83



BACKGROUND  
 
Health Through Housing Sales Tax 
 
House Bill 1590 and RCW 82.14.530. During the 2020 legislative session, the 
legislature passed House Bill 1590,1 which amended RCW 82.14.530. Previously, this 
housing sales tax was required to go to the ballot for authorization from voters before 
enactment, but House Bill 1590 provided the option for the tax to be councilmanic. In 
2021, the legislature amended the law again through Engrossed Substitute House Bill 
(ESHB) 1070, clarifying that acquiring units of new affordable housing is an eligible use 
of proceeds.2 
 
Counties were given until September 30, 2020, to impose the tax countywide. After that 
date, cities could impose the tax (either by ballot or councilmanic). According to the 
statute, if a county imposes the tax after one or more cities have already done so, the 
county must provide a credit to those cities for the full amount collected within each 
jurisdiction. 
 
State statute specifies the activities and services for which the tax may be used. Table 1 
below provides an overview of the statute’s spending requirements. 
 

Table 1. Overview of Spending Allocation Requirements 
Allocation Requirements 
At least 60 percent of 
proceeds 

1) Constructing or acquiring affordable housing – 
including new units within an existing structure and 
facilities providing housing-related services; 

2) Constructing or acquiring mental and behavioral 
health-related facilities; 

3) Funding operations and maintenance of new 
affordable housing and facilities where housing-
related programs are provided, or newly constructed 
evaluation and treatment centers 

Remaining funds Used for the operation, delivery, or evaluation of mental and 
behavioral health treatment programs and services or 
housing-related services 

 
Only the following population groups at or below 60 percent median income for King 
County may be provided affordable housing and facilities providing housing-related 
programs using housing sales tax revenue: 

1) Persons with behavioral health disabilities; 
2) Veterans; 
3) Senior citizens; 
4) Persons who are homeless or at-risk of being homeless, including families with 

children; 

 
1 1590 HBR APH 20.pdf (wa.gov) 
2 1070-S.E.pdf (wa.gov) 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 84

http://lawfilesext.leg.wa.gov/biennium/2019-20/Pdf/Bill%20Reports/House/1590%20HBR%20APH%2020.pdf?q=20200221125034
http://lawfilesext.leg.wa.gov/biennium/2021-22/Pdf/Bills/House%20Bills/1070-S.E.pdf


5) Unaccompanied homeless youth or young adults; 
6) Persons with disabilities; or 
7) Domestic violence survivors. 

 
Counties that impose the tax must consult with cities when siting facilities within their 
jurisdictional boundaries. Additionally, the county must spend at least 30 percent of 
revenue collected within any city with a population over 60,000 within that jurisdiction. At 
the time the ordinance was passed, the following cities had populations over 60,000: 
Seattle, Bellevue, Kent, Renton, Federal Way, Kirkland, Auburn, Redmond, and 
Sammamish.  
 
State statute allows the county to issue general obligation or revenue bonds and pledge 
up to 50 percent of the monies collected for bond repayment. Bonded revenue may 
finance provision or construction of affordable housing, facilities where housing-related 
programs are provided, or evaluation and treatment centers. 
 
The county is directed to provide an opportunity for at least 15 percent of units in each 
facility to be occupied by individuals who live in or near the city where the facility is 
located, or have other ties to the community, as long as there are enough individuals 
within the city that need services and meet the rest of the criteria. 
 
Ordinance 19179 and Ordinance 19180. On October 13th, 2020, the King County 
Council passed Ordinance 191793 imposing a sales and use tax of 1/10th of 1 percent 
for housing and related services, as authorized in RCW 82.14.530. Proceeds from the 
tax are deposited into the HtH fund, which was established through Ordinance 19180.4 
 
Ordinance 19179 directs that fund proceeds are required to be spent on the uses 
outlined in state statute, as described above, prioritizing those within the population 
groups in RCW 82.14.520(2)(b) and whose income does not exceed 30 percent of the 
King County area median income. Additionally, proceeds are required to be allocated 
with the objective of reducing racial and ethnic disproportionality among those 
experiencing chronic homelessness.  
 
The ordinance also provides the County with the authority to issue bonds and use up to 
50 percent of the monies collected for repayment of those bonds. 
 
Ordinance 19236. Adopted in February 2021, Ordinance 192365 outlined the content 
and development approach for the HtH Implementation Plan and defines how revenues 
are to be spent. Per Ordinance 19236, the Executive is required to develop the 
implementation plan in consultation with the Affordable Housing Committee and the 
Chief Executive Officer of the King County Regional Homelessness Authority and 
transmit the Plan to the King County Council, along with legislation to establish the HtH 
Advisory Committee, no later than June 30, 2021.  
 

 
3 King County - File #: 2020-0337 
4 King County - File #: 2020-0319 
5 King County - File #: 2020-0338 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 85

https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4652676&GUID=8A31F2EE-23AF-4BA3-9306-CD87CD8B40A0&Options=Advanced&Search=
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4648545&GUID=5375B2B2-FED6-43E4-9394-15E081218D29&Options=Advanced&Search=
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4652907&GUID=5E5E8D61-6B3B-46EC-937C-6FD39E8CB6F0&Options=Advanced&Search=


Ordinance 19236 required that the implementation plan include goals, strategies, 
performance measures, reporting requirements, a process for siting HtH-funded 
affordable housing and behavioral health facilities, and a detailed annual spending plan 
for the first eight years of the tax. The paramount goal required to be included in the 
implementation plan was the creation and ongoing operation of 1,600 units of affordable 
housing with housing-related services. Additional required goals to be included in the 
implementation plan were: 
 

• An annual reduction of racial and ethnic demographic disproportionality among 
persons experiencing chronic homelessness in King County; and  

• The creation and operation of a mobile behavioral health intervention program 
with access for its clients to be created, operated, or otherwise funded by 
proceeds. 

 
Ordinance 19236 required that legislation establishing the HtH Advisory Committee be 
transmitted with the implementation plan. The Committee would be tasked with 
providing advice to the Executive and Council and producing an annual report on the 
accomplishments and effectiveness of HtH sales tax expenditures. The Committee’s 
responsibilities were to be described in the implementation plan and the membership 
would be required to include representatives of the following demographics: 
 

• Individuals who have experienced homelessness; 
• Racial and ethnic communities that are demographically disproportionately 

represented among people experiencing chronic homelessness in King County; 
• Residents of cities with populations greater than sixty thousand; 
• Residents of the unincorporated areas of King County; and 
• Representatives from other county, city, and subregional boards, commissions, 

or committees pertaining to King County human services investments. 
 
2021 HtH Activities. In 2021, the County undertook HtH activities to design key aspects 
of the initiative and acquired HtH sites. King County acquired a total of 9 buildings in 
2021 across Seattle, Renton, Redmond, Auburn, and Federal Way. Additionally, the 
County established a memorandum of agreement with the City of Seattle to 
permanently add 350 operations-only units to the HtH portfolio. These units were 
created by capital sources other than HtH. Lastly, the County opened and moved 
residents into the Mary Pilgrim Inn, a 100-unit building in North Seattle.  
 
Initial Health Through Housing Implementation Plan. On December 7, 2021, the 
King County Council adopted Ordinance 193666, adopting the Initial Health Through 
Housing Implementation Plan (Plan), which governs the expenditure of HtH sales and 
use tax proceeds from 2022 through 2028. The ordinance also created the HtH 
Advisory Committee. 
 
The Plan established supporting goals to the paramount goal, which are: 
 

 
6 King County - File #: 2021-0330 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 86

https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=5121460&GUID=7DC46271-C6B3-4D90-B6DE-DEF37CD0A7D5&Options=Advanced&Search=


• Supporting Goal 1: Annually reduce racial and ethnic disproportionality among 
persons experiencing chronic homelessness in King County (required by K.C.C. 
24.30.030.A.17). 

• Supporting Goal 2: Create and operate a mobile behavioral health intervention 
program with access for its clients to housing created, operated, or otherwise 
funded by HtH proceeds (required by K.C.C. 24.30.030.A.58). 

• Supporting Goal 3: Increase HtH resident health by providing health care system 
enrollment and access on-demand to integrated healthcare for all HtH property 
residents while they reside in a HtH housing unit. 

• Supporting Goal 4: Convert (through rehabilitation or “rehab”) into permanent 
supportive housing by December 31, 2028, at least 50 percent of HtH units that 
enter the portfolio as emergency housing. 

• Supporting Goal 5: Increase the number of organizations who can operate 
emergency, supportive, or other affordable housing who also specialize in 
serving a demographically overrepresented population or community among King 
County’s chronically homeless population.  

• Supporting Goal 6: Establish and maintain an online, publicly reviewable 
“dashboard” depicting current and historical performance data and information 
about the HtH initiative.  

• Supporting Goal 7: Publish by December 31, 2026, an in-depth evaluation of the 
HtH initiative’s effectiveness.  

 
The Plan identified the following implementation strategies intended to accomplish the 
paramount and supporting goals, including: 

• Strategy 1: Capital Financing and Improvements for HtH Sites 
• Strategy 2: Emergency and Permanent Supportive Housing Operations 
• Strategy 3: Behavioral Health Services Outside of HtH Sites 
• Strategy 4: Capacity Building Collaborative 
• Strategy 5: Evaluation and Performance Measurement 
• Strategy 6: Future Acquisition of Additional Properties 

 
Further, the Plan defined an Annual Expenditure Plan, including revenues and 
expenditures allocated to each strategy.  
 
Annual Reporting Requirements. The Plan required the Advisory Committee to report 
annually no later than June 15th to the Council on expenditures, accomplishments, and 
effectiveness of the HtH initiative through an online HtH dashboard.9 
 
The dashboard is required to be updated by June 15 each year starting in 2023 and 
would include, at a minimum: 
 

• A list of HtH Advisory Committee members; 
 

7 K.C.C. 24.30.030.A.1 
8 K.C.C. 24.30.030.A.5 
9 Health Through Housing (HtH) Dashboard - King County, Washington 
 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 87

https://aqua.kingcounty.gov/council/clerk/code/33_Title_24.htm#_Toc65058358
https://aqua.kingcounty.gov/council/clerk/code/33_Title_24.htm#_Toc65058358
https://kingcounty.gov/en/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx#rooted


• A map of locations of sites constructed or acquired, and locations and numbers 
of housing units; 

• Demographic data of population residing in HtH-funded housing, including race 
and ethnicity; 

• The number of households receiving service through the mobile behavioral 
health intervention program; 

• The number of households who were living in or near the city in which the site is 
located; 

• HtH initiative financial information, including annual revenue, allocation of 
proceeds for housing and operations to jurisdictions with HtH sites, and actual 
expenditures of previous year’s proceeds among expenditure categories; and 

• Data on how HtH performs on various population-level and program performance 
measures. 

 
Further, code changes in Ordinance 19366 require the annual report to be transmitted 
to the Council, with a motion acknowledging receipt of the report. Ordinance 19366 also 
required reporting on the allocation of proceeds by jurisdiction. For additional 
information on the Plan, please reference the staff report for Ordinance 19366.10 
 
2022 Annual Report. Motion 1642911 was passed in October 2023 acknowledging the 
receipt of the first annual report after the Plan. During the 2022 reporting period, 803 
people experiencing homelessness were either temporarily or permanently housed in 
HtH units; 543 additional units opened; 158 additional units were purchased or were in 
escrow; and HtH’s permanent supportive housing buildings showed housing stability 
rates of 96 to 98 percent as of December 2022. 
 
Reallocation Letters. The Executive has transmitted three reallocation letters to 
increase funding for building acquisitions and capital improvements to continue to 
progress toward the HtH initiative’s 1,600-unit goal.  
 
In February 2022, the Executive reallocated $69.2 million from Strategy 1 Capital 
Financing and Improvements for HtH Sites to Strategy 6 Future Acquisition of Additional 
Properties. The stated rationale for this reallocation was to continue partnerships with 
cities to pursue site acquisitions.  
 
The November 2022 reallocation letter accounted for several changes of HtH’s annual 
expenditure plan for 2022 including: 

• Reducing funding in the Plan’s Strategy 6 Future Acquisition of Additional 
Facilities (-$10.3 million); 

• Reducing funding in Strategy 2 Emergency and Permanent Supportive Housing 
Operations (-$3.7 million); 

• Adding funding to Strategy 1 Capital Financing and Improvements for HtH Sites 
(+$11.9 million); and 

• Adding funding to bond financing costs (+$2.1 million). 
 

10 King County - File #: 2021-0330 
11 King County - File #: 2023-0217 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 88

https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=5121460&GUID=7DC46271-C6B3-4D90-B6DE-DEF37CD0A7D5&Options=Advanced&Search=&FullText=1
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=6262252&GUID=12B235F6-F229-411C-9293-B498A6821F87&Options=Advanced&Search=


 
The Executive stated that the reasons for these reallocations were a decrease in the 
need for 2022 acquisition funding and operational funding and an increase in renovation 
costs for the Bob G site and bond financing costs. 
 
The letter from November 2023 reallocated $4.9 million from Strategy 2 Emergency and 
Permanent Supportive Housing Operations and Strategy 5 Evaluation and Performance 
measurement to be used for bond financing costs. The Executive noted that this 
reallocation is necessary due to higher interest rates for capital rehabilitation costs that 
were larger and sooner than initially anticipated. There were also adjustments to the 
HtH fund that were made in the 2023-2024 biennial budget, Ordinance 1954612 
including: 

• Debt service reserve contributions were changed in alignment with County 
standard practices. The debt service reserve contributions were increased in 
2023 by $10.2 million and decreased by $0.6 million in 2024. 

• Three new County FTEs were added to DCHS staff, which increased the 
administration category by $0.3 million in both 2023 and 2024. The staff will 
coordinate community outreach and program referrals, lead, and track 
compliance with Implementation Plan requirements, and support administrative 
and clerical duties.  

• Funding for Strategy 3 Behavioral Health Services Outside of HtH Sites was 
reduced by $2.4 million in 2023 and $2.6 million in 2024 to be consistent with 
King County Code which allocates at least nine percent and no more than 13 
percent of proceeds to behavior health treatment programs and services that are 
not at HtH sites.13 

 
ANALYSIS 
 
Proposed Motion 2024-0225 and the attached 2023 Health Through Housing Annual 
Report (Report) appears to meet the requirements of Ordinance 19366 to report on the 
expenditures, accomplishments, and effectiveness of the HtH initiative. Note that the 
report was transmitted on July 11, 2024, after the annual reporting deadline of June 
15th. More detailed information and infographics can be found on the online HtH 
Dashboard, maintained by DCHS.14  
 
The content of the Report includes the following sections: 
 

1. Executive Summary 
2. Background 
3. Report Requirements 
4. Conclusion/Next Actions 
5. Appendix A: Reporting Elements Table and HtH Dashboard Guide 

 
12 King County - File #: 2022-0374 
13 K.C.C. 24.30.030.A.9 
14 Health Through Housing (HtH) Dashboard - King County, Washington 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 89

https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=5853313&GUID=F6192C85-2562-418F-8276-C64CEFB14DEF&Options=Advanced&Search=
https://kingcounty.gov/en/legacy/council/legislation/kc_code/33_Title_24.aspx
https://kingcounty.gov/en/legacy/depts/community-human-services/initiatives/health-through-housing/dashboard.aspx#rooted


6. Appendix B: HtH Investments (Acquisitions and Operations-only Partnerships), 
Cumulative to Year End 2023 

 
This staff report will focus on sections 3 and 4. 
 
As a reminder, the paramount goal of the HtH initiative, as established by Ordinance 
19236, is the creation and ongoing operation of 1,600 units of affordable housing with 
housing-related services for eligible households in King County that are experiencing 
chronic homelessness or that are at risk of experiencing chronic homelessness. 
 
Section 3 - Report Requirements. Ordinance 19366 requires the Executive to file the 
annual report and accompanying motion on behalf of the HtH Advisory Committee. The 
transmittal letter indicates that the Report and the online dashboard have been certified 
by the HtH Advisory Committee.  
 
Performance Overview: Accomplishments and Effectiveness in 2023. The Report states 
that 2023 activities were focused on rehabilitating and opening buildings, bringing 
people inside, and connecting residents with support. The following highlights were 
featured: 

• Served 911 people, a net increase of 108 residents compared to 2022; 
• Contracted with Lavender Rights Project and Chief Seattle Club for operations of 

HtH Capitol Hill; 
• 138 units opened including 62 at Burbridge Place and 76 at Salmonberry Lofts in 

Honor of Peter Joe; 
• Secured 32 additional operations-only units at Sacred Medicine House in North 

Seattle (88 units were secured in 2022), resulting in all 120 units at this location 
being HtH-funded; 

• Invested in 95 operations-only units at DESC’s Bloomside building in Burien, 
expected to open in 2024; 

• Housed 396 residents in permanent supportive housing (PSH) sites and 519 
individuals in emergency housing (EH) sites; 

• Placed 480 individuals in HtH PSH or other permanent housing – prior to HtH’s 
intervention, 466 of these individuals were chronically homeless; 

• 91 percent of HtH residents in PSH maintained their housing or moved to another 
permanent destination; 

• Enhanced health care services available at HtH sites, with an increase of eight 
percent more residents accessing physical health care and 19 percent more 
residents accessing behavioral health care services compared to 2022; 

• Expanded DESC’s 24/7 Mobile Response Teams across six HtH buildings; and 
• Brought the total number of housing units secured since inception to 1,358. 

 
At the end of 2023, HtH’s portfolio included a total of 1,358 housing units, with 724 units 
currently open and 634 units in progress. This is a net increase of 55 units from 2022. 
Table 2 summarizes the progress towards the HtH initiative’s paramount goal of 
creating and operating 1,600 units of affordable housing with housing-related services. 
All units added are operations-only housing units (Sacred Medicine House in North 
Seattle and Bloomside in Burien). The units that were reduced or taken offline were due 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 90



to compliance with municipal code, ADA, or state requirements, or for creating clinical 
office space.  
 

Table 2. Progress Towards the Paramount Goal 
Status Housing Units 
Units at the beginning of 2023 1,303 
Units added 127 
Units reduced from plans or taken offline (72) 
Units at the end of 2023 1,358 

 
In 2023, HtH expanded access to the Mobile Response Team (MRT) by adding four 
sites to the existing three sites. Subsequently, the Bob G. site closed in June and 
residents were moved into other facilities. As a result, by the end of 2023, the MRT 
operated at six sites. Two more sites were being added at the end of 2023 and it is 
expected that all sites and service providers within the HtH network will have access to 
the MRT program by the end of 2024. During the reporting period, 39 percent of 
residents received physical care (eight percent more than the previous year) and 51 
percent of residents accessed behavioral health care serves (19 percent more than the 
previous year).  
 
Additional support was made available to residents including streamlining health 
insurance enrollment though partner health providers and on-site case management 
services and establishing subregional and culturally specific partnerships for medical 
care. HtH programming also includes access to mobility supports through partnerships 
with King County Metro, culturally responsive food distribution, and employment 
resources.  
 
Regarding HtH’s primary supporting goal of annually reducing the racial-ethnic 
disproportionality among persons experiencing chronic homelessness, the Report 
states that intentional community engagement and strategic partnerships with 
organizations focused on serving historically marginalized communities is a key strategy 
for addressing racial disparities in homelessness in King County. Table 3 provides an 
overview of the race/ethnicity of HtH residents, chronically homeless individuals in King 
County, and the overall King County population in 2022 and 2023. Black, American 
Indian, Alaska Native, or Indigenous, multiracial, and Native Hawaiian or Pacific 
Islander individuals continue to be overrepresented among those experiencing 
homelessness compared to King County’s overall demographics. In 2023, there was a 
decrease in the percent of Hispanic/Latin(a)(o)(x) individuals that are HtH residents or in 
King County experiencing chronic homelessness, though it is unclear whether this 
change is due to a meaningful impact on this race/ethnicity or an increase in other 
race/ethnicities that changed the distribution. 
  

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 91



Table 3. Race/Ethnicity of HtH Residents, Chronically Homeless People, and the 
Overall Population in King County 

 

Race/Ethnicity HtH Residents 

People in King 
County 

experiencing 
chronic 

homelessness 

King County 
population 

 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 
American Indian, 
Alaska Native, or 
Indigenous 

3% 10% 5% 6% 1% <1% 

Asian or Asian 
America 3% 3% 2% 2% 18% 19% 

Black, African 
American, or African 27% 25% 26% 25% 6% 6% 

Hispanic/Latin(a)(o)(x) 9% 4% 10% 3% 8% 7% 

Multiracial 5% 11% 7% 16% 7% 9% 

Native Hawaiian or 
Pacific Islander 2% 1% 2% 2% 1% 1% 

Unknown/unreported 6% 5% 3% 1% N/A N/A 

White 45% 42% 45% 45% 58% 56% 
 
HtH continues to partner with organizations like Chief Seattle Club, the Urban League, 
and Lavender Rights Project to enable culturally appropriate services. In 2023, HtH 
provided training opportunities and implemented new strategies for operational flexibility 
for HtH service providers. Additional trainings with individualized technical assistance, 
peer-to-peer learning between organizations, and a capacity development plan will be 
implemented throughout 2024. 
 
Site Locations and Other Geographic Information. HtH includes 16 sites, including 11 
acquired buildings and five operations-only buildings. Map 1 shows the location of each 
HtH building by housing type.  
  

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 92



Map 1. HtH Site Locations 
 

 
 
According to the Report, HtH is consistent with the requirement in RCW 82.14.530 that 
the county provide an opportunity for at least 15 percent of units in each facility to be 
occupied by individuals who live in or near the city where the facility is located or have 
other ties to the community. In 2023, 85 percent of residents reported existing ties to the 
communities where their HtH site is located, an increase from 48 percent last year.  
 
Financial Information. In 2023, HtH revenue totaled $160.3 million, including $70.3 
million in tax revenue collections, which was $2.4 million higher than in 2022. The 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 93



Implementation Plan anticipated issuing a $60 million bond around 2024 to convert EH 
within HtH sites into PSH locations. The bond was issued in December 2023, but 
proceeds aren’t expected to be spent until 2024 and 2025. Table 4 shows the 2023 
revenues compared to the estimates from the Implementation Plan.  
 

Table 4. 2023 HtH Revenue (in millions) 
 

 
Projected in IP 

Actual 2023 
Revenues 
(rounded) 

Change between 
IP and Actual 

2023  
Tax Revenue $65.8 $70.3 6.8% 
Annual Interest $0.1 $4.3 4200.0% 
Annual Bond Proceeds $0.0 $85.6 N/A 
Commercial Rent $0.0 $0.1 N/A 
Total Revenue $65.9 $160.3 143.2% 
 
HtH spent $62.0 million in 2023, which was approximately $8.1 million less than in the 
previous year. The Report states that this is primarily due to a strategic shift in 2023 
from property acquisitions, which require one-time investments, to smaller, operational 
expenses.  
 
Table 5 identifies 2023 expenditures by strategy compared to the estimates identified in 
the Implementation Plan. According to Executive staff, the multi-year expenditure plan 
for HtH has been adjusted multiple times since the Implementation Plan was passed in 
2021, as documented in Reallocation Letters from the Executive. Additionally, the 
Implementation Plan permits the Executive to keep underexpended proceeds within the 
same strategy for use in a subsequent year.  
 
Spending on Strategies 1, 2, and 6 were due to evolving acquisition and rehabilitation 
needs and timelines, which impacts when buildings open to residents. Additionally, the 
acceleration of substantive rehabilitation work (originally planned to start in 2024) in 
order to reduce future disruption to residents’ housing also impacted spending.  
 
Strategy 2 expenditures were lower than initially projected due to later initiation of 
programs requiring operations funding, for both acquired and operations only HTH sites.  
 
Spending on HtH’s smaller and complementary strategies 3, 4, 5, and administration 
have been adjusted to match updated behavioral health fund conditions, capacity 
building program implementation timelines, and revised staffing needs based on the 
initiative’s initial years of operations. 
  

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 94



Table 5. 2023 HtH Expenditures by Strategy (in millions) 
 

Strategy 
Projected 

Expenditure in 
IP 

Actual 2023 
Expenditures 

(rounded) 

Change 
between IP 
and Actual 

2023 
Strategy 1 
Capital Financing and 
Improvements for HtH Sites 

$1.0 $6.5 550.0% 

Strategy 2 
Emergency and Permanent 
Supportive Housing Operations 

$40.9 $18.5 (54.8%) 

Strategy 3 
Behavioral Health Services 
Outside HtH Sites 

$8.5 $6.3 (25.9%) 

Strategy 4 
Capacity Building Collaborative $0.4 $0.3 (25.0%) 

Strategy 5 
Evaluation and Performance 
Measurement 

$0.6 $0.2 (66.7%) 

Strategy 6 
Future Acquisition of Additional 
Facilities 

$0.0 $11.0 N/A 

Initiative Administration $2.0 $1.9 (5.0%) 
Bond Financing Cost $16.7 $17.3 3.6% 
TOTAL EXPENDITURES $70.3 $62.0 (11.8%) 

 
Table 6 shows a summary of 2023 expenditures by jurisdiction. Additional details, 
including costs from acquisition, building rehabilitation, facility maintenance, program 
operations, and bond financing is shown in Figure 15 of Attachment A. Note that the 
following cities passed legislation in 2020 to keep the tax revenue generated under 
RCW 82.14.530: Bellevue, Covington, Issaquah, Kent, Maple Valley, North Bend, 
Renton, and Snoqualmie.  Further note that RCW 82.14.530 requires that King County 
spend at least 30 percent of revenue collected from cities with populations greater than 
60,000 within that jurisdiction. 
 

Table 6. Allocation of Expenditures by Jurisdiction (in millions) 
 

HtH Host Jurisdiction 2023 
Expenditures 

Auburn $5.64 
Federal Way $1.98 
Kirkland $2.69 
Redmond $2.81 
Renton $4.94 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 95



Seattle $35.32 
Other expenditures that cannot be 
readily allocated to specific 
jurisdictions. 

$8.64 

Total $62.01 
 
The cost per-unit for each HtH site varies significantly due to the site development 
process and circumstances of each acquisition. The average per-unit costs for capital 
were $273,021 and average per-unit costs for operations were $20,759. 
 
HtH Advisory Committee Establishment, Membership, and Certification of Dashboard. 
The HtH Advisory Committee was formed in 2023 and includes 14 King County 
residents. Sean Healy is the Committee Chair, Avon Curtis is the Co-Chair, and other 
members include Elizabeth Archambault, Lena Bernal, Brook Buettner, Tulika Dugar, 
Isadora Eads, Febben Fekadu, Marissa Fitzgerald, Sara Lidstrom, Krystal Marx, Sarah 
Steward, Da’mont Vann, and Barbara Walker. The Report and the HtH Dashboard were 
certified by the HtH Advisory Committee on May 16, 2024.  
 
Section 4 - Conclusion/Next Actions. The Report states that 2023 was focused on 
moving residents into units, integrating healthcare and other supportive services into the 
HtH sites, and building capacity of service providers. The enhancements to healthcare 
offerings and other wellness supports were highlighted as the reason that an increase in 
residents accessing physical and behavioral health care was observed. HtH will 
continue to work towards achieving the paramount goal of securing 1,600 units of 
supportive housing.  
 
INVITED 
 

• Kelly Rider, Director, Department of Community and Human Services 
• Sunaree Marshall, Acting Division Director, Housing and Community 

Development Division 
• Shanna Clinton, Health Through Housing Systems, Services, and Quality 

Manager 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Proposed Motion 2024-0225 
a. 2023 Health Through Housing Annual Report 

2. Transmittal Letter 
 
 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 96



 

KING COUNTY 
 

Signature Report 
 

1200 King County Courthouse 
516 Third Avenue 
Seattle, WA 98104 

 Motion    
   

 
Proposed No. 2024-0378.1 Sponsors Perry 

 

1 
 

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of 1 

Richard Anderson, who resides in council district three, to 2 

the King County landmarks commission, representing a 3 

professional historian. 4 

 BE IT MOVED by the Council of King County: 5 

 The county executive's appointment of Richard Anderson, who resides in council 6 

district three, to the King County landmarks commission, representing a professional 7 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 97



Motion   

 
 

2 
 

 8 

historian, for the remainder of a three-year term to expire on June 1, 2027, is hereby 9 

confirmed. 10 

 
  
 
   

 

 
KING COUNTY COUNCIL 
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON 

  

 ________________________________________ 

 Girmay Zahilay, Chair 
ATTEST:  

________________________________________  

Melani Hay, Clerk of the Council  
  

 
  

  

  

  

Attachments: None 
 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 98



 
 

Metropolitan King County Council 
Committee of the Whole 

 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Agenda Item: 5, 6, and 7 Name: Gene Paul 

Proposed No.: 
2024-0378 
2024-0379 
2024-0380 

Date: January 28, 2025 

 
SUBJECT 
 
Motions confirming the appointments of Richard Anderson, Cecelia Gunn, and Laura 
Murphy to the King County Landmarks Commission.  
 
SUMMARY 
 
Proposed Motion 2024-0378 would confirm the Executive's appointment of Richard 
Anderson to the King County Landmarks Commission, as a professional from the field 
of history, for a partial term expiring on June 1, 2027. Mr. Anderson resides in Council 
District 3 and is the Executive Director of the Northwest Railway Museum.  
 
Proposed Motion 2024-0379 would confirm the Executive's appointment of Cecelia 
Gunn to the King County Landmarks Commission, as a representative from local 
heritage organizations, for a partial term expiring on June 1, 2026. Ms. Gunn resides in 
Council District 5 and is a Principal with the consulting firm EnviroIssues. 
 
Proposed Motion 2024-0380 would confirm the Executive's appointment of Laura 
Murphy to the King County Landmarks Commission, as a professional from the field of 
archeology, for a partial term expiring on June 1, 2027. Ms. Murphy resides in Council 
District 9 and is an archaeologist for the Muckleshoot Indian Tribe.  
 
BACKGROUND  
 
In 1980, King County established the Landmarks Commission to ensure preservation of 
the region's historic places, material culture, and traditions for future generations. 
 
The nine-member commission is comprised of volunteers with broad expertise in areas 
such as architecture, art, land use, historic preservation, archaeology, education, and 
history. No more than four members may reside within any one municipal jurisdiction. 
Commissioners are appointed to three-year terms. 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 99



 
Commissioners are responsible for the designation and regulation of landmark 
properties, representation of suburban cities with interlocal agreements with King 
County, and advice to the Executive and Council on King County landmarks issues. The 
Landmarks Commission promotes and protects historically significant sites by providing 
technical assistance to owners of historic buildings, community organizations and local 
public agencies. Additional responsibilities include oversight of cultural facilities, 
educational programs, special projects, and sustained support programs that provide 
grants to landmarks organizations and individual specialists. Funding for landmark 
programs is available from the Cultural Development Fund. 
 
APPOINTEE INFORMATION 
 
Appointee Richard Anderson. Mr. Anderson is the Executive Director of the 
Northwest Railway Museum in Snoqualmie, WA. Part of the mission of the Northwest 
Railway Museum is "to operate a nationally significant museum and heritage railway" 
where the public experiences "exhibits and educational programs that confront the 
impactful and challenging history of railways."1 According to his application materials, 
the Railway Museum that Mr. Anderson manages includes properties on the King 
County and the City of Snoqualmie Landmarks Registers and two properties listed on 
the National Register of Historic Places. He also has 30 years of experience working 
with the Secretary of Interior's Standards for Treatment of Historic Properties and has 
expressed a passion for the preservation of the built environment.  
 
Appointee Cecelia Gunn. Ms. Gunn is a Principal with the consulting firm  
EnviroIssues in Seattle. According to her application materials, Ms. Gunn has a Masters 
in Urban Planning with a Historic Preservation Certification from the University of 
Washington. She has nearly 15 years of experience working in community engagement 
for public projects across the region and has expressed not only a recognition of the 
importance of historic preservation but how it supports other aspects of regional 
planning including economic and community development.  
 
Appointee Laura Murphy. Ms. Murphy is an Archaeologist for the Muckleshoot Indian 
Tribe. According to her application materials, she has served in this role since 2003 and 
supports the Muckleshoot Tribe's Preservation Program by working to identify and 
protect cultural resources before and during construction projects both on and off the 
Reservation.2 While she is not a member of the Muckleshoot Tribe, Ms. Murphy 
expressed a belief that her years of employment with the Tribe and her interest in pre-
contact local history could be useful for having a well-rounded Landmarks Commission.    
 

 
1 "About Our Commitment to History and the Future," Northwest Railway Museum [Link] 
2 "Preservation," Muckleshoot Indian Tribe Tribal Departments [Link] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 100

https://trainmuseum.org/about/
https://www.muckleshoot.nsn.us/depts/preservation


ANALYSIS 
 
Staff has not identified any issues with the proposed appointments. They appear to be 
consistent with the requirements for King County Landmarks Commission appointments.   
 
INVITED 
 

• Richard Anderson, Appointee to the Landmarks Commission  
• Cecelia Gunn, Appointee to the Landmarks Commission  
• Laura Murphy, Appointee to the Landmarks Commission  
• Sarah Steen, Landmarks Coordinator, Staff Liaison to the Landmarks 

Commission 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Proposed Motion 2024-0378 
2. Transmittal Letter 
3. Proposed Motion 2024-0379 
4. Transmittal Letter 
5. Proposed Motion 2024-0380 
6. Transmittal Letter 

 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 101



 

KING COUNTY 
 

Signature Report 
 

1200 King County Courthouse 
516 Third Avenue 
Seattle, WA 98104 

 Motion    
   

 
Proposed No. 2024-0379.1 Sponsors Upthegrove 

 

1 
 

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of 1 

Cecelia Gunn, who resides in council district five, to the 2 

King County landmarks commission, a representative from 3 

local heritage organizations. 4 

 BE IT MOVED by the Council of King County: 5 

 The county executive's appointment of Cecelia Gunn, who resides in council 6 

district five, to the King County landmarks commission, a representative from local 7 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 102



Motion   

 
 

2 
 

heritage organizations, for a partial term to expire on June 1, 2026, is hereby confirmed. 8 

 
  
 
   

 

 
KING COUNTY COUNCIL 
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON 

  

 ________________________________________ 

 Girmay Zahilay, Chair 
ATTEST:  

________________________________________  

Melani Hay, Clerk of the Council  
  

 
  

  

  

  

Attachments: None 
 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 103



 
 

Metropolitan King County Council 
Committee of the Whole 

 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Agenda Item: 5, 6, and 7 Name: Gene Paul 

Proposed No.: 
2024-0378 
2024-0379 
2024-0380 

Date: January 28, 2025 

 
SUBJECT 
 
Motions confirming the appointments of Richard Anderson, Cecelia Gunn, and Laura 
Murphy to the King County Landmarks Commission.  
 
SUMMARY 
 
Proposed Motion 2024-0378 would confirm the Executive's appointment of Richard 
Anderson to the King County Landmarks Commission, as a professional from the field 
of history, for a partial term expiring on June 1, 2027. Mr. Anderson resides in Council 
District 3 and is the Executive Director of the Northwest Railway Museum.  
 
Proposed Motion 2024-0379 would confirm the Executive's appointment of Cecelia 
Gunn to the King County Landmarks Commission, as a representative from local 
heritage organizations, for a partial term expiring on June 1, 2026. Ms. Gunn resides in 
Council District 5 and is a Principal with the consulting firm EnviroIssues. 
 
Proposed Motion 2024-0380 would confirm the Executive's appointment of Laura 
Murphy to the King County Landmarks Commission, as a professional from the field of 
archeology, for a partial term expiring on June 1, 2027. Ms. Murphy resides in Council 
District 9 and is an archaeologist for the Muckleshoot Indian Tribe.  
 
BACKGROUND  
 
In 1980, King County established the Landmarks Commission to ensure preservation of 
the region's historic places, material culture, and traditions for future generations. 
 
The nine-member commission is comprised of volunteers with broad expertise in areas 
such as architecture, art, land use, historic preservation, archaeology, education, and 
history. No more than four members may reside within any one municipal jurisdiction. 
Commissioners are appointed to three-year terms. 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 104



 
Commissioners are responsible for the designation and regulation of landmark 
properties, representation of suburban cities with interlocal agreements with King 
County, and advice to the Executive and Council on King County landmarks issues. The 
Landmarks Commission promotes and protects historically significant sites by providing 
technical assistance to owners of historic buildings, community organizations and local 
public agencies. Additional responsibilities include oversight of cultural facilities, 
educational programs, special projects, and sustained support programs that provide 
grants to landmarks organizations and individual specialists. Funding for landmark 
programs is available from the Cultural Development Fund. 
 
APPOINTEE INFORMATION 
 
Appointee Richard Anderson. Mr. Anderson is the Executive Director of the 
Northwest Railway Museum in Snoqualmie, WA. Part of the mission of the Northwest 
Railway Museum is "to operate a nationally significant museum and heritage railway" 
where the public experiences "exhibits and educational programs that confront the 
impactful and challenging history of railways."1 According to his application materials, 
the Railway Museum that Mr. Anderson manages includes properties on the King 
County and the City of Snoqualmie Landmarks Registers and two properties listed on 
the National Register of Historic Places. He also has 30 years of experience working 
with the Secretary of Interior's Standards for Treatment of Historic Properties and has 
expressed a passion for the preservation of the built environment.  
 
Appointee Cecelia Gunn. Ms. Gunn is a Principal with the consulting firm  
EnviroIssues in Seattle. According to her application materials, Ms. Gunn has a Masters 
in Urban Planning with a Historic Preservation Certification from the University of 
Washington. She has nearly 15 years of experience working in community engagement 
for public projects across the region and has expressed not only a recognition of the 
importance of historic preservation but how it supports other aspects of regional 
planning including economic and community development.  
 
Appointee Laura Murphy. Ms. Murphy is an Archaeologist for the Muckleshoot Indian 
Tribe. According to her application materials, she has served in this role since 2003 and 
supports the Muckleshoot Tribe's Preservation Program by working to identify and 
protect cultural resources before and during construction projects both on and off the 
Reservation.2 While she is not a member of the Muckleshoot Tribe, Ms. Murphy 
expressed a belief that her years of employment with the Tribe and her interest in pre-
contact local history could be useful for having a well-rounded Landmarks Commission.    
 

 
1 "About Our Commitment to History and the Future," Northwest Railway Museum [Link] 
2 "Preservation," Muckleshoot Indian Tribe Tribal Departments [Link] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 105

https://trainmuseum.org/about/
https://www.muckleshoot.nsn.us/depts/preservation


ANALYSIS 
 
Staff has not identified any issues with the proposed appointments. They appear to be 
consistent with the requirements for King County Landmarks Commission appointments.   
 
INVITED 
 

• Richard Anderson, Appointee to the Landmarks Commission  
• Cecelia Gunn, Appointee to the Landmarks Commission  
• Laura Murphy, Appointee to the Landmarks Commission  
• Sarah Steen, Landmarks Coordinator, Staff Liaison to the Landmarks 

Commission 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Proposed Motion 2024-0378 
2. Transmittal Letter 
3. Proposed Motion 2024-0379 
4. Transmittal Letter 
5. Proposed Motion 2024-0380 
6. Transmittal Letter 

 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 106



 

KING COUNTY 
 

Signature Report 
 

1200 King County Courthouse 
516 Third Avenue 
Seattle, WA 98104 

 Motion    
   

 
Proposed No. 2024-0380.1 Sponsors Dunn 

 

1 
 

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of 1 

Laura Murphy, who resides in council district nine, to the 2 

King County landmarks commission, representing a 3 

professional archaeologist. 4 

 BE IT MOVED by the Council of King County: 5 

 The county executive's appointment of Laura Murphy, who resides in council 6 

district nine, to the King County landmarks commission, representing a professional 7 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 107



Motion   

 
 

2 
 

 8 

archaeologist, for the remainder of a three-year term to expire on June 1, 2027, is hereby 9 

confirmed. 10 

 
  
 
   

 

 
KING COUNTY COUNCIL 
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON 

  

 ________________________________________ 

 Girmay Zahilay, Chair 
ATTEST:  

________________________________________  

Melani Hay, Clerk of the Council  
  

 
  

  

  

  

Attachments: None 
 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 108



 
 

Metropolitan King County Council 
Committee of the Whole 

 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Agenda Item: 5, 6, and 7 Name: Gene Paul 

Proposed No.: 
2024-0378 
2024-0379 
2024-0380 

Date: January 28, 2025 

 
SUBJECT 
 
Motions confirming the appointments of Richard Anderson, Cecelia Gunn, and Laura 
Murphy to the King County Landmarks Commission.  
 
SUMMARY 
 
Proposed Motion 2024-0378 would confirm the Executive's appointment of Richard 
Anderson to the King County Landmarks Commission, as a professional from the field 
of history, for a partial term expiring on June 1, 2027. Mr. Anderson resides in Council 
District 3 and is the Executive Director of the Northwest Railway Museum.  
 
Proposed Motion 2024-0379 would confirm the Executive's appointment of Cecelia 
Gunn to the King County Landmarks Commission, as a representative from local 
heritage organizations, for a partial term expiring on June 1, 2026. Ms. Gunn resides in 
Council District 5 and is a Principal with the consulting firm EnviroIssues. 
 
Proposed Motion 2024-0380 would confirm the Executive's appointment of Laura 
Murphy to the King County Landmarks Commission, as a professional from the field of 
archeology, for a partial term expiring on June 1, 2027. Ms. Murphy resides in Council 
District 9 and is an archaeologist for the Muckleshoot Indian Tribe.  
 
BACKGROUND  
 
In 1980, King County established the Landmarks Commission to ensure preservation of 
the region's historic places, material culture, and traditions for future generations. 
 
The nine-member commission is comprised of volunteers with broad expertise in areas 
such as architecture, art, land use, historic preservation, archaeology, education, and 
history. No more than four members may reside within any one municipal jurisdiction. 
Commissioners are appointed to three-year terms. 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 109



 
Commissioners are responsible for the designation and regulation of landmark 
properties, representation of suburban cities with interlocal agreements with King 
County, and advice to the Executive and Council on King County landmarks issues. The 
Landmarks Commission promotes and protects historically significant sites by providing 
technical assistance to owners of historic buildings, community organizations and local 
public agencies. Additional responsibilities include oversight of cultural facilities, 
educational programs, special projects, and sustained support programs that provide 
grants to landmarks organizations and individual specialists. Funding for landmark 
programs is available from the Cultural Development Fund. 
 
APPOINTEE INFORMATION 
 
Appointee Richard Anderson. Mr. Anderson is the Executive Director of the 
Northwest Railway Museum in Snoqualmie, WA. Part of the mission of the Northwest 
Railway Museum is "to operate a nationally significant museum and heritage railway" 
where the public experiences "exhibits and educational programs that confront the 
impactful and challenging history of railways."1 According to his application materials, 
the Railway Museum that Mr. Anderson manages includes properties on the King 
County and the City of Snoqualmie Landmarks Registers and two properties listed on 
the National Register of Historic Places. He also has 30 years of experience working 
with the Secretary of Interior's Standards for Treatment of Historic Properties and has 
expressed a passion for the preservation of the built environment.  
 
Appointee Cecelia Gunn. Ms. Gunn is a Principal with the consulting firm  
EnviroIssues in Seattle. According to her application materials, Ms. Gunn has a Masters 
in Urban Planning with a Historic Preservation Certification from the University of 
Washington. She has nearly 15 years of experience working in community engagement 
for public projects across the region and has expressed not only a recognition of the 
importance of historic preservation but how it supports other aspects of regional 
planning including economic and community development.  
 
Appointee Laura Murphy. Ms. Murphy is an Archaeologist for the Muckleshoot Indian 
Tribe. According to her application materials, she has served in this role since 2003 and 
supports the Muckleshoot Tribe's Preservation Program by working to identify and 
protect cultural resources before and during construction projects both on and off the 
Reservation.2 While she is not a member of the Muckleshoot Tribe, Ms. Murphy 
expressed a belief that her years of employment with the Tribe and her interest in pre-
contact local history could be useful for having a well-rounded Landmarks Commission.    
 

 
1 "About Our Commitment to History and the Future," Northwest Railway Museum [Link] 
2 "Preservation," Muckleshoot Indian Tribe Tribal Departments [Link] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 110

https://trainmuseum.org/about/
https://www.muckleshoot.nsn.us/depts/preservation


ANALYSIS 
 
Staff has not identified any issues with the proposed appointments. They appear to be 
consistent with the requirements for King County Landmarks Commission appointments.   
 
INVITED 
 

• Richard Anderson, Appointee to the Landmarks Commission  
• Cecelia Gunn, Appointee to the Landmarks Commission  
• Laura Murphy, Appointee to the Landmarks Commission  
• Sarah Steen, Landmarks Coordinator, Staff Liaison to the Landmarks 

Commission 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Proposed Motion 2024-0378 
2. Transmittal Letter 
3. Proposed Motion 2024-0379 
4. Transmittal Letter 
5. Proposed Motion 2024-0380 
6. Transmittal Letter 

 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 111



 

KING COUNTY 
 

Signature Report 
 

1200 King County Courthouse 
516 Third Avenue 
Seattle, WA 98104 

 Motion    
   

 
Proposed No. 2024-0388.1 Sponsors Perry 

 

1 
 

A MOTION confirming the appointment of Bethany 1 

Fackrell to the King County cultural development authority 2 

(4Culture) board. 3 

 WHEREAS, in accordance with the charter for the King County cultural 4 

development authority (4Culture), councilmember Sarah Perry, representing council 5 

district three, notified Bethany Fackrell by a November 4, 2024, letter of the appointment 6 

to the 4Culture board of directors; 7 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT MOVED by the Council of King County: 8 

 The King County district three appointment of Bethany Fackrell to Board Position 9 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 112



Motion   

 
 

2 
 

three of the King County cultural development authority (4Culture) board, for a three-10 

year term, to expire on December 31, 2027, is hereby confirmed. 11 

 
  
 
   

 

 
KING COUNTY COUNCIL 
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON 

  

 ________________________________________ 

 Girmay Zahilay, Chair 
ATTEST:  

________________________________________  

Melani Hay, Clerk of the Council  
  

 
  

  

  

  

Attachments: None 
 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 113



 
 

Metropolitan King County Council 
Committee of the Whole 

 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Agenda Item: 8 Name: Gene Paul 

Proposed No.: 2024-0388 Date: January 28, 2025 
 
SUBJECT 
 
A motion confirming Bethany Fackrell to the 4Culture Board of Directors. 
 
SUMMARY 
 
Proposed Motion 2024-0388 would confirm the appointment of Bethany Fackrell as the 
District Three appointment to the 4Culture Board Position 3 for the remainder of the 
three-year term expiring on December 31, 2027. This is Ms. Fackrell's first appointment 
to the 4Culture Board. She is an artist, a member of the Snoqualmie Tribe, and a 
founding member and co-owner of Canoe Culture Connections LLC.   
 
Council staff analysis has determined that the appointment meets the board member 
criteria established in the 4Culture Charter. In addition, the appointment was nominated 
and appointed consistent with the process established in the 4Culture Charter and 
Bylaws. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
4Culture.  4Culture, King County’s Cultural Public Development Authority (PDA), was 
established in 2002 to administer King County’s arts and heritage programs. 4Culture 
replaced the functions of the County's former Office of Cultural Resources in order to 
exercise the powers vested in PDAs under state law and realize operating efficiencies 
through operating independently of county government.1 4Culture is currently supported 
by 37.5 percent of the proceeds from the King County lodging (hotel/motel) tax and the 
cultural access sales tax, which supports the Doors Open Program. 
 
4Culture’s name was derived from its four original cultural programs. A fifth cultural 
program was added through the Doors Open Program in 2024, but 4Culture retained its 
name. The cultural programs include: 

 
1 Ordinance 14482, enacted October 1, 2002. [LINK] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 114

https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=550809&GUID=FD7DA768-2A54-4592-BBD8-9834E01E0256&FullText=1


• Arts.  4Culture provides capital and operating grant funding for individual artists, 
groups, and community organizations. 

• Heritage.  4Culture provides capital and operating grant funding for 
organizations focused on building the historical record, preserving and enhancing 
the character of the region, and sharing local heritage resources. 

• Preservation.  4Culture provides project, capital, and operating support to aid in 
the historic preservation of buildings, neighborhoods, and landscapes. The 
organization also provides support for heritage tourism for King County 
communities. 

• Public Art.  4Culture manages the County’s 1% for Art program and manages 
arts installations throughout the county for new capital construction projects. 

• Science and Technology.  This fifth cultural area was added through the Doors 
Open Program. 4Culture provides capital and operating support to eligible 
organizations that have an explicit focus on science or technology.  

 
4Culture Board.  Per 4Culture Charter2 and Bylaws3, 4Culture is governed by a fifteen-
member Board of Directors. Directors are to have a demonstrated commitment to and 
knowledge of cultural resources, be active and experienced in community and civic 
issues and concerns and have the ability to evaluate the needs of cultural 
constituencies in the region as a whole.  
 
Directors are to represent a range of talents, experience, backgrounds, and viewpoints 
and to be sought from a range of: professional artists; arts administrators; architects; 
landscape architects; administrators, professionals and specialists in heritage and 
historic preservation; administrators, professionals and specialists in cultural education; 
urban planners and designers; attorneys; community arts and heritage activists; 
business professionals; and the community at large. Directors must be residents of King 
County and are to be chosen to reflect the geographic and cultural diversity of the 
County.4 
 
In March 20185 and again in December 20196, the appointment process for the 
4Culture Board changed to the following: 

• Position 1 is to be appointed by the County Councilmember of Council District 1; 

• Position 2 is to be appointed by the County Councilmember of Council District 2; 

• Position 3 is to be appointed by the County Councilmember of Council District 3; 

• Position 4 is to be appointed by the County Councilmember of Council District 4; 

 
2 Ordinance 19036, enacted December 19, 2019, Attachment A. [LINK] 
3 Ordinance 19036, enacted December 19, 2019, Attachment B. [LINK] 
4 Ordinance 19036, enacted December 19, 2019, Attachment A, Section 5.2.B. [LINK] 
5 Ordinance 18684, enacted March 21, 2018. [LINK] 
6 Ordinance 19036, enacted December 19, 2019. [LINK] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 115

https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4162446&GUID=FCB5DB6D-3961-4435-A76E-61B841963EBE&FullText=1
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4162446&GUID=FCB5DB6D-3961-4435-A76E-61B841963EBE&FullText=1
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4162446&GUID=FCB5DB6D-3961-4435-A76E-61B841963EBE&FullText=1
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=3319706&GUID=8D2AFBDE-47C1-4006-A08D-9E6D257B7A1D&FullText=1
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4162446&GUID=FCB5DB6D-3961-4435-A76E-61B841963EBE&FullText=1


• Position 5 is to be appointed by the County Councilmember of Council District 5; 

• Position 6 is to be appointed by the County Councilmember of Council District 6; 

• Position 7 is to be appointed by the County Councilmember of Council District 7; 

• Position 8 is to be appointed by the County Councilmember of Council District 8; 

• Position 9 is to be appointed by the County Councilmember of Council District 9; 
and 

• Positions 10, 11, 12, 13, 14 and 15 are to be appointed by the County 
Executive.7 

 
Appointments are subject to confirmation by the Council by motion.8 Board members 
may begin serving as voting members upon confirmation by the Council.9 Board 
members serve for terms of three years and may serve up to two consecutive full terms, 
where a partial term of two years or more shall be deemed one full term.10 Board 
members are allowed to continue to serve in the position for which the term has expired 
and a successor has not been duly appointed and confirmed by the Council.11 
 
In addition to the fifteen board members, 4Culture has five ex-officio board members 
which include one member of the Executive staff, three County Councilmembers, and 
the 4Culture Executive Director.12 
 
Doors Open Program.  In December 2023, the Council established the King County 
Doors Open Program to support cultural organizations. Doors Open is funded through a 
one-tenth of one percent (0.1%) sales and use tax imposed by the County for seven 
years beginning in April 2024 and ending in March 2031.13 The total revenues collected 
for the program are forecasted to be approximately $716 million for all seven years 
(approximately $100 million per year on average).  
 
Under the Doors Open Program, the 4Culture Board is responsible for advising, 
monitoring, and providing oversight of the program for achieving the general public, 
equity inclusion, and geographic inclusion public benefits associated with the program. 
Under the implementation plan, the 4Culture Board is responsible for the final review 
and approval of all grant awards.14 The ordinance does not establish any additional 
advisory body for the Doors Open Program, however, the 4Culture Board may create 
one or more committees to advise on issues relevant to the program.15 
 

 
7 Ordinance 19036, enacted December 19, 2019, Attachment A, Section 5.2.D. [LINK] 
8 Ordinance 19036, enacted December 19, 2019, Attachment A, Section 5.2.E. [LINK] 
9 Ordinance 19036, enacted December 19, 2019, Attachment B, Section 1.4. [LINK] 
10 Ordinance 19036, enacted December 19, 2019, Attachment A, Section 5.3. [LINK] 
11 Ordinance 19036, enacted December 19, 2019, Attachment B, Section 1.5. [LINK] 
12 Ordinance 19036, enacted December 19, 2019, Attachment A, Section 5.8. [LINK] 
13 Ordinance 19710, enacted December 18, 2023. [LINK] 
14 File No. 2024-0236 [LINK] 
15 Ordinance 19710, enacted December 18, 2023, Section 4.B.5. [LINK] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 116

https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4162446&GUID=FCB5DB6D-3961-4435-A76E-61B841963EBE&FullText=1
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4162446&GUID=FCB5DB6D-3961-4435-A76E-61B841963EBE&FullText=1
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4162446&GUID=FCB5DB6D-3961-4435-A76E-61B841963EBE&FullText=1
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4162446&GUID=FCB5DB6D-3961-4435-A76E-61B841963EBE&FullText=1
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4162446&GUID=FCB5DB6D-3961-4435-A76E-61B841963EBE&FullText=1
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=4162446&GUID=FCB5DB6D-3961-4435-A76E-61B841963EBE&FullText=1
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=6362399&GUID=64E53459-40A9-4740-9F6B-6F276A6F0FE4&Options=Advanced&Search=&FullText=1
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=6806312&GUID=02995114-2932-48A7-AE63-0511B22FD3D8&Options=Advanced&Search=
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=6362399&GUID=64E53459-40A9-4740-9F6B-6F276A6F0FE4&Options=Advanced&Search=&FullText=1


APPOINTEE INFORMATION 
 
Bethany Fackrell is an independent artist who was a founding member and current co-
owner of Canoe Culture Connections LLC. According to her application materials, Ms. 
Fackrell is a veteran of the United States Navy and an active member of the 
Snoqualmie Tribe. She has devoted hundreds of hours of service to her community in 
activities ranging from public art and cultural restoration to salmon and plant restoration. 
Ms. Fackrell's enthusiasm for her culture is displayed in her murals, logos, and artwork 
that use traditional Salish patterns in a contemporary way. These murals and artwork 
have frequently been collaborations with local organizations and governmental agencies 
like the Mountains to Sound Greenway Trust, the Snoqualmie Tribe, King County 
Housing Association, and the City of North Bend. Ms. Fackrell also has six years of 
experience as a commissioner with the Snoqualmie Gaming Commission, which 
performs regulatory oversight and compliance monitoring for the Snoqualmie Casino.16 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Proposed Motion 2024-0388 would confirm the appointment of Bethany Fackrell as the 
District Three appointment to the 4Culture Board Position 3 for the remainder of the 
three-year term expiring on December 31, 2027. This is Ms. Fackrell's first appointment 
to the 4Culture Board.  
 
Council staff analysis has determined that the appointment meets the board member 
criteria established in the 4Culture Charter. In addition, the appointment was nominated 
and appointed consistent with the process established in the 4Culture Charter and 
Bylaws. 
 
INVITED  
 

• Bethany Fackrell, District 3 Appointee to the 4Culture Board 
• Claire Miccio, Government and Community Relations Manager, 4Culture 

 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Proposed Motion 2024-0388 
2. Bethany Fackrell appointment letter 
3. Bethany Fackrell resume (distributed separately) 

 
16 Snoqualmie Gaming Commission [LINK] 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 117

https://snoqualmietribe.us/snoqualmie-gaming-commission/


 

KING COUNTY 
 

Signature Report 
 

1200 King County Courthouse 
516 Third Avenue 
Seattle, WA 98104 

 Motion    
   

 
Proposed No. 2024-0413.1 Sponsors Balducci 

 

1 
 

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of 1 

Claire Sumadiwirya, who resides in council district six, to 2 

the King County immigrant and refugee commission. 3 

 BE IT MOVED by the Council of King County: 4 

 The county executive's appointment of Claire Sumadiwirya, who resides in 5 

council district six, to the King County immigrant and refugee commission, for a three-6 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 118



Motion   

 
 

2 
 

year term to expire on September 30, 2027, is hereby confirmed. 7 

 
  
 
   

 

 
KING COUNTY COUNCIL 
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON 

  

 ________________________________________ 

 Girmay Zahilay, Chair 
ATTEST:  

________________________________________  

Melani Hay, Clerk of the Council  
  

 
  

  

  

  

Attachments: None 
 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 119



 
 

Metropolitan King County Council 
Committee of the Whole 

 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Agenda Items: 9, 10, and 11 Name: Melissa Bailey  

Proposed No.: 2024-0413, 2024-0414, and 
2024-0415 Date: January 28, 2025 

 
SUBJECT 
 
Proposed Motions to confirm the Executive’s appointment of the following persons to 
the King County Immigrant and Refugee Commission:  

• Claire Sumadiwirya, who resides in Council District Six, to a three-year term to 
expire September 30, 2027 (Proposed Motion 2024-0413);  

• Maharshi Roy, who resides in Council District One, to a partial term to expire 
September 30, 2026 (Proposed Motion 2024-0414); and  

• Meron Girma, who residents in Council District Four, to a three-year term to 
expire September 30, 2027 (Proposed Motion 2024-0415).  

 
BACKGROUND 
 
In 2018, the King County Immigrant and Refugee Commission (Commission) was 
established by Ordinance 18653 (codified as King County chapter 2.78) to act as the 
focal point for connecting a broad group of stakeholders to identify, elevate, and develop 
shared strategies and solutions, streamline and strengthen efforts, and bring more 
resources to the most pressing issues affecting immigrant and refugee communities. The 
Commission also focuses on understanding and addressing challenges faced by 
immigrant and refugee communities living in suburban cities and unincorporated areas 
of the county. A non-exhaustive list of the Commission’s duties is provided in K.C.C. 
2.78.020. 
 
The Commission is comprised of thirteen members and has the following membership 
requirements1: 
 

• A diversity of members reflecting a range of ethnicities, professional 
backgrounds, socioeconomic status, and places of origin to reflect the diversity of 
the county's immigrant and refugee communities; 

• All members must be residents of King County; 

 
1 K.C.C. 2.78.030 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 120



• All members shall demonstrate active and engaged civic participation in one or 
more immigrant and refugee communities and be well versed on the issues 
affecting those communities; 

• Membership shall reflect gender diversity; 
• At least six members shall be from suburban cities or unincorporated areas; 
• At least three members shall have had personal experiences as a refugee or 

asylee from any location worldwide; 
• Membership shall represent a range of age groups, including persons 

representing youth issues; 
• At least five members shall represent and be appointed by an immigrant-led 

organization serving immigrant communities and of these representatives at least 
three members shall represent and be appointed by a small grass-roots 
community-based organization that has an annual budget of less than two-
hundred fifty thousand dollars, that supports the needs of distinct immigrant and 
refugee communities and is composed predominantly of members of those 
communities; 

• At least one member should have familiarity with King County government, 
systems, and agencies; and 

• Persons representing faith-based organizations are encouraged to apply. 
 
Additionally, the Commission may include four nonvoting members who shall be 
community leaders actively engaged with local government, business, or philanthropic 
organizations, and add value to the Commission and raise its visibility and capacity 
through their expertise, relationships, and networks. 
 
Per county code, appointments to the Commission are subject to Council confirmation. 
Approval of the proposed motions would fulfill this requirement. 
 
APPOINTEE INFORMATION 
 
Appointee Sumadiwirya. Proposed Motion 2024-0413 would confirm the appointment 
of Claire Sumadiwirya, who resides in Council District Six, for a three-year term to expire 
on September 30, 2027. She would serve on the Commission as an individual.   
 
According to her application materials, Appointee Sumadiwirya is a community leader 
and the owner of the Bellden Café in Bellevue. Through her work she serves "over 30 
nonprofit community partners across various social causes, including homelessness, 
refugees, immigrants, survivors of human trafficking, BIPOC youth, climate justice, and 
equity education opportunities." Languages spoken by the groups she supports include 
Chinese, Ukrainian, Russian, Japanese, Korean, and Spanish. When asked about the 
most pressing issues facing immigrants and refugees, she discussed challenges with 
meeting basic needs (such as housing, healthcare, and food security, including 
culturally sensitive foods), employment and economic opportunities, equitable access to 
quality education, and legal resources.   
 
Appointee Sumadiwirya has experience serving on boards and commissions. Her 
application notes that she currently serves as a board member for the Bellevue 
Downtown Association, Visit Bellevue, Overlake Medical Center, Porchlight, and the 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 121



Bellevue Schools Foundation. It also states that she is very familiar with King County 
government and serves on the King County Open Space Equity Cabinet.  
 
Appointee Roy. Proposed Motion 2024-0414 would confirm the appointment of Maharshi 
(Maha) Roy, who resides in Council District One, for a partial term to expire on 
September 30, 2026. They would serve on the Commission as an individual.  
 
According to their application materials, Appointee Roy came to King County as a 
teenager after surviving the Kashmir genocide. In addition to their personal experience, 
Appointee Roy notes that they are "active with the Afghani, Middle Eastern, South Asian, 
Hispanic, Sudanese, and Cham immigrant, asylum seekers, and refugee communities." 
They state that the most pressing issues facing immigrant and refugee communities are 
healthcare, education, and housing. Appointee Roy has experience advocating in the 
United Nations, the U.S. Congress, the Washington State Legislature, and corporations. 
They state that they are "interested in working closely with the King County governing 
body to advocate for immigrants' justice and resources." 
 
Appointee Girma. Proposed Motion 2024-0415 would confirm the appointment of 
Meron Girma, who resides in Council District Four, for a three-year term to expire 
September 30, 2027. She would serve on the Commission as an individual.  
 
According to her application materials, Appointee Girma has dedicated much of her time 
to supporting refugees – from "facilitating malnutrition education programs in refugee 
camps in Ghana to assisting African students seeking refuge in Ukraine and organizing 
response initiatives for the ongoing refugee crisis in Seattle, Washington." In her 
application materials, she notes that she has served as an organizer working directly 
with African refugees in King County. She states that the biggest grievance she has 
heard when working with this community is meeting basic needs such as housing, 
funding/employment, culturally appropriate food, and access to education and language 
courses. Appointee Girma also has experience serving as a board member. She 
currently serves on the board of the Africa Now Association, a nonprofit that educates 
and organizes among the global African community.   
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Staff has not identified any issues with the proposed appointments. They appear to be 
consistent with the requirements in the County Code.  
 
INVITED  
 

• Claire Sumadiwirya, Appointee, Immigrant and Refugee Commission 
• Maharshi Roy, Appointee, Immigrant and Refugee Commission 
• Meron Girma, Appointee, Immigrant and Refugee Commission 
• Dae Shogren, KCC, Staff Liaison, Immigrant and Refugee Commission  
• Cheryse Ishii, OERSJ, Staff Liaison, Immigrant and Refugee Commission  

 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 122



ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Proposed Motion 2024-0413 
2. Transmittal Letter 
3. Proposed Motion 2024-0414 
4. Transmittal Letter 
5. Proposed Motion 2024-0415 
6. Transmittal Letter 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 123



 

KING COUNTY 
 

Signature Report 
 

1200 King County Courthouse 
516 Third Avenue 
Seattle, WA 98104 

 Motion    
   

 
Proposed No. 2024-0414.1 Sponsors Dembowski 

 

1 
 

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of 1 

Maharshi Roy, who resides in council district one, to the 2 

King County immigrant and refugee commission. 3 

 BE IT MOVED by the Council of King County: 4 

 The county executive's appointment of Maharshi Roy, who resides in council 5 

district one, to the King County immigrant and refugee commission, for a partial term to 6 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 124



Motion   

 
 

2 
 

expire on September 30, 2026, is hereby confirmed. 7 

 
  
 
   

 

 
KING COUNTY COUNCIL 
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON 

  

 ________________________________________ 

 Girmay Zahilay, Chair 
ATTEST:  

________________________________________  

Melani Hay, Clerk of the Council  
  

 
  

  

  

  

Attachments: None 
 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 125



 
 

Metropolitan King County Council 
Committee of the Whole 

 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Agenda Items: 9, 10, and 11 Name: Melissa Bailey  

Proposed No.: 2024-0413, 2024-0414, and 
2024-0415 Date: January 28, 2025 

 
SUBJECT 
 
Proposed Motions to confirm the Executive’s appointment of the following persons to 
the King County Immigrant and Refugee Commission:  

• Claire Sumadiwirya, who resides in Council District Six, to a three-year term to 
expire September 30, 2027 (Proposed Motion 2024-0413);  

• Maharshi Roy, who resides in Council District One, to a partial term to expire 
September 30, 2026 (Proposed Motion 2024-0414); and  

• Meron Girma, who residents in Council District Four, to a three-year term to 
expire September 30, 2027 (Proposed Motion 2024-0415).  

 
BACKGROUND 
 
In 2018, the King County Immigrant and Refugee Commission (Commission) was 
established by Ordinance 18653 (codified as King County chapter 2.78) to act as the 
focal point for connecting a broad group of stakeholders to identify, elevate, and develop 
shared strategies and solutions, streamline and strengthen efforts, and bring more 
resources to the most pressing issues affecting immigrant and refugee communities. The 
Commission also focuses on understanding and addressing challenges faced by 
immigrant and refugee communities living in suburban cities and unincorporated areas 
of the county. A non-exhaustive list of the Commission’s duties is provided in K.C.C. 
2.78.020. 
 
The Commission is comprised of thirteen members and has the following membership 
requirements1: 
 

• A diversity of members reflecting a range of ethnicities, professional 
backgrounds, socioeconomic status, and places of origin to reflect the diversity of 
the county's immigrant and refugee communities; 

• All members must be residents of King County; 

 
1 K.C.C. 2.78.030 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 126



• All members shall demonstrate active and engaged civic participation in one or 
more immigrant and refugee communities and be well versed on the issues 
affecting those communities; 

• Membership shall reflect gender diversity; 
• At least six members shall be from suburban cities or unincorporated areas; 
• At least three members shall have had personal experiences as a refugee or 

asylee from any location worldwide; 
• Membership shall represent a range of age groups, including persons 

representing youth issues; 
• At least five members shall represent and be appointed by an immigrant-led 

organization serving immigrant communities and of these representatives at least 
three members shall represent and be appointed by a small grass-roots 
community-based organization that has an annual budget of less than two-
hundred fifty thousand dollars, that supports the needs of distinct immigrant and 
refugee communities and is composed predominantly of members of those 
communities; 

• At least one member should have familiarity with King County government, 
systems, and agencies; and 

• Persons representing faith-based organizations are encouraged to apply. 
 
Additionally, the Commission may include four nonvoting members who shall be 
community leaders actively engaged with local government, business, or philanthropic 
organizations, and add value to the Commission and raise its visibility and capacity 
through their expertise, relationships, and networks. 
 
Per county code, appointments to the Commission are subject to Council confirmation. 
Approval of the proposed motions would fulfill this requirement. 
 
APPOINTEE INFORMATION 
 
Appointee Sumadiwirya. Proposed Motion 2024-0413 would confirm the appointment 
of Claire Sumadiwirya, who resides in Council District Six, for a three-year term to expire 
on September 30, 2027. She would serve on the Commission as an individual.   
 
According to her application materials, Appointee Sumadiwirya is a community leader 
and the owner of the Bellden Café in Bellevue. Through her work she serves "over 30 
nonprofit community partners across various social causes, including homelessness, 
refugees, immigrants, survivors of human trafficking, BIPOC youth, climate justice, and 
equity education opportunities." Languages spoken by the groups she supports include 
Chinese, Ukrainian, Russian, Japanese, Korean, and Spanish. When asked about the 
most pressing issues facing immigrants and refugees, she discussed challenges with 
meeting basic needs (such as housing, healthcare, and food security, including 
culturally sensitive foods), employment and economic opportunities, equitable access to 
quality education, and legal resources.   
 
Appointee Sumadiwirya has experience serving on boards and commissions. Her 
application notes that she currently serves as a board member for the Bellevue 
Downtown Association, Visit Bellevue, Overlake Medical Center, Porchlight, and the 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 127



Bellevue Schools Foundation. It also states that she is very familiar with King County 
government and serves on the King County Open Space Equity Cabinet.  
 
Appointee Roy. Proposed Motion 2024-0414 would confirm the appointment of Maharshi 
(Maha) Roy, who resides in Council District One, for a partial term to expire on 
September 30, 2026. They would serve on the Commission as an individual.  
 
According to their application materials, Appointee Roy came to King County as a 
teenager after surviving the Kashmir genocide. In addition to their personal experience, 
Appointee Roy notes that they are "active with the Afghani, Middle Eastern, South Asian, 
Hispanic, Sudanese, and Cham immigrant, asylum seekers, and refugee communities." 
They state that the most pressing issues facing immigrant and refugee communities are 
healthcare, education, and housing. Appointee Roy has experience advocating in the 
United Nations, the U.S. Congress, the Washington State Legislature, and corporations. 
They state that they are "interested in working closely with the King County governing 
body to advocate for immigrants' justice and resources." 
 
Appointee Girma. Proposed Motion 2024-0415 would confirm the appointment of 
Meron Girma, who resides in Council District Four, for a three-year term to expire 
September 30, 2027. She would serve on the Commission as an individual.  
 
According to her application materials, Appointee Girma has dedicated much of her time 
to supporting refugees – from "facilitating malnutrition education programs in refugee 
camps in Ghana to assisting African students seeking refuge in Ukraine and organizing 
response initiatives for the ongoing refugee crisis in Seattle, Washington." In her 
application materials, she notes that she has served as an organizer working directly 
with African refugees in King County. She states that the biggest grievance she has 
heard when working with this community is meeting basic needs such as housing, 
funding/employment, culturally appropriate food, and access to education and language 
courses. Appointee Girma also has experience serving as a board member. She 
currently serves on the board of the Africa Now Association, a nonprofit that educates 
and organizes among the global African community.   
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Staff has not identified any issues with the proposed appointments. They appear to be 
consistent with the requirements in the County Code.  
 
INVITED  
 

• Claire Sumadiwirya, Appointee, Immigrant and Refugee Commission 
• Maharshi Roy, Appointee, Immigrant and Refugee Commission 
• Meron Girma, Appointee, Immigrant and Refugee Commission 
• Dae Shogren, KCC, Staff Liaison, Immigrant and Refugee Commission  
• Cheryse Ishii, OERSJ, Staff Liaison, Immigrant and Refugee Commission  

 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 128



ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Proposed Motion 2024-0413 
2. Transmittal Letter 
3. Proposed Motion 2024-0414 
4. Transmittal Letter 
5. Proposed Motion 2024-0415 
6. Transmittal Letter 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 129



 

KING COUNTY 
 

Signature Report 
 

1200 King County Courthouse 
516 Third Avenue 
Seattle, WA 98104 

 Motion    
   

 
Proposed No. 2024-0415.1 Sponsors Barón 

 

1 
 

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of 1 

Meron Girma, who resides in council district four, to the 2 

King County immigrant and refugee commission. 3 

 BE IT MOVED by the Council of King County: 4 

 The county executive's appointment of Meron Girma, who resides in council 5 

district four, to the King County immigrant and refugee commission, for a three-year 6 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 130



Motion   

 
 

2 
 

term to expire on September 30, 2027, is hereby confirmed. 7 

 
  
 
   

 

 
KING COUNTY COUNCIL 
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON 

  

 ________________________________________ 

 Girmay Zahilay, Chair 
ATTEST:  

________________________________________  

Melani Hay, Clerk of the Council  
  

 
  

  

  

  

Attachments: None 
 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 131



Metropolitan King County Council 
Committee of the Whole 

STAFF REPORT 

Agenda Items: 9, 10, and 11 Name: Melissa Bailey 

Proposed No.: 2024-0413, 2024-0414, and 
2024-0415 Date: January 28, 2025 

SUBJECT 

Proposed Motions to confirm the Executive’s appointment of the following persons to 
the King County Immigrant and Refugee Commission:  

• Claire Sumadiwirya, who resides in Council District Six, to a three-year term to
expire September 30, 2027 (Proposed Motion 2024-0413);

• Maharshi Roy, who resides in Council District One, to a partial term to expire
September 30, 2026 (Proposed Motion 2024-0414); and

• Meron Girma, who residents in Council District Four, to a three-year term to
expire September 30, 2027 (Proposed Motion 2024-0415).

BACKGROUND 

In 2018, the King County Immigrant and Refugee Commission (Commission) was 
established by Ordinance 18653 (codified as King County chapter 2.78) to act as the 
focal point for connecting a broad group of stakeholders to identify, elevate, and develop 
shared strategies and solutions, streamline and strengthen efforts, and bring more 
resources to the most pressing issues affecting immigrant and refugee communities. The 
Commission also focuses on understanding and addressing challenges faced by 
immigrant and refugee communities living in suburban cities and unincorporated areas 
of the county. A non-exhaustive list of the Commission’s duties is provided in K.C.C. 
2.78.020. 

The Commission is comprised of thirteen members and has the following membership 
requirements1: 

• A diversity of members reflecting a range of ethnicities, professional
backgrounds, socioeconomic status, and places of origin to reflect the diversity of
the county's immigrant and refugee communities;

• All members must be residents of King County;

1 K.C.C. 2.78.030 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL February 11, 2025 132



• All members shall demonstrate active and engaged civic participation in one or 
more immigrant and refugee communities and be well versed on the issues 
affecting those communities; 

• Membership shall reflect gender diversity; 
• At least six members shall be from suburban cities or unincorporated areas; 
• At least three members shall have had personal experiences as a refugee or 

asylee from any location worldwide; 
• Membership shall represent a range of age groups, including persons 

representing youth issues; 
• At least five members shall represent and be appointed by an immigrant-led 

organization serving immigrant communities and of these representatives at least 
three members shall represent and be appointed by a small grass-roots 
community-based organization that has an annual budget of less than two-
hundred fifty thousand dollars, that supports the needs of distinct immigrant and 
refugee communities and is composed predominantly of members of those 
communities; 

• At least one member should have familiarity with King County government, 
systems, and agencies; and 

• Persons representing faith-based organizations are encouraged to apply. 
 
Additionally, the Commission may include four nonvoting members who shall be 
community leaders actively engaged with local government, business, or philanthropic 
organizations, and add value to the Commission and raise its visibility and capacity 
through their expertise, relationships, and networks. 
 
Per county code, appointments to the Commission are subject to Council confirmation. 
Approval of the proposed motions would fulfill this requirement. 
 
APPOINTEE INFORMATION 
 
Appointee Sumadiwirya. Proposed Motion 2024-0413 would confirm the appointment 
of Claire Sumadiwirya, who resides in Council District Six, for a three-year term to expire 
on September 30, 2027. She would serve on the Commission as an individual.   
 
According to her application materials, Appointee Sumadiwirya is a community leader 
and the owner of the Bellden Café in Bellevue. Through her work she serves "over 30 
nonprofit community partners across various social causes, including homelessness, 
refugees, immigrants, survivors of human trafficking, BIPOC youth, climate justice, and 
equity education opportunities." Languages spoken by the groups she supports include 
Chinese, Ukrainian, Russian, Japanese, Korean, and Spanish. When asked about the 
most pressing issues facing immigrants and refugees, she discussed challenges with 
meeting basic needs (such as housing, healthcare, and food security, including 
culturally sensitive foods), employment and economic opportunities, equitable access to 
quality education, and legal resources.   
 
Appointee Sumadiwirya has experience serving on boards and commissions. Her 
application notes that she currently serves as a board member for the Bellevue 
Downtown Association, Visit Bellevue, Overlake Medical Center, Porchlight, and the 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 133



Bellevue Schools Foundation. It also states that she is very familiar with King County 
government and serves on the King County Open Space Equity Cabinet.  
 
Appointee Roy. Proposed Motion 2024-0414 would confirm the appointment of Maharshi 
(Maha) Roy, who resides in Council District One, for a partial term to expire on 
September 30, 2026. They would serve on the Commission as an individual.  
 
According to their application materials, Appointee Roy came to King County as a 
teenager after surviving the Kashmir genocide. In addition to their personal experience, 
Appointee Roy notes that they are "active with the Afghani, Middle Eastern, South Asian, 
Hispanic, Sudanese, and Cham immigrant, asylum seekers, and refugee communities." 
They state that the most pressing issues facing immigrant and refugee communities are 
healthcare, education, and housing. Appointee Roy has experience advocating in the 
United Nations, the U.S. Congress, the Washington State Legislature, and corporations. 
They state that they are "interested in working closely with the King County governing 
body to advocate for immigrants' justice and resources." 
 
Appointee Girma. Proposed Motion 2024-0415 would confirm the appointment of 
Meron Girma, who resides in Council District Four, for a three-year term to expire 
September 30, 2027. She would serve on the Commission as an individual.  
 
According to her application materials, Appointee Girma has dedicated much of her time 
to supporting refugees – from "facilitating malnutrition education programs in refugee 
camps in Ghana to assisting African students seeking refuge in Ukraine and organizing 
response initiatives for the ongoing refugee crisis in Seattle, Washington." In her 
application materials, she notes that she has served as an organizer working directly 
with African refugees in King County. She states that the biggest grievance she has 
heard when working with this community is meeting basic needs such as housing, 
funding/employment, culturally appropriate food, and access to education and language 
courses. Appointee Girma also has experience serving as a board member. She 
currently serves on the board of the Africa Now Association, a nonprofit that educates 
and organizes among the global African community.   
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Staff has not identified any issues with the proposed appointments. They appear to be 
consistent with the requirements in the County Code.  
 
INVITED  
 

• Claire Sumadiwirya, Appointee, Immigrant and Refugee Commission 
• Maharshi Roy, Appointee, Immigrant and Refugee Commission 
• Meron Girma, Appointee, Immigrant and Refugee Commission 
• Dae Shogren, KCC, Staff Liaison, Immigrant and Refugee Commission  
• Cheryse Ishii, OERSJ, Staff Liaison, Immigrant and Refugee Commission  

 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 134



ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Proposed Motion 2024-0413 
2. Transmittal Letter 
3. Proposed Motion 2024-0414 
4. Transmittal Letter 
5. Proposed Motion 2024-0415 
6. Transmittal Letter 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 135



 

KING COUNTY 
 

Signature Report 
 

1200 King County Courthouse 
516 Third Avenue 
Seattle, WA 98104 

 Motion    
   

 
Proposed No. 2025-0051.1 Sponsors Zahilay 

 

1 
 

A MOTION appointing committees to write the voters' 1 

pamphlet statements for the April 22, 2025, special election 2 

regarding Ordinance 19884 providing for the submission to 3 

the qualified electors of King County, at a special election 4 

on April 22, 2025, a proposition to reauthorize an expired 5 

regular property tax levy in excess of the levy limitation 6 

contained in chapter 84.55 RCW, for a consecutive seven 7 

year period beginning in 2026 at the rate of not more than 8 

$0.0275 per one thousand dollars of assessed valuation, 9 

with the 2026 levy amount being the base for computing 10 

maximum allowable levy amounts under chapter 84.55 11 

RCW for years two through seven (2027-2032), for the 12 

purpose of funding the continued operation of the regional 13 

automated fingerprint identification system, also known as 14 

AFIS, which maintains expanded crime scene and arrest 15 

identification technology and services for all local criminal 16 

justice agencies in King County. 17 

 WHEREAS, K.C.C. chapter 1.10 provides for the publication and distribution of 18 

local voters' pamphlets in conformity with chapter 29A.32 RCW for annual general 19 

elections held in King County, and 20 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 136



Motion   

 
 

2 
 

 WHEREAS, RCW 29A.32.280 provides that, for each measure from a 21 

jurisdiction that is included in a local voters' pamphlet, the legislative authority of that 22 

jurisdiction shall formally appoint a committee to prepare arguments advocating voter 23 

approval of the measure and whenever possible, a committee to prepare arguments 24 

advocating voter rejection of the measure, and 25 

 WHEREAS, RCW 29A.32.280 provides that the legislative authority shall 26 

appoint individuals residing within the jurisdictional boundaries to the committees, and 27 

 WHEREAS, Ordinance 19884 provides for the submission to the qualified 28 

electors of King County, at a special election on April 22, 2025, a proposition to 29 

reauthorize an expired regular property tax levy in excess of the levy limitation contained 30 

in chapter 84.55 RCW, for a consecutive seven year period beginning in 2026 at the rate 31 

of not more than $0.0275 per one thousand dollars of assessed valuation, with the 2026 32 

levy amount being the base for computing maximum allowable levy amounts under 33 

chapter 84.55 RCW for years two through seven (2027-2032), for the purpose of funding 34 

the continued operation of the regional automated fingerprint identification system, also 35 

known as AFIS, which maintains expanded crime scene and arrest identification 36 

technology and services for all local criminal justice agencies in King County; 37 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT MOVED by the Council of King County: 38 

 Pursuant to RCW 29A.32.280, the following individuals are appointed to serve on 39 

the voters' pamphlet committees, with each committee to write a statement for or against 40 

the proposed levy: 41 

FOR      AGAINST 42 

1.  Patti Cole-Tindall    1.  _____________________________ 43 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 137



Motion   

 
 

3 
 

2.  Pete Von Reichbauer   2.  _____________________________ 44 

3.  Jon Schuldt     3.  _____________________________ 45 

 
  
 
   

 

 
KING COUNTY COUNCIL 
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON 

  

 ________________________________________ 

 Girmay Zahilay, Chair 
ATTEST:  

________________________________________  

Melani Hay, Clerk of the Council  
  

 
  

  

  

  

Attachments: None 
 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 138



 

KING COUNTY 
 

Signature Report 
 

1200 King County Courthouse 
516 Third Avenue 
Seattle, WA 98104 

 Motion    
   

 
Proposed No. 2025-0057.1 Sponsors Zahilay 

 

1 
 

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of the 1 

Honorable De'Sean Quinn, King County councilmember, 2 

council district five, to the Sound Transit board of 3 

directors. 4 

 BE IT MOVED by the Council of King County: 5 

 The county executive's appointment of the Honorable De'Sean Quinn, King 6 

County councilmember, council district five, to the Sound Transit board of directors, for 7 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 139



Motion   

 
 

2 
 

a one-year term beginning January 1, 2025, and expiring December 31 2025, is hereby 8 

confirmed. 9 

 
  
 
   

 

 
KING COUNTY COUNCIL 
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON 

  

 ________________________________________ 

 Girmay Zahilay, Chair 
ATTEST:  

________________________________________  

Melani Hay, Clerk of the Council  
  

 
  

  

  

  

Attachments: None 
 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 140



 

KING COUNTY 
 

Signature Report 
 

1200 King County Courthouse 
516 Third Avenue 
Seattle, WA 98104 

 Motion    
   

 
Proposed No. 2025-0049.1 Sponsors Dembowski 

 

1 
 

A MOTION confirming the executive's reappointment of 1 

Mary Lynne Evans, who resides in council district one, to 2 

the Washington state boundary review board for King 3 

County. 4 

 BE IT MOVED by the Council of King County: 5 

 The county executive's reappointment of Mary Lynne Evans, who resides in 6 

council district one, to the Washington state boundary review board for 7 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 141



Motion   

 
 

2 
 

King County, for a four-year term to expire on January 31, 2029, is hereby confirmed. 8 

 
  
 
   

 

 
KING COUNTY COUNCIL 
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON 

  

 ________________________________________ 

 Girmay Zahilay, Chair 
ATTEST:  

________________________________________  

Melani Hay, Clerk of the Council  
  

 
  

  

  

  

Attachments: None 
 

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL                                                                                   February 11, 2025 142


	2-11-25 Council Meeting Agenda
	2-4-25 Council Meeting Minutes   pg 11
	2025-0038 Proposed Ordinance   pg 22
	2025-0038 A   pg 25

	2024-0225 Proposed Motion   pg 26
	2024-0225 A   pg 29
	2024-0225 Staff Report   pg 83

	2024-0378 Proposed Motion   pg 97
	2024-0378 Staff Report   pg 99

	2024-0379 Proposed Motion   pg 102
	2024-0379 Staff Report   pg 104

	2024-0380 Proposed Motion   pg 107
	2024-0380 Staff Report   pg 109

	2024-0388 Proposed Motion   pg 112
	2024-0388 Staff Report   pg 114

	2024-0413 Proposed Motion   pg 118
	2024-0413 Staff Report   pg 120

	2024-0414 Proposed Motion   pg 124
	2024-0414 Staff Report   pg 126

	2024-0415 Proposed Motion   pg 130
	2024-0415 Staff Report   pg 132

	2025-0051 Proposed Motion   pg 136
	2025-0057 Proposed Motion   pg 139
	2025-0049 Proposed Motion   pg 141



